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Wednesday, 19 June 1996 

THE PRESIDENT (Hon Clive Griffiths) took the Chair at 2.30 pm, and read prayers. 

SELECT COMMITTEE ON THE WESTERN AUSTRALIAN POLICE 
SERVICE 

Interim Report on Term of Reference 3, Tabling 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson presented the interim report of the Select Committee on the Western Australian 
Police Service on term of reference 3, "Whether the self regulatory role of the Internal Affairs Unit within 
the Police Service is effective or desirable in the public interest and if not, what method of detecting, 
punishing and preventing corruption within the Police Service should be implemented", and on his motion 
it was resolved -

That the report do lie upon the Table and be printed. 

[See paper No 365.] 

MOTION - URGENCY 

Housing Construclion Siles, Toilel Facilities Regulations 

THE PRESIDENT (Hon Clive Griffiths): I have received the following letter -

Dear Mr President 

At today's sitting, it is my intention to move under SO 72 that the House, at its rising, adjourn 
until 9.00 am on 25 December 1996 for the purpose of discussing the unacceptable delay in 
introducing regulations that give recognition to the dignity and needs of housing construction 
workers by requiring modem hygienic toilet facilities to be provided on site. 

Yours sincerely 

Alannah Mac Tieman MLC 
Member for East Metropolitan Region 

The member will require the support of four members in order to move the motion. 

[At least four members rose in their places.] 

HON AJ.G. MacTIERNAN (East Metropolitan) [2.40 pin]: I move -

That the House at its rising adjourn until 9.00 am on 25 December. 

Yesterday in this House we debated an urgency motion concerning a group of producers in Carnarvon who 
have a very real problem. Today I want to raise an issue that concerns a group of producers who also have 
a real problem. I refer to a group of 30 000 workers engaged in the housing construction industry. These 
workers are predominantly subeontractors and, by and large, do not have the benefit of union 
representation. These workers have been singularly disadvantaged. The issue that concerns me today 
relates to the conditions in which they work, in particular to the toilets or lack of toilets provided at 
construction sites. It is quite extraordinary that in the late twentieth century in Western Australia building 
workers are expected to endure conditions that would have been considered to be outrageous in any other 
industry 50 years ago. 

I propose to go through a number of items during this debate. I do not want members simply to accept 
what I am saying about building workers being angry. I will read some of the comments that have been 
made by subcontractors and I will go through some of the history of this issue over the past four years. I 
will also outline the reason for my concern about the inordinate delay that this matter is experiencing. 
First, I will read from a document prepared by the Contract Carpenters Association of Western Australia -
an incorporated body that represents subeontract carpenters in this State. This document summarises the 
very real concerns that members of the association have faced for the past four years. I have attended 
meetings of various subcontractors, including electrical workers, bricklayers and plumbers. At every 
meeting invariably the discussion turns to the lack of on-site toilets. There is a great sense of outrage 
accompanying this issue. This group of workers is the backbone of a very important industry in this 
country and this State and they are not being offered the dignity that every other worker in this State 
expects and the dignity that we in this place would certainly expect. 

This document was prepared by Alan Clark, the president of the association, and it states -

These out back style tin shed bore hole toilets have been in place for the last 70 years and are far 
behind the requirements and needs of modem day workers in metropolitan housing sites. 

These days we are far more advanced than of years gone by with space travel, science and hygiene 
but building workers (male and female) are working with third world facilities. 

The toilets if you can call them that are, unsafe (due to being blown over in high wind and end up 
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on roads and against fenees and houses), smelly due to no cover over effluent waste ... ), 
unhygienic (no washing facilities or toilet paper, dirty seats and pedicels), danger due to infection 
and disease, (contact with effluent waste after the toilet has been removed, contact with flies that 
breed in the waste, danger of being bitten by spiders that breed in toilet) just to name a few. 

In some cases -

And in my experience in many cases -

- there are no toilets supplied at all, so the builder expects the worker to travel to the nearest 
garage to use their toilet. This causes all sorts of problems like 

Trying to hold on till you get to the toilet. 

Trying to find garage or a public toilet. 

Packing up tools and equipment to be able to make the journey. 

Leaving apprentices unauended. 

Having equipment stolen when not at site. 

Accidents that might happen when travelling to toilet. eg cover by the insurance 
companies. 

The dangers to future householder when digging in the vicinity when planting in the garden or 
even ids playing with dirt that has come in contact with the waste. 

The letter goes on at some length, and continues -

Contractors are required to give their employees adequate working conditions, but it is beyond 
their means to supply adequate site toilets. It is the responsibility for the principle 
contractorlbuilder to supply adequate site toilets for worker that enter that work site. In most 
cases the homes takes 3 to 6 months to construct and there are between 45 and 80 persons that 
enter that site for construction purposes all before the home receive connected sewer facilities. 

Our final comment is that as workers how often would you go to the toilet per day and what type 
of toilet is acceptable for you to use? As building workers we have the same needs and 
requirements, we are not animals or a lower class of human being. 

Have you ever stepped inside one of these toilets? 

After having inspected these toilet facilities all over the metropolitan area I can only say that the allegations 
contained in that document are not gilding the lily; they fairly represent the appalling state of affairs. It is 
not that I am some John the Baptist giving the first notice of this problem: This matter has been before the 
Government for almost four years. The first committee established to deal with this matter appeared in 
1992. 

Hon Max Evans: What year was that? 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: I have a number of documents dated October 1992 that show that a committee 
was established under the auspices of the Housing Industry Association. That committee involved a 
number of people including two from the Western Australia Water Authority - the superintendent of 
plumbing and the authorising officer - senior personnel from the Department of Occupational Safety and 
Health and members of the Housing Industry Association together with representatives of the unions. The 
committee met over 12 months and came up with a series of recommendations in late 1993 - we are talking 
about two and a half years ago. The recommendations included that, where possible, sewer connected 
toilets be installed and, where that was not possible, that there be a certain type of chemical toilet and that 
that type of toilet not be a straight drop toilet but one that provided some physical barrier between the 
waste matter, the chemicals and the user. As it transpires, that is an important issue. That appeared to be 
the position of the Housing Industry Association and it was acceptable to the Department of Occupational 
Safety and Health and the Water Authority. 

In early 1994, it appears that a purchase was made by some of the operators within the Housing Industry 
Association of a supply of stmight drop chemical toilets. These are basically the equivalent of the lime pit 
toilet that many members from the country will know. It is a chemical container with a rather strong and 
toxic chemical called gluteraldahyde. There is no barrier between that very toxic substance and the user of 
the toilet. Interestingly, those toilets were banned in the Eastern States in 1993; hence, there was a supply 
of those straight drop chemical toilets on the market. What occurred? A number of operatives in the 
building industry purchased those now useless facilities that no longer had any use in the Eastern States 
and transported the substandard technology across the Nullarbor for use in Western Australia. It appears 
that at that point we may have seen a change in the Housing Industry Association's position. We certainly 
saw a decision by government that for some unknown reason this would no longer be a matter for the 
Department of Occupational Safety and Health; it would be handballed to another Minister. There had 
been over a year's deliberation and the Government had come to a decision. However, there was a 
problem with some sectors of the industry because they had bought that technology. Therefore, the 
Government handballed it to another department. 

In late 1994 another committee was set up - the working party on temporary site toilets, chaired by Brian 
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Devine of the Health Department and convened by the Health Deparunent. Again, it comprised a wide 
representation of members of various sectors of the industry and builders and hire companies. It included 
also other representatives; in particular, Bob Bryant from the Builders Labourers Federation who has done 
an extraordinary job and who has stuck with this issue over the past four years to try to achieve a 
reasonable outcome for construction workers, notwithstanding that the majority of those workers are not 
members of any union. However, such is the commiunent to the principle. There was a divergence of 
opinion on this committee, this time coming from the HIA, on the toilets that should be used where it was 
not possible to have sewer connected toilets. I understand that it was unanimously agreed that sewer 
connected toilets should be applied wherever possible. That will be the case in the majority of instances. 
The majority believe also that in circumstances where that was not possible, there should be a proper fresh 
flush chemical toilet with a barrier between the user and the chemical, and that in certain exceptional 
circumstances in remote areas bore hole toilets be permitted. Lengthy deliberations occurred on all the 
occupational health and safety issues that were associated with this. 

A realistic assessment was done of the costs involved in introducing this measure. The majority of the 
committee supported the recommendations. However, because there was some disagreement by the 
Housing Industry Association, the matter went to the Executive Director of the Health Department His 
delegated officer, Dr Psaila-Savona, deliberated on the matter and prepared a report. He took into account 
the objections by the HIA. In February 1996 he said categorically that we must move forward with the 
three part recommendations; that is, sewer connected where possible, a chemical toilet where a fresh flush 
toilet is not possible, and only in exceptional circumstances a bore hole. However, only last week - some 
four months later - when we questioned the Health Deparunent on what progress had been made, it said 
that a problem still existed because the HIA did not agrce. 

Who is running this State? Who is running the Government in this State? Is it the elected representatives 
or is it, as many of us have suspected for some time, the Housing Industry Association? The housing 
industry has a problem. Many trained people, particularly younger people, who have undertaken an 
apprenticeship are leaving the industry. Their positions are being filled by people who have little or no 
training. One of the deep concerns of workers in the industry is that they are not treated with any respect or 
dignity. Even something as basic as toilet facilities are denied to them. Representatives of the builders say 
to people that any subcontractors worth their weight would relieve themselves before they went to work. I 
put it to the House that not one member of the Housing Industry Association or the Master Builders 
Association as they sit in their air-conditioned offices would tolerate not having a lavatory available to 
them. 

[The member's time expired.) 

Point o/Order 

Hon AJ.G. MacTiERNAN: It seems a touch unfair that I was not given some notice of the amount of time 
I had left to complete my remarks. 

The PRESIDENT: It is a bit unfair. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTiERNAN: I thought that anything unfair would have been offensive to you, Mr 
President -

The PRESIDENT: It is offensive to me. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: - and that you would have put in place some steps to address this. 

The PRESIDENT: I am; unfortunately it is not being done quickly enough to be of benefit to Hon Alannah 
MacTieman. The standing order says that 15 minutes are allocated, and the member has now spoken for 
16. 

Debate Resumed 

HON MAX EVANS (North Metropolitan - Minister for Finance) [2.56 pm]: I wonder how I was lueky 
enough to be given the response to Hon Alannah MacTiernan's urgency motion. I address the word 
"urgency". Hon Phil Lockyer yesterday really had an urgency motion; it was about something he wanted 
to have rectified and acted on by today. 

Point 0/ Order 

Hon TOM STEPHENS: The Minister is speaking in breach of standing orders. 

The PRESIDENT: How? 

Hon TOM STEPHENS: He is not addressing the topic. Just as you drew my attention to the same breach 
of standing orders yesterday and promptly shut me up, Mr President, I hope you will do the same to the 
Minister for Finance. 

The PRESIDENT: I will; however, I had difficulty hearing what the Minister was saying because the 
member was yelling out "point of order". I was concentrating on what Hon Tom Stephens was saying and 
was unable to hear what the Minister was saying. It is a frivolous point of order. 

Hon Tom Stephens: Not at all. 

The PRESIDENT: It is, because the Minister has only just begun. 
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Hon Tom Stephens: He has, and he is not addressing the motion. 

The PRESIDENT: I will decide whether he is doing that. 

Hon Tom Stephens: I just wanted to make sure you did not miss it. 
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The PRESIDENT: The member should let me hear the Minister, and then I will decide. The tragedy is 
that the member is not silling here. 

Hon Tom Stephens: It is a tragedy! 

Debate Resumed 

Hon MAX EVANS: I was trying to make a point about what was really urgent. In 1992 a commiuee was 
set up to look at this matter. If workers are walking around sites with their legs crossed, waiting for new 
toilets, and they cannot do any work, I feci sorry for them. However, why did opposition members not do 
anything about this maller before 1992? Nothing is new in technology in this area. The Opposition wants 
the Government to rush to do something about this mauer. The Opposition talks about drill holes and 
chemical toilets and so on. I will put to opposition members an interesting picture. I think chemical toilets 
are much better than what members opposite talk about I will read the specification of them to link in to 
the septic system 

Members opposite must rcalise that in 1992, when they were in government, 25 per cent of Western 
Australia had no deep infill sewerage. None of those new areas could have been connected to sewerage. 
Now that this Government is in office, those arcas can be connected to sewerage. Without this 
Government it would not have been possible for new building sites to be connected. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTiernan interjected. 

The PRESIDENT: Order! 

Hon MAX EV ANS: Hon Alannah MacTiernan should listen to me; I listened to her. 

We have now rectified that position and that affected all the new areas. The member would not have been 
able to install her 40 000 workers or have 2 000 toilet blocks connected to the sewerage system if the 
sewerage system was not there. We have made that possible. I believe that in these circumstances 
chemical toilets are probably just as good or better. The member is worrying about the cost of housing. 
Her proposition would cost at least $500. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTiernan: Your Government does not support sewerage connection. 

Hon MAX EVANS: I am not against it I am saying that this would add $500 to the cost of a house. At 
least people can connect to infill sewerage because we have it now. My view is that we could do as well 
with chemical toilets. 

Hon EJ. Chariton: You are not in favour of the infill sewerage scheme? 

Hon AJ.G. MacTiernan: I am just asking. 

Hon MAX EVANS: I congratulate the honourable member because this subject should be bought up and 
discussed here. The recommended regulations arc with the Minister for Hcalth for approval to proceed 
with draft legislative requirements and implementation. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTiernan: Could you say that again? 

Hon MAX EVANS: The Minister for Hcalth is considering this. It may be done by regulation; I do not 
know. I wonder at the urgency from the member's point of view. A lot of places with no sewerage have a 
bore hole privy. Most interestingly, Mr President, and knowing your electrical background and interest in 
measurement, the recommendation is that a bore hole shall not be less than 1.2 metres or more than 
2.4 metres deep. Health inspectors have a dipstick and, like garage employees, they dip the toilet to see 
that it complies. The holes should be not less than 150 millimetres or more than 205 millimetres in 
diameter. The mind boggles at how people put these recommendations together. 

Hon Tom Helm interjected. 

The PRESIDENT: Order! 

Hon EJ. Charlton: I bet you never used one. 

The PRESIDENT: Order! 

Hon AJ.G. MacTiernan interjected. 

The PRESIDENT: Order! 

Several members interjected. 

The PRESIDENT: Order! 

Hon AJ.G. MacTiernan: What will the Government do? 

The PRESIDENT: Order! For crying out loud! Hon Alannah MacTiernan. I called for order four times 
while the member cominued to interject. The member docs not have to like what the Minister is saying, or 
believe it, but she must listen to it. 
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Hon A.J.G. MacTiernan: I am sorry. I was trying to understand it. 

Hon MAX EVANS: I suggest that Hon Alannah MacTiernan, rather than move an urgency motion, put a 
question of which some notice is given to the Minister for Health. Although it is not my jurisdiction but 
that of Hon Peter Foss, I do not recall a question on this subject being put to the Minister for Health. That 
is what the member could do now. The recommendations are that for design and construction -

Every part of a site toilet must be constructed in a proper and workman like manner to achieve the 
required level of performance in accordance with this Standard. 

A site toilet may be free standing or trailer mounted ... 

Structural design of a site toilet must comply, in general, with the requirements of the Building 
Code of Australia and the relevant Australian Standards. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTiernan: Are you making those recommendations? 

Hon MAX EVANS: Those are the specifications which have been drawn up LQ be looked at. Whether they 
will be accepted, I do not know. 

Hon A.J.G. MacTiernan: When wilI you make a decision? 

Hon MAX EVANS: I suggest the member put a question on notice to the Minister for Health. I am certain 
he will give the member a clear, explicit answer. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTiernan: Where is the whole of Government approach? 

Hon MAX EVANS: The whole of Government approach is that the Minister for Health will make the 
decision. Another recommendation is that the walls must be opaque, smooth, impervious, washable and 
impact and corrosion resistant. That is better than my toilet at home, where the walls are cracked. The 
next recommendation is for the floor and reads -

Must be of impervious, rigid, washable, and corrosion resistant material. Floor surface must be 
unbroken and slip resistant. 

Mine has cracks from earthquakes, so I could not count on mine. It continues -

Must be raised above ground level and sloped to allow outward drainage. 

That is a good point. I continues -

A minimum of O.35m2 usable floor area must be provided. 

The floor shall be capable of withstanding a working load of 1.8kN, applied over an area of 
lOOmm by lOOmm in any location within the floor area, in addition to any equipment or floor 
dead loads. 

The recommendation for the roof reads -

Must be constructed of impact and corrosion resistant, impervious and washable material. 

In the storm the other day the rain came through my roof. The recommendation for the door reads -

Must be constructed of impervious, opaque, impact and corrosion resistant, washable material and 
fitted to ensure privacy. It must be able to be latched closed both internally and externally. 

The door must be secured in the closed position when site toilet is not in use. 

Those are the recommended specifications. If Hon Alannah MacTiernan puts a question on notice she will 
find out when the toilets will be put in place. 

HON AJ.G. MacTIERNAN (East Metropolitan) {3.05 pm]: I have to say very genuinely that I am 
profoundly embarrassed. 

Hon EJ. Charlton: I think you should be. 

The PRESIDENT: Order! 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: I invited people here today. They came to this place to hear this debate. They 
work in the building industry and have serious concern about this issue. What response did we see from 
the Government? The most shameful gobbledegook and collywobble; and, even worse than the 
incompetence that we are used to from the Minister for Finance, was the underlying contempt in everything 
the Minister said, which was also evident in many of the interjections from the government side, but not all 
members. A number of members on the government side showed -

Hon Max Evans interjected. 

The PRESIDENT: Order, Minister! 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: - that they have nothing but contempt for workers in this State, be they 
members of unions, employees or subcontractors. I hope the people here today will take away to their 
members and colleagues in the building industry an accumte report of the disgraceful performance today of 
the Government. We use the opportunity of an urgency debate as a device. There is no secret about that. 
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Hon Max Evans: I congratulate you on mising the point. 

Hon A.J.G. MacTIERNAN: This is the proper forum for Oppositions to bring matters before this place and 
have them debated. 

Hon EJ. Charlton: Which are urgent 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: There is a variety of urgency. 

Several members interjected. 

Hon Tom Stephens: They constantly reflect on the Chair and they should withdmw those reflections on the 
Chair. 

The PRESIDENT: Order! 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: More importantly, the Minister knows that we bring forward these issues -

Hon Max Evans interjected. 

The PRESIDENT: Order, Minister! 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: It is an important part of the process in this place. If this place is to have any 
credibility or role there must be a mechanism whereby the Opposition can bring before this H{Juse its 
concerns. 

Several members interjected. 

The PRESIDENT: Order! 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: The Government can then give us a response as to its decision. What 
happened today? I gave notice of the motion. I double checked that notice of this motion went to the 
Minister's office at least two and a half hours before this debate commenced. There is no point in having it 
unless we sec some response from the Government. 

Hon Max Evans: I had to attend a function until after 2 o'clock. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: Presumably the Minister for Health has staff; an enormous array of staff is 
available to the Government. The Minister is supposed to be using them for that The Minister is saying 
that he will not answer the question. 

Hon Max Evans: I said I could not give an answer to it. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN: The Minister, along with the Minister for Transport, stands in stark contrast to 
a number of other Ministers in this place. I feci sorry for the intelligent people on the Minister's side of the 
House who have some commitment to good government, when they have to sit and endure the sort of 
rubbish the Minister dished up. It docs not matter what the Government dishes up to us, but it matters what 
the Government dishes up to the working people of Western Auslmlia. It is a complete disgrace. This 
issue affects between 20000 and 30000 building workers every day. When they tum up for work every 
day they are presented with disgraceful lavatories and in many areas no lavatories at all. 

A basic human need is to go to the toilet. All members would understand that. Why are those people in 
this day and age being treated so differently? We know this matter has been under active consideration by 
government departments for almost four years. There has been determination after determination by 
professionals in the field and by those in Department of Occupational Safety and Health and the Health 
Department, saying that the way to go is sewer connected and fresh flush, and where that is not possible, a 
bore hole in remote and exceptional circumstances. We sec this Government, which is a tool for certain 
powerful people in the Housing Industry Authority, saying, "We do not care. We have talked about it for 
only four years." 

Hon EJ. Charlton: So people didn't go to the toilet when you were in Government? 

The PRESIDENT: Order! I do not know how many times I must ask the Minister to stop interjecting. 

Hon AJ .G. MacTiERNAN: The Government is saying, "In the last four years we have had every one of 
our professionals tell us that this is the way to go. However, the Housing Industry Association does not 
like it, so we will not do it." 

[Motion lapsed, pursuant to Standing Order No 72.] 

MOTION - ABORIGINAL RECONCILIATION 

Resumed from 1 May. 

HON TOM STEPHENS (Mining and Pastoml) (3.11 pm]: I moved this motion a long time ago. I have 
introduced similar motions into this Chamber on threc occasions. 

Hon EJ. Charlton: That is why Hon Alannah MacTiernan moves urgency motions. 

Hon TOM STEPHENS: The Minister for Transport should convince his colleagues that this motion is of 
sufficient importance that the House should extend the time for motions on any sitting day to allow it to be 
debated. 
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Hon tD. MacLean: If members on your side of the House thought it was important, they would not move 
urgency motions. 

The PRESIDENT: Order! 

Hon TOM STEPHENS: It is important for this House to bring this motion into a sharper focus in its 
timetable. I understand from advice given to me earlier by the Leader of the House that he is waiting for 
me to complete my remarks and for the motion to be seconded and then he will ensure that it is dealt with 
at the earliest opportunity when the House resumes in August. I appreciate that; however, I would prefer a 
different time frame. 

Hon N.F. Moore: It may be possible to debate it next week. It will depend on how quickly we go through 
the other legislation. 

Hon TOM STEPHENS: I am ready and willing to debate it next week. 

Hon N.F. Moore: It comes down to a question of time. 

Hon TOM STEPHENS: If the Leader of the House is suggesting that he will make time available to debate 
this motion next Tuesday, I will be delighted. 

Hon N.F. Moore: I said it might be possible to debate it next week, depending on other circumstances. I 
am as anxious as you are to debate it. I have been waiting a long time for you to finish your speech. 

Hon TOM STEPHENS: In that case, the Leader of the House should not delay me further. 

The DEPUTY PRESIDENT (Hon W.N. Stretch): Order! I suggest that Hon Tom Stephens direct his 
comments to the Chair. 

Hon TOM STEPHENS: The Leader of the House said to me privately that he would bring on the debate on 
this motion when the House resumed in August. I suggest that the House resume on 12 July, which is 
National Aboriginal Day, to debate this motion. 

Hon N.F. Moore: We can come back that day. 

Hon TOM STEPHENS: I will be available on 12 July if it is considered an appropriate day on which to 
debate this motion and bring it to its conclusion. 

In moving this motion I tried to outline the history of Aboriginal affairs in this State. It is something about 
which members in this House have heard a great deal, particularly in the debates on native title. Members 
on this side of the House have gone to great lengths to outline the sorry history of Aboriginal affairs in this 
State, from settlement to now. This history is an important factor in understanding why there is a need for 
not only the passage of a motion like this, but also, and more importantly, the achievement of reconciliation 
across the nation. The State and the nation have an obligation to commit themselves to that cause. Only 
last night I had the opportunity to allend a function involving Community Aid Abroad which was 
addressed by a former federal Minister for Aboriginal Affairs, Ian Viner. He spoke passionately about the 
need for Aboriginal reconciliation. In recent weeks the Government hosted a function in this building -
hosted, I am afraid, only by a government backbencher, Hon Derrick Tomlinson, but well attended by 
opposition shadow Cabinet members and me - to express support for the notion of Aboriginal 
reconciliation. 

The context I set in moving this motion was to advise the Government that it has now been in office for 
three and a half years and what it has done in this area must be on the record. What are Ministers doing in 
respect of Aboriginal affairs to bring about equity and justice for Aboriginal people, which will in tum 
bring about Aboriginal reconciliation? More importantly, what will this Government do in the future if it 
continues to occupy the Treasury benches? 

I raised questions relating to land issues with the then Minister for Lands, Hon George Cash, and I hope his 
successor will be able to answer them. I raised the question of funding for roads with the Minister for 
Transport and I raised the question of education with the Leader of the House in his capacity as Minister 
representing the Minister for Education. I have raised other issues, including health, with the respective 
Ministers. The Opposition must be made aware of what has been and will be done across the portfolios to 
assist Aboriginal people. I hope the response of the Leader of the House might provide not only an 
indication of what the bureaucracy will do independently of government, but also evidence of ministerial 
involvement in advancing the cause of Aboriginal people in this State. 

In the Estimates Committee I placed on notice a series of questions dealing with education and I expressed 
my fears about the state of education for Aboriginal people. I hope it will be quickly attended to with 
renewed vigour by the State Government. The reply I received from the Minister for Employment and 
Training was that he is doing a great job in this field. He cited Pundulmurra College as a showcase as well 
as the injection of funds into the technical and further education system in the Kimberley with the large 
facility that has been established at Kununurra as examples of his commitment to ensuring the 
advancement of Aboriginal people. Since then, I have taken the opportunity to scrutinise those claims. 

One of the important aspects of this issue is a report which has been prepared on this specific and related 
issues in a document titled "Kimberley Aboriginal Labour Force - A preliminary survey of Aboriginal 
employment, education and training in the Kimberley region" by Rod Dixon and Christine Christophers~n. 
The resources of the Office of Labour Market Adjustment were used in the preparation of the report, whIch 
was supported by the Kimberley Land Council. IL refers to training in the Kimberley. It documents a very 
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sorry saga of the current circumstances with which that community is faced. It is the legacy of not only the 
current Government, but also the previous Government. 

Hon N.F. Moore: Who prepared the report? 

Hon TOM STEPHENS: It was Rod Dixon and I am happy to table it 

Hon N.F. Moore: It was prepared on behalf of whom? 

Hon TOM STEPHENS: The OLMA, which is a Federal Government instrumentality. I cannot readily find 
a date on the report, but it covers the period in which this Government has been in office and some of the 
time the previous Government was in office. In those circumstances, it paints a sorry picture. 

Hon N.F. Moore: It was a very sorry picture when we came to office. 

Hon TOM STEPHENS: The situation has not improved. 

Hon N.F. Moore: It has, but we have a long way to go. 

Hon TOM STEPHENS: The Leader of the House will have the opportunity to speak and he should not 
interject on me. 

The report outlines the argument for an approach to be adopted in the field of Aboriginal education, 
employment and training. Of course, that is yet to be achieved. I ask the Leader of the House to mclce sure 
that in his response to this motion he indicates precisely how this document has been adequately responded 
to by his Government. I wait with interest to hear his comments. 

I will bring my remarks to a rapid conclusion because I am looking forward to hearing from Hon Cheryl 
Davenport, who will second the motion, and the Government's response. I will then have the opportunity 
to respond to the comments made and bring the debate to a conclusion. I look forward to doing that at the 
earliest possible opportunity. 

HON CHERYL DAVENPORT (South Metropolitan) [3.20 pm]: I have great pleasure in seconding this 
motion and continuing some remarks I made in this debate some time ago. I am very disappointed that this 
motion has not been passed. This Parliament is the last one in the country to adopt this motion. I hope it 
will not be too long before members in this Chamber pass this quite symbolic motion. It is important that 
members refresh their memories of what the Opposition is asking this House to do. I will read into the 
record paragraph (c) of the motion -

That this House resolves -

(c) in acknowledgment of this support, to adopt the vision of the Council for Aboriginal 
Reconciliation; namely -

"A united Australia which respects this land of ours; values the Aboriginal and Torres 
Strait Islander heritage; and provides justice and equity for all" 

Those words express exactly what is aimed to be achieved. It is now more important than ever that those 
in positions of leadership within this country take up the challenge of promoting reconciliation between 
Australia's Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal citizens. The events that occurred during the March federal 
election campaign show how vigilant Australians must be. The electoral results around Australia, which 
saw the election of racist candidates the likes of Pauline Hanson, Graeme Campbell, and Bob Katter with 
such large majorities, illustrate the magnitude of the task that those who care about the success of the 
reconciliation process face to achieve it. I cannot and will not believe that caring Australians want to 
return to the them and us mentality which I remember when I grew up in the 1950s and early 1960s in the 
south west of Western Australia. 

As I have previously said in this House, my political awakening began during my school years at Pinjarra 
High School where I was horrified at the discriminatory practices perpetrated against Aboriginal students 
by both teachers and some non-Aboriginal students. Unless my Aboriginal friends were good at sport they 
were treated abominably in the classroom. Anger was displayed towards them if they did not understand 
issues, and they often experienced derision and ridicule because they were different. Much of the time that 
I was in trouble with teachers resulted from my choosing to speak out in the classroom in opposition to 
such treatment. Only now is the community aware of the human rights abuses that were perpetrated then, 
and in some cases continue, against our indigenous brothers and sisters. 

The paternalism that is practised towards Aboriginal and indeed other ethnic Australians by the likes of the 
Hansons, Campbells, and Katters does nothing to further the goal of reconciliation. I would like members 
to tum their attention to some of the practices which are still perceived by Aboriginal people to continue 
despite the so-called commitment by Governments - I do not excuse my own party in the past - to the 
implementation of the recommendations of the Royal Commission into Aboriginal Deaths in Custody. I 
will highlight some of the research prepared by the Aboriginal Legal Service in its most recent report, 
entitled "Striving for Justice", which was released on 7 June. 

I also place on record my disgust at the paternalistic attitude in the reaction displayed by Minister Minson 
to this publication. Perhaps the Minister should meet with the authors of the report and learn where his 
department is failing Aboriginal people, rather than condemn them for daring to indicate their point of 
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view. Recognition must be given to the fact that those in the Aboriginal Legal Service are experts in the 
field of dealing with Aboriginal people and their experiences with the justice system. I firstly refer to 
recommendation 59 -

That Police services use every endeavour to police the provisions of Licensing Acts which make it 
an offence to serve intoxicated persons. 

The legal service has said in relation to that -

It remains of great concern to the Aboriginal Legal Service that paUerns of fines imposed under 
the Liquor Licensing Act indicate a disproportionate rate of fining consumers of alcohol in 
contrast to the low level of fining of licensees illegally supplying the alcohol. For example in 
1993, of Liquor Licensing offences involving juveniles, 10% were against licensees for seIling 
alcohol to juveniles or permitting them to be on licensed premises, whereas 90% were against 
juveniles for being on regulated premises where liquor is sold, consuming liquor on licensed or 
regulated premises and attempting to purchase or obtain liquor. 

The report continues -

The Mattingley CommitlCC also proposed the definition of drunkenness be removed and instead a 
redefinition of intoxication be included in the Act. The definition would be "a person shall be 
taken to be intoxicated if, at the time, speech, balance, co-ordination or behaviour is affected by 
liquor". This was to be read subjectively. This would make it easier to obtain convictions against 
those selling liquor to intoxicated people and is endorsed by the Aboriginal Legal Service. 
Unfortunately this has not been addressed in the Evans Report and no amendments along these 
lines have been proposed. 

The thrust of the Mattingley Committee's recommendations on juvenile drinking are directed at 
the juveniles themselves rather than those selling alcohol to them (recommendations 52-59). This 
perpetuates the discriminatory aspecL" of law enforcement which target both Aboriginal and non
Aboriginal juveniles and ignore those who profit from juvenile alcohol consumption. 
Commissioner Dodson pointed out in his report into underlying issues that some of the practices 
which are of concern to Aboriginal people, such as the serving of juveniles and intoxicated people, 
are illegal, and what is required "is the simple enforcement of the legislation". 

It concludes by saying -

The ALS again calls on the Government to increase training and directions to police officers to 
prosecute licensees in breach of the Act, rather than the all too easy target of the juvenile or 
intoxicated person. The Commissioner's Orders and Procedures Manual needs to be amended to 
make it simpler rather than more difficult to take action against offending licensees. The ALS 
further requests the Government to amend the Act to make the licensee liable if an intoxicated 
person consumes alcohol on licensed premises, to amend the definition of intoxication in 
accordance with the Mattingley report. 

That highlights what is not happening with the implementation of these particular reports. The next one 
that comes to mind is recommendation 60, which deals with relations with police. These recommendations 
highlight the inadequacy of a Governmcnt response from the perspective of Aboriginal communities. If the 
reconciliation process is to succeed, the rhetoric of the Government must cease. Now is the time to 
demonstrate government commitment, and nowhere is that more important to the reconciliation process in 
this State than in the attitude of the justice system towards Aboriginal young people. 

I have some examples that I want to talk about at another time in this debate because it is too difficult to 
deal with the matter in the seconds that remain available to me. 

[Debate adjourned, pursuant to Standing Order No 195.] 

APPROPRIATION (CONSOLIDATED FUND) BILL (No 1) 

Receipt and First Reading 

Bill received from the Assembly; and, on motion by Hon Max Evans (Minister for Finance), read a first 
time. 

Second Reading 

HON MAX EVANS (North Metropolitan - Minister for Finance) [3.30 pm]: I move -

That the Bill be now read a second time. 

The purpose of this Bill is to grant supply and to appropriate sums from the consolidated fund required for 
the recurrent services for the 1996-97 financial year as detailed in the Consolidated Fund Estimates. 

Recurrent expenditure is estimated to be S6 265800000, of which $1 022077 000 is pennanently 
appropriated under Special ACL", leaving an amount of $5 243 723 000 which is to be appropriated to the 
services and purposes identified in the schedule to this Bill. I commend the Bill to the House. 

Debate adjourned, on motion by Hon Tom Helm. 
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REVENUE LAWS AMENDMENT (ASSESSMENT) BILL 

Receipt and First Reading 
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Bill received from the Assembly; and, on motion by Hon Max Evans (Minister for Finance), read a first 
time. 

Second Reading 

HON MAX EVANS (North Metropolitan - Minister for Finance) [3.32 pm): I move -

That the Bill be 'now read a second time. 

This Bill seeks to provide taxation relief and to put in place changes which are designed to improve the 
efficiency and equity of the state taxation regime. Specifically, amendments are proposed to the Debits 
Tax Assessment Act 1990, Land Tax Assessment Act 1976, Pay-roll Tax Assessment Act 1971 and Stamp 
Act 1921. Members will note that, unlike the usual process followed whereby each Statute is amended by 
a separate Act, this Bill seeks to consolidate amendments to a number of taxation Acts through the one 
piece of amending legislation. Therefore, this Bill and its counterpart, the Revenue Laws Amendment 
(Taxation) Bill 1996, encapsulate amendments which previously would have been dealt with through six 
separate amendment Bills. While it may not always be possible to utilise this new process, it is hoped that 
streamlining the consideration of taxation amendments by the Parliament in this manner will ultimately 
lead to a more efficient use of Parliament's time. . 

An explanatory memorandum accompanies this Bill to provide members with a greater level of detail on 
the proposed amendments. This was considered desirable as the extent and technical nature of matters 
included in the Bill would not permit such detail to be conveyed effectively in this speech. 

I now tum to the amendments proposed by the Bill in detaiL This Bill is divided into five parts. Part 1 
contains preliminary provisions including the commencement dates of the measures proposed. 

Part 2 of the Bill seeks to amend the Debits Tax Assessment Act to provide taxation relief for certain 
charities which do not qualify for exemption under the current provisions of the Act. The measures 
proposed will align the debits tax charitable exemption criteria with those in the financial institutions duty 
legislation. These measures will have an estimated annual cost to the revenue of $800 000 per annum. 

Part 3 of the Bill seeks to amend the Land Tax Assessment Act to implement two land tax relief measures 
to operate from the 1996-97 year of assessment and to allow the Commissioner of State Taxation to charge 
a fee for supplying information in excess of the cost of supplying it. The first relief measure seeks to 
provide a primary production exemption for land used by an owner for the purpose of breeding horses. The 
second relief measure seeks to allow a rebate of land tax to lessees of land leased from the Crown, a local 
authority or public statutory authority upon involuntary termination of the lease. The latter change will 
allow the Commissioner of State Taxation to provide a pro rata rebate to the lessee for the part of the 
assessment year where the lease does not operate due to an involuntary termination of the lease by the 
lessor. These two land tax measures will provide a more equitable land tax regime, while having only 
negligible revenue implications. 

The third measure in this part proposes to amend the regulation making power in the Land Tax Assessment 
Act by expressly allowing a prescribed fee to be charged for the provision of information by the 
commissioner in excess of the cost of supplying the information. I emphasise that varying the existing 
charge will still require the making of a regulation which will be subject to review by the Joint Standing 
Committee on Delegated Legislation and the Parliament. 

Part 4 of the Bill seeks to amend the Pay-roll Tax Assessment Act to implement three taxation relief 
measures announced as part of this year's Budget. The first amendment is to accommodate a new payroll 
tax scale and is complementary to measures in the Revenue Laws Amendment (Taxation) Bill 1996. It is 
proposed to increase the annual wages threshold below which employers are exempt from payroll tax by 
$25 000 from $600000 to S625 000. Proportional increases in the associated monthly and weekly 
exemption thresholds are also provided for. The cost to revenue of this measure is estimated at $3.2m in 
1996-97 and $3.5m in a full year. These increases are expected to exempt around 130 employers who are 
currently liable for payroll tax. Since gaining office, the Government has increased the tax free threshold 
by $250000 and as a result has exempted nearly 1 600 employers from payroll tax. This represents a 
substantial stimulus to small business. Moreover, the Government intends to work closely with the new 
Federal Government to maximise opportunities for further mtionalisation of payroll tax in the future. 

Hon John Halden: I thought you were going to tax them; you were working very closely with your mates. 
They have done you a good turn! 

Hon MAX EVANS: Sales tax one way, payroll tax the other. 

Hon John Halden: That's right; we waited for you to do it. 

Hon MAX EVANS: We have cut out all the members' cars. I will save the sales tax -

The PRESIDENT: Order! 

Hon MAX EVANS: The second measure in this part provides an exemption from payroll tax for 
prescribed benefits paid to employees in remote areas. The remote area benefits which are proposed to be 
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prescribed as exempt are annual leave travel assistance, compassionate and medical travel assistance, 
power and water subsidies, and child education bursaries. As in the ease with the tax scale concessions 
this measure is proposed to operate from 1 July 1996 at an estimated cost of$lm per annum. ' 

The third payroll tax measure is designed to broaden the exemption currently provided for wages paid to 
trainees employed under the Australian traineeship system. Since I January 1994, this system has been 
progressively replaced by new traineeship programs. As the existing payroll tax exemption is specific to 
the Australian traineeship system, wages paid under the new training programs are legally liable to payroll 
tax. This proposal extends the existing exemption to wages paid to a trainee employed under an accredited 
training scheme or traineeship program which has been approved by the Minister for Employment and 
Training under the Industrial Training Act. As some of the new traineeships commenced from 1 January 
1994, it is proposed that these amendments be made retrospective to that date. It is expected that the 
revenue impact of this change will be minimal, to the extent that lillie payroll tax has been collected to date 
on wages paid to trainees under the new programs. However, the total benefit of the trainees' exemption to 
employers is estimated to be $2m per annum. This measure is consistent with the Government's objectives 
of reducing the burden of payroll tax and encouraging businesses to hire and train new staff. 

Part 5 of the Bill contains a number of amendments to the Stamp Act. These amendments are designed to 
provide relief from duty, to clarify liability where doubt exists, and to address anomalies, inconsistencies 
and inefficiencies in the Act. As I mentioned earlier, greater detail regarding these measures is contained 
in the explanatory memorandum associated with the Bill. The first measure proposed in this part seeks to 
amend the Stamp Act to extend the relief for transfers of farming property between family members 
contained in part IIIBAA of the Act, which was introduced in 1994. Members may recall that while it was 
always intended that stamp duty relief should be provided for a transfer of farming property to the 
discretionary trust of a family member, those provisions were removed during debate in the Parliament. 
This was due to concerns that as the provisions were originally drafted, there was not sufficient protection 
against possible avoidance in respect of trust income. The changes proposed in this part are more tightly 
drafted to provide an exemption from duty where farming property is transferred to the discretionary trust 
of a family member, subject to certain conditions being met. These conditions include -

a restriction preventing the transferor from controlling the trust to which the property is being 
transferred; and 

a requirement that all beneficiaries or classes of beneficiary of the trust must be family members 
of the transferor. 

The proposed arrangements will not satisfy all persons in the rural community, most notably those who 
desire a stamp duty exemption for a restructuring of farm holdings which they continue to control. 
However, the proposal will provide stamp duty relief to those persons who receive control of farming 
property transferred from a family member and who wish to hold that property in a discretionary trust. It is 
difficult to estimate the cost of this initiative, especially if one considers that a large number of the transfers 
to discretionary trusts that will take place would be unlikely to occur in the absence of the proposed stamp 
duty relief. However, advice from the Valuer General's Office as to the frequency of farm transfers 
between related parties involving discretionary trusts and the experience with the current exemption 
scheme to date, indicate that the exemption will result in around $3m in revenue being forgone annUally. It 
should also be noted that the proposed exemption is to apply only to those transfers to the discretionary 
trust of a family member which take place following the enactment of this legislation. 

Part 5 of the Bill also seeks to introduce procedures which will permit brokers to include in their stamp 
duty return transfers of marketable securities which are pursuant to the exercise of an exchange traded 
option. A more efficient mechanism is also proposed for calculating stamp duty on these types of transfers. 
These proposed changes will ensure that the stamp duty regime operates in a manner which does not 
impinge on the efficient operation of the broking industry in this State. It is expected that they will have 
only a negligible effect on the revenue. This part of the Bill also seeks to implement a number of 
recommendations arising from a report on reforming the Stamp Act, prepared by a joint working group 
comprising public and private sector representatives fonned in July 1994. The group examined stamp duty 
reforms in the context of recommendations in a February 1992 St George's Committee report titled "Report 
on the Administration and Operation of the Stamp Act 1921" and a July 1992 government working group 
report titled "Reform of the Stamp Act and its Administration". 

The joint working group considered the two reports with the aim of reaching a consensus as to the reforms 
necessary to the Stamp Act to improve its efficiency and equity, while minimising compliance and 
administration costs. One of this group's recommendations has already been implemented with the 
amendment to section 27 of the Stamp Act in 1995, to allow unstamped instruments to be admissible as 
evidence in a court by a non-liable party, subject to certain conditions being met. This Bill seeks to 
implement six further recommendations of the joint working group which seek to -

remove the obligation to prepare a statement under the Clayton's contract provisions if a dutiable 
document evidencing the transaction was prepared; 

amend a requirement in the Act for any dutiable instrument to disclose all the facts and 
circumstances affecting iL<; liability within the instrument itself; 

repeal section 70, which is a redundant section relating to the sale of certain rights; 



[Wednesday, 19 June 1996] 2795 

replace certain evidentiary provisions which must be satisfied for the transfer of property pursuant 
to a vesting of a trust to be assessed with nominal duty; 

relieve the double imposition of duty on certain instruments which evidence the sale of a 
mortgage; and 

overcome an inequity in section 75AC of the legislation which relates to the exchange of property. 

These amendments recommended by the joint working group are expected to have only minimal budgetary 
impact. Nonetheless, they are examples of how taxation law can be improved when industry and the 
Government work together in a cooperative manner. This part of the Bill also proposes stamp duty relief 
for Homeswest tenams. 

The stamp duty on Homeswest leases is currently based on the gross weekly rent specified in the lease 
agreements. An exemption is available for any residemiallease agreement, including a Homeswest lease, 
where the gross rental docs not exceed $125 a week. With effect from 1 September 1992, Homeswest 
began moving towards a market rent structure which replaced the old rent calculation mechanism based on 
the cost to Homeswest of providing and maintaining dwellings. Under the new structure all tenants are 
charged the market rent for the property. However, approximately 80 per cent of Homeswest tenants 
qualify for a subsidised rent, and this subsidy is deducted from the gross rent expressed in the lease, leaving 
the tenant to fund the balance. 

The amendment seeks to relieve this addiLional impost by providing that duty be calculated on the basis of 
the net rent payable by the tenant. Furthermore, it is proposed that this measure be made retrospective to 
1 September 1992 when Homeswest began introducing its new market gross rent structure. The cost of 
backdating the amendment is estimated to be $650000. However, as the revenue has not yet been 
collected, it will be revenue forgone rather than revenue refunded. The estimated ongoing cost is $150 000 
a year. 
Part 5 of the Bill seeks to amend the provisions in the Stamp Act dealing with instruments on which the 
Crown is liable for the payment of the duty. The provisions exempt from duty any instrument in which the 
Crown or designated crown body is one of the parties liable for the payment of the duty. The amendment 
seeks to restore the commissioner's previous practice of providing a proportionate exemption based on the 
respective interests of the parties to the instrument. However, with the proposed proportionate stamping 
arrangements, persons would no longer be entitled to relief under sections 75AE and 75AG of the Act for 
their proportion of the duty payable on purchases of residential property made jointly with Homeswest. 
Accordingly, consequential amendments are also proposed to ensure that stamp duty relief is available to 
eligible first home purchasers, notwithstanding that they may purchase the property jointly with a 
government entity. 

Sitting suspended/rom 3.45 to 4.00 pm 

Hon MAX EVANS: Finally, a number of other amendments to the Stamp Act are proposed to rectify 
existing inefficiencies and anomalies in the current provisions. The amendments include measures to 
authorise the commissioner to destroy an un stamped instrument when a period of six years has elapsed 
since the issue of the assessment and the duty and any fine is to be written off under the Financial and 
Administration Audit Act; provide that a single assessment of duty is required to be made upon the true 
value of a property when that property is transferred for a consideration less than its true value; improve the 
provisions in the Act relating to the valuation of property for assessment purposes; repeal several redundant 
provisions; remove the obligation to obtain official attestation to three application forms currently required 
by the Stamp Act; and allow a company's restrictive articles to be ignored when valuing its shares. 

In summary, the measures contained in the Revenue Laws Amendment (Assessment) Bill not only meet a 
number of government commitments regarding taxation relief, but also seek to improve the operation of the 
legislation, both for business, the community generally and revenue. I commend the Bill to the House. For 
the information of members I table the associated explanatory memorandum. 

[See paper No 366.] 

Debate adjourned, on motion by Hon Bob Thomas. 

REVENUE LA WS AMENDMENT (TAXA nON) BILL 

Receipt and First Reading 

Bill received from the Assembly; and, on motion by Hon Max Evans (Minister for Finance), read a first 
time. 

Second Reading 

HON MAX EVANS (North Metropolitan - Minister for Finance) [4.04 pm]: I move-

That the Bill be now read a second time. 

As part of the 1996-97 Budget, the Government announced a number of important taxation relief measures 
designed to stimulate further economic growth. This Bill contains two of these measures; namely, 
amendments to the Pay-Roll Tax Act to implement a new payroll tax scale, and amendments to the Land 
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Tax Act to put in place a new land tax scale. I now address each of these measures in tum. 
The proposed changes to the Pay-Roll Tax Act seek to give effect to the Government's budget commitment 
to provide further payroll tax relief for small to medium sized ~mployers. Complementary measures are 
contained in the Revenue Laws Amendment (Assessment) Bill. The proposed amendments seek to 
increase the annual wages thresholds at which the various concessional tax rates for small to medium sized 
businesses apply. These increases, which arc to apply from 1 July 1996, are as follows: An increase in the 
wages threshold below which the 3.95 per cent tax rate applies from the current $2Am to $2.5m per 
annum; an increase in the wages threshold at which the effective tax rate is 4.95 per cent from the current 
$4m to $4 166 667 per annum; and an increase in the wages threshold above which the top tax rate of 6 per 
cent applies from the current $5m to $5 208 333. The total cost to revenue of adopting the new payroll tax 
scale is estimated to be $3.2m in 1996-1997 and $3.5m in a full year. It is estimated that 4 800 employers -
that is, the majority of those liable for payroll tax - will benefit 

The Bill also seeks to amend the Land Tax Act to provide for the introduction of a new land tax scale to 
operate from the 1996-97 year of assessment This is the third time since coming to office that the 
Government has provided land tax relief through tax scale reductions. The land tax scale proposed in this 
Bill will reduce the increase in assessments otherwise faced by taxpayers whose land has increased in 
value. This is achieved through a combination of land value threshold increases and reductions in a 
number of the marginal tax rates in the land tax scale. Taxpayers who own land with an aggregate 
unimproved value in the lower to mid-value ranges of the current land tax scale will receive the greatest 
proportional benefit under the proposed scale. For example, in the 1996-97 assessment year, persons 
owning land with an aggregate value of between $75 000 and $400 000 will face a land tax burden which is 
between 10 per cent and 28 per cent lower than that which would have applied under the current scale. 
These taxpayers would otherwise have received the sharpest increase in their tax bills as a consequence of 
increases in their land value because of the degree of progressivism in the tax scale in these value ranges. 

Notably, no taxpayer will be worse orf under the proposed scale than they would have been under the 
current scale at the new land values. Indeed, if the current scale were not amended, it is expected that land 
tax collections would rise from around $157m in 1995-96 to an estimated $177m in 1996-97 - an increase 
of nearly 13 per cent. The proposed tax scale will raise an estimated $165m in 1996-97 thereby limiting 
growth in collections to around 5 per cent. This will provide an estimated benefit to taxpayers of around 
$11.5m when compared with the tax burden they would otherwise face in its absence. 

These two measures, along with those proposed in the Revenue Laws Amendment (Assessment) Bill, 
illustrate this Government's commitment to sound financial management while seeking to minimise the 
burden of state taxes on businesses and the community generally. I commend the Bill to the House. 

Debate adjourned, on motion by Hon Bob Thomas. 

STATEMENT - MINISTER FOR THE ENVIRONMENT 

Selecl Committee on Recycling and Wasle Managemenl Reporl. Government Response 

HON PETER FOSS (East Metropolitan - Minister for the Environment) [4.08 pm] - by leave: The 
Legislative Assembly Select Committee on Rccycling and Waste Management tabled a comprehensive 
report in December 1995 containing some 66 recommendations. The report considered many areas of 
importance in recycling and waste management, which are activities in this State in which local 
government and the private sector hisLorically have played the largest roles. However, as the issues 
involved become increasingly complex and difficulL, the StaLe has moved to take a more significant role, 
particularly in liquid and hazardous waste managemenL, where many improvements are being made. 

The Government's response provides a detailed list of actions or policy commitments in this area, with 
some of the most important aspects being: A commitment to licence all the State's waste management 
facilities under the Environmental ProtecLion Act in 1996-97, and to provide additional resources for 
oversight and advice to operators; a comprehensive scrap tyre policy, which has already made some 
significant changes to waste tyre management in the Perth metropolitan area; a commitment to ban green 
waste from landfill by the year 2000; a commitment to a diverse and competitive mix of local government 
and the private sector in waste management activiLies; continued work to promote the recycling of 
construction and demolition waste; improving the Government's waste paper recycling efforts, including, 
as many members will be aware, support for the JoinL House Committee in its efforts in this regard in the 
Parliament buildings; and an enhanced commiLmentto the industrial waste exchange. 

The Government's response confirms many more undertakings that will improve waste management in this 
State. The select committee is to be congraLulated on its work. I earlier tabled a copy of the Government's 
response to the selecL committee report, and I commend it LO the House. 

Consideration of the report was made an order of the day for the next day of sitting. 

CRIMINAL CODE AMENDMENT BILL 

Inlroduclion and Firsl Reading 

Bill introduced, on motion by Hon PeLer Foss (Attorney General), and read a firsL Lime. 
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Second Reading 

HON PETER FOSS (East MeLropolitan - Attorney General) [4.11 pm]: I move -

That the Bill be now read a second time. 

The purpose of this Bill is to amend the Criminal Code to explicitly include Ministers of the Crown, 
Parliamentary Secretaries and members of Parliament in the definition of "public officer", and amend 
section 81 so that it remains an offence for a person to disclose information or documents after the person 
has left the Public Service. This Bill is also part of the Government's package of anti-corruption measures. 

Public officer: In my second reading speech for the Statutory Corporations (Liability of Directors) Bill 
19% I will refer to advice dated 16 June 1995 received from the Director of Public Prosecutions by the 
former Attorney General. In that advice the Director of Public Prosecutions reported that the royal 
commission prosecution division had examined various transactions that were not offences under the law 
as it then stood. Those transactions involved persons who were in positions of executive authority in 
respect of government or semi-government agencies and in some cases Ministers of the Crown. The DPP 
reported that many of the trdnsactions had occurred prior to the amendment to the Criminal Code in 1988 
when No 70 of 1988 inserted section 83, which states-

Corruption 

83 Any public officer who, without lawful authority or a reasonable excuse -

(a) acts upon any knowledge or information obtained by reasons of his office or 
employment; 

(b) acts in any matter, in the performance or discharge of the functions of his office 
or employment, in relation to which he has, directly or indirectly, any pecuniary 
interest; or 

(c) acts corruptly in Lhe performance or discharge of the functions of his office or 
employment, 

so as to gain a benefit, whether pecuniary or otherwise, for any person, or so as to cause a 
detriment, whether pecuniary or oLherwise, to any person, is guilty of a crime and is 
liable to imprisonment for 3 years. 

At the same time, the definition of "public officer" was expanded and now reads -

The term "public officer" means a person exercising auLhority under a written law, and includes -

(a) a police officer; 

(b) a person authorised under a written law to execute or serve any process of a court or 
tribunal; 

(c) a public service officer within the meaning of the Public Sector Management Act 1994; 

(d) a member, officer or employee of any authority, board, corporation, commission, 
municipality, councilor committee or similar body established under a written law; or 

(e) any oLher person holding office under, or employed by, the State of Western Australia, 
whether for remuneration or not. 

The DPP advised it was an open question whether subsection (3) includes Ministers of the Crown. In his 
opinion, none of the sections includes members of Parliament. He recommended that consideration be 
given by government to amending Lhe definition of "public officer" to explicitly include members of 
Parliament and Ministers of Lhe Crown. 

This amendment will ensure Lhat Ministers of the Crown, Parliamentary Secretaries and members of 
Parliament are brought within Lhe terms of section 83 and other provisions of the Criminal Code that apply 
to "public officers". It will also ensure Lhat these persons are wiLhin the jurisdiction of the Official 
Corruption Commission under the Official Corruption Commission Act 1988 which the Government is also 
amending as a part of its anti-corruption package. 

Section 81: In 1982 Mr MJ. Murray QC, as His Honour then was, reviewed Lhe Criminal Code and in his 
report he recommended that section 81 be amended to cover the case of a person who has been an officer 
and in that capacity gained knowledge of any fact or possession of any document which the officer was 
under a duty to keep secret. In Mr Murray's view, that individual should not be able to publish 
indiscriminately without auLhority, material he would not have been able to publish without authority while 
he was a public officer. 

Clause 5 of Lhe Bill amends section 81 in terms similar to Lhose of the equivalent provision in section 70 of 
the commonwealLh Crimes Act 1914 which has been part of that law for many years. The proposed 
amendment includes a defence of lawful authority or excuse as is found in section 70 of the Crimes Act 
1914. 

I commend the Bill to Lhe House. 

Debate adjourned, on motion by Hon Tom Helm. 
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STATUTORY CORPORATIONS (LIABILITY OF DIRECTORS) BILL 

Introduction and First Reading 

Bill introduced, on motion by Hon Peter Foss (Allomey General), and read a first time. 

Second Reading 

HON PETER FOSS (East Metropolitan - Attorney General) [4.15 pm]: I move -

That the Bill be now read a second time. 

The purpose of this Bill is to declare that members of government corporations owe to the corporation the 
same duties that a director of a company under the Corporations Law owes to that company and to impose 
on the directors of government corporations responsible for business activities specific duties to act 
honestly, to exercise reasonable care and diligence and not to make improper use of information or 
position. The latter duties will carry criminal penalties. 

This Bill forms part of the Government's package of anti-corruption measures announced on 12 March 
19%. It is also very similar to three Bills which I introduced when this Government was in opposition. It 
is indeed most unfortunate that the Government of the day did not accept my Bill. 

In November 1992 the Royal Commission into Commercial Activities of Government and Other Matters, 
otherwise known as the W A Inc royal commission, delivered its report. The royal commission spent 
considerable time looking into the activities of the board members of certain statutory agencies and the 
State Government The royal commission concluded that some of the actions of those who were at the 
time board members of the Stage Government Insurance Commission and the State Superannuation Board 
and its successor, the Government Employees' Superannuation Board, were subject to question. In 
particular, those agencies entered into arrangements with "friends of Government" who were not 
financially responsible. The commission said of those agencies -

The city property transactions have cost SOIC and GESB dearly. The SOIC became involved in 
the first place as a consequence of its support for Rothwells arranged by the Government through 
Mr Burke at the time of the rescue of that company. Thereafter, it engaged in a succession of 
hazardous transactions involving a disproportionate share of its investment portfolio. . .. The 
Superannuation Board became involved in the central city properties at a much earlier stage. It 
ought not to have done through an interposed trust what it could not do directly. The investments 
in 1985 were also hazardous. These projects were far too large, having regard to the 
Superannuation Board's portfolio and the need of the Board to ensure diversity and suitability of 
the investments made. 

In 1994 losses stemming from WA Inc related deals of the SGIC and the GESB were calculated to be 
$492m and $139m respectively. It is hard on any view to believe that the directors of those agencies at the 
relevant times were properly mindful of their fiduciary duties. The taxpayers, government employee 
superannuants, and motorists of this State have a legitimate complaint that they were not well served. Each 
and every board member at the relevant times should at least be embarrassed at their service. 

Early in our term of government we established a royal commission task force under the control of the 
Director of Public Prosecutions to assess those actions uncovered by the royal commission and to 
determine if any actions of board members warranted sanction. It was considered prudent to await the 
outeome of the task force's delibemtions prior to examining the royal commission's recommendations in 
part II of its report. The task force completed its work in early 1995. On 16 June 1995 the DPP wrote to 
the then Attorney General recommending that -

... attention should be given to reviewing Government trading and other corporations with a view 
to incorporating appropriate provisions from the Corporations Law in terms of liability of director. 
For example, s. 232 of the Corporations Law makes an officer liable to act honestly in the exercise 
of the powers and discharge of duties and to use reasonable care and diligence, not to use inside 
information, not to improperly use position. There seems no reason in principle why a person 
who accepts paid remuneration as a member of a Government corporation should not exercise like 
duties under some, not necessarily criminal, sanctions. 

The then Attorney General brought forward to Cabinet a minute requesting permission to draft changes to 
the law following the recommendation of the DPP. This recommendation has led to the present Bill 
together with the Criminal Code Amendment Bill which I have also introduced today. On page 3-30 in 
part II of its report, the Royal Commission into Commercial Activities of Government and Other Matters 
said -

The members of a board should be required to meet the same standards of probity and integrity 
that are expected of persons occupying positions of trust. Quite apart from the provisions of the 
Criminal Code governing official corruption, and because of their fiduciary status in the particular 
corporation to which they have been appointed, all must be subject at least to the same fiduciary 
related standards, the same conflict of interest and other regulation, and the same civil and 
criminal liabilities for fiduciary wrongdoing as are imposed on directors by the common law and 
by corporations legislation. Insofar as directors of State-owned companies are concerned, this 
should be made explicit in the proposed State-Owned Companies Act. In the case of members of 
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statutory authorities, it should be provided for expressly either in the legislation· creating the 
authority or in a general statute applicable to all statutory authorities. 

The royal commission referred to the "fiduciary status" of the members of a board. What is a fiduciary 
status? A director is said to be in a fiduciary relationship to a company. A fiduciary relationship arises 
where a party is appointed to act or assumes to act for the benefit of another whose appointment carries 
powers that could be exercised to the detriment of that other party. That is set out at page 498 of the sixth 
edition of a textbook by H.AJ. Ford and R.P. Austin, Ford's Principles o/Corporations Law. 

The best known example of a fiduciary relationship is the relationship between a trustee and a beneficiary. 
Other fiduciary relationships include agent and principal, promoter and company, solicitor and client, 
stockbroker and client, and partners and partners. In the Hospital Products Ltd v United States Surgical 
Corporation case, reported at 1984 156 CLR 41, the High Court of Australia considered the nature of 
fiduciary duties. At pages 96 and 97, Mason J, as he then was, held -

The accepted fiduciary relationships are sometimes referred to as relationships of trust and 
confidence or confidential relations (cf, Phipps y Boardman 25), viz. trustee and beneficiary, agent 
and principal, solicitor and client, employee and employer, director and company, and partners 
and partners. The critical feature of these relationships is that the fiduciary undertakes or agrees 
to act for or on behalf of, or in the interests of another person in the exercise of a power or 
discretion which will affect the interests of that person in a legal or practical sense. The 
relationship bctween the parties is therefore one which gives the fiduciary a special opportunity to 
exercise the power or discretion to the detriment of that other person who is accordingly 
vulnemble to abuse by the fiduciary of his position. The expressions 'for', 'on behalf of, and 'in 
the interests of' signify that the fiduciary acts in a 'representative' character in the exercise of his 
responsibility, to adopt an expression used by the Court of Appeal. 

The Ford text states that a director, as a fiduciary, is subject to broad duties - to act in good faith, and to act 
with reasonable care and diligence. 

Scheme of the Bill: The Bill is divided into four parts. Part 1 deals with preliminary matters. Part 2 sets 
out the duties that are owed by all directors of government corporations to those corporations. It also states 
the law in relation to ministerial directions. Part 3 establishes duties similar to those contained in the 
Corporations Law to apply to members of boards of government corporations which are carrying on 
business. Those corpomtions are listed in the schedule to the Bill. Part 3 also sets out provisions in 
relation to ministerial directions made to those corporations mentioned in the schedule. Part 4 establishes 
provisions to relieve directors from liability in certain circumstances. 

I now turn to the particular provisions. Clause 4 sets out the interpretation of the words "corporation" and 
"director" as used in parL 2. The term "corpomtion" is defined to mean any body corporate established for 
a public purpose by a written law. Part 2 is intended to apply to only those corpomtions established by a 
written law, as opposed to those that are established under or pursuant to a written law. The term "director" 
is defined to mean -

(a) a member of the governing board of a corporation; 

(b) if the affairs of the corpomtion are managed by its members, a member of the 
corporation; or 

(c) where a corporation consists of one person, that person. 

Clause 5(1) declares that a director of a corpomtion has, firstly, the same fiduciary relationship with the 
corporation; and, secondly, the same duties to the corporation to act with loyalty and in good faith as a 
director of a company incorpomted under the Corpomtions Law has with and to the company. The 
provision is intended to be declaratory in that it does, I believe, truly state the law as it presently stands; but 
in any event, it puts the law beyond doubt as to a minimum standard. The role of declaratory Statutes is 
weIl known in our law, but has not been greatly used in recent years. 

There is no doubt that directors of corporations have a fiduciary relationship with the corporations. This 
should already be known to those directors through their own knowledge, advice provided to them by 
advisors to their corporation or by government advice which is freely available. The office of the Auditor 
General has published a pamphlet entitled "Roles and Responsibilities of Members of Governing Bodies of 
State Government Agencies". At page 5 under the heading "Fulfilling Your Obligations" is the following 
advice -

Governing bodies are established to provide general direction and control of, and to take overall 
responsibility for, the operations of agencies. They do not manage agencies - this is the role of 
management. Rather they oversee the management of agencies. 

When appointed to governing bodies, members undertake a solemn obligation to carry out their 
duties in a fair, open, honest and accountable way to the benefit of the agency and the community 
it serves. These are called fiduciary responsibilities. 

Members may also have legal responsibilities imposed by the various legislation that applies to 
the agency, including enabling legislation which establishes the agency. 

Overall, members' responsibilities are similar to those of directors of public companies to their 
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shareholders and oLher stakeholders. Fiduciary responsibilities are onerous, particularly because 
in many cases members are responsible for the expenditure of taxpayers' money and the custody 
and control of public assets. 

Clause 5(2) establishes a mechanism for the enforcement of the declared duties -

(a) by the Minister who is responsible for administration of Lhe Act under which the director 
holds or held his or her position; 

(b) if Lhe Act under which Lhe director held his position has been repealed and replaced by 
another Act, by Lhe Minister who is responsible for Lhe administration of Lhat other Act; 
or 

(c) in any case by Lhe Altorney General. 

Clause 5(3) provides Lhat a written law may relieve a director of liability arising from a breach of Lhe duties 
referred to in subsection (1). 

Many Acts protect directors from liability for any act or omission done or made in good faiLh. This 
provision ensures that protection is preserved. Clause 6 again declares what is most certainly Lhe law. The 
experience of Lhe WA Inc years, however, demonstrated that some government boards were prepared to act 
on a direction from a Minister without giving any consideration to Lhe fundamental question of whether the 
body, itself, had power to comply with that direction. This clause is designed to put all Ministers and 
directors of government corporations on notice Lhat a Minister'S power of direction does not enable the 
Minister to direct Lhe corporation to do something it could not otherwise do, or not to do someLhing it is 
obliged to do or is unlawful for some oLher reason. The commercial activities referred to above are clear 
examples where directors of corporations did Lhings that were not in Lhe interests of the corporation in the 
mistaken belief Lhat the wishes of Lhe Government overcame legal difficulties. 

Clause 7 is the interpretation clause for part 3. In part 3 corporation means those bodies listed in Lhe first 
column in schedule I, and director means a person who holds a position described in the second column in 
schedule 1. The bodies listed in schedule 1 are all categorised as government trading enterprises. In 
relation to Lhe members of boards of government trading enterprises, at page 3-30 of its report Lhe royal 
commission said -

All boards of auLhorities and companies responsible for business activities of any variety must be 
expected to exercise reasonable care and diligence in the exercise of Lheir powers. Entrusted wiLh 
the management of public properly, they cannot be permitted to put that property at risk without 
being held to the same standard of care and diligence required of directors in the private sector in 
their management of privately owned property. Their potential liability in Lhis will necessarily be 
qualified where Lhey arc acting under the lawful directions of their Minister or in accordance with 
such obligation as Lhey have to put governmental policies into effect. But there can be no place 
today in Lhe management of public property for board members who do not have the level of 
competence appropriate to discharge Lhe responsibilities entrusted to them. 

By clause 8 the Governor may by regulation amend schedule 1. Clauses 9 to 12 set out the dUlies imposed 
by part 3. These are the duties to act honestly, to exercise reasonable care and diligence, not to make 
improper use of information and not to make improper use of position. Each of the duties carries a penalty 
for breach. The duties stated are similar to those of officers of corporations contained in section 232(2), 
(4), (5) and (6) of Lhe Corporations Law. These arc the same duties as those for directors set out in division 
2 of schedule 2 of the Electricity Corporation Act 1994, the Gas Corporation Act 1994 and the Water 
Corporation Act 1995. 

The penalties contained in Lhis Act arc the same as those contained in each of Lhe three Acts just 
mentioned. Although the Corporations Law has been amended by the Corporate Law Reform Act to 
decriminalise Lhe duties of directors and officers by imposing civil sanctions as well as criminal sanctions, 
it has been decided Lhat in the case of government corporations, criminal sanctions remain appropriate. 
This is in keeping wiLh the provisions of Lhe Criminal Code governing corruption and the recommendations 
of Lhe royal commission made before Lhe Corporate Law Reform Act. They will also fall wiLhin the area of 
inquiry of the Anti-Corruption Commission under amendments contained in oLher parts of the 
Government's anti-corruption package. 

Clause 13 provides Lhat where a person is convicted of an offence for a contravention of section 9, 10, II, 
or 12 and the court is satisfied Lhe corporation has suffered loss or damage as a result of the act or omission 
that constituted Lhe offence, the court may in addition to imposing a penalty, order the convicted person to 
pay compensation to Lhe corporation. 

Clause 14 provides that where a person contravenes section 10, II, 12 or 19, the corporation may, whether 
or not the person has been convicted of an offence in respect of that contravention, recover from Lhe person 
as a debt due to the corporation an amount equal to any profit made by Lhe person as a result of the 
contravention and an amount equal to any loss or damage suffered by Lhe corporation as a result of Lhe 
contravention. 

Clause 15 allows corporations, with the approval of the responsible Minister, to pay for insurance policies 
to ensure a person against liability to Lhe corporation for breaching Lhe duty to exercise reasonable care and 
diligence, unless the breach was wilful. This provision will ensure Lhat where there has been such a breach, 
the corporation will be able to recover iL<; losses. 
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Clause 17 is an interpretation provision for division 4 part 3 governing ministerial directions. The purpose 
of this division is to provide a mechanism for the directors of government corporations to question a 
ministerial direction where the governing body determines that complying with a direction would not be in 
the interests of a corporation, or the direction is unlawful. In those circumstances, the governing body is to 
notify the responsible Minister in writing within seven days of receipt of the direction of its determination 
and the reasons for it. Where a governing body gives such a notice to the responsible Minister, the 
Minister is either to cancel the direction or confirm it and state his or her reasons for doing so. Such 
confirmation will, however, have no effect if the direction is unlawful. Otherwise, if the direction is 
confirmed, the corporation is required to give effect to it. 

Clause 19 provides that a corporation has standing to apply to a court for relief against a direction that the 
corporation considers to be unlawful. This provision is necessary to overcome uncertainties as to the issue 
of who has the right to bring an action. Clause 20 provides protection for directors who comply with a 
direction but that protection docs not extend to the manner in which a thing is done or omitted, if it is done 
or omitted in a manner that breaches section 9 or 10 and the direction did not require it to be done in that 
manner. 

Clause 21 provides that the court may relieve a person either wholly or partly from liability under section 
5, 13, or 14 if it appears the person who is, or may be, liable under that section, has acted honestly and 
should fairly be excused, having regard for all the circumstances of the case, including those connected 
with the person's appointment. Clause 22 will enable a person who has reason to believe any claim will or 
might be used against him under section 5, 13 or 14 to apply to the Supreme Court for relief. Clause 23 
provides for a case to be withdrawn from a jury where a judge is satisfied that a person should be relieved 
from liability. 

In conclusion, there has long becn a need for this Act. This Government has had the task of considering 
matters relating to government boards that arose out of the report of the W A Inc royal commission. This 
has been done, making it now appropriate to bring forward this important legislation. I commend, with 
great pleasure, the Bill to the House. 

Debate adjourned, on motion by Hon Tom Helm. 

CRIMINAL LAW AMENDMENT lULL 

Third Reading 

HON PETER FOSS (East Metropolitan - Attorney General) [4.32 pm]: I move -

That the Bill be now read a third time. 

HON N.D. GRIFFITHS (Ea.'>t Metropolitan) [4.32 pm]: I agree with the motion that the Bill be read a 
third time because if it was not read a third time, those pieces of legislation with which we dealt at length 
late last year - the Sentence Administration Act, the Sentencing Act and the Sentencing (Consequential 
Provisions) Act - would not proceed to be proclaimed and the Government would not be able to put in 
place its grossly inadequate law and order program. 

Question put and passed. 

Bill read a third time and transmitted to the Assembly. 

EDUCATION AMENDMENT BILL 

Report 

Report of CommiLtee adopted. 

Third Reading 

Bill read a third time, on motion by Hon N.F. Moore (Leader of the House), and returned to the Assembly 
with amendments. 

Resumed from 8 May. 

WITNESS PROTECTION (WESTERN AUSTRALIA) lULL 

Second Reading 

HON N.D. GRIFFITHS (East Metropolitan) [4.33 pm]: This Bill has the support of the Australian 
Labor Party. We have misgivings about a number of its clauses, and we propose to deal with our 
misgivings in appropriate detail at the CommiLtec stage; however, before we get to the Committee stage, I 
should point out some maLLers. Firstly, the treatment by the Government of this Bill is further evidence of 
its mismanagement, particularly with regard to law and order matters. The document entitled "Progress of 
Bills Introduced Into the Parliament of W.A." dated 24 May 1996 indicates that the Witness Protection 
(Western Australia) Bill 1995 was first read in the Legislative Assembly on 30 November 1995 and was 
second read on 5 December 1995; and notwithstanding the degree of support that the Bill received from the 
Australian Labor Party in the other place, it was not third read and did not leave that place until 7 May 
1996. I find that surprising, because the Deputy Premier, who happened to be the Minister handling that 
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Bill in the other place, said on 5 December 1995, in the previous session of this Parliament, at page 12296 
of Hansard-

It is necessary that this Bill be passed and come into operation before 18 April 1996. The 
Commonwealth Act provides that federal agencies, such as the Australian Taxation Office, will 
not be able to issue documents for persons with new identities on state and territory witness 
programs unless complementary state legislation and arrangements are in place by 18 April 1996. 

The Government has taken a rather tardy approach to this important matter. No doubt, the Government has 
its excuses, but they are not good enough. The commonwealth legislation referred to by the Deputy 
Premier is the Witness Protection Act 1994, which states in section 24(1) that -

Commonwealth identity documents must not, after the end of 12 months after the commencement 
of this Act, be issued for a person who is on a witness protection program being conducted by a 
State or Territory unless: 

(a) an arrangement is in force between the Minister and the relevant State or 
Territory Minister relating to the issue of Commonwealth identity documents for 
the purposes of that program; and 

(b) a complementary witness protection law is in force in the State or Territory. 

A delay from December last year to 18 April this year is bad enough, but the Bill provides that part of the 
Bill will not come into operation until the much talked about Sentence Administration Act 1995 has come 
into operation; and that has not yet come to pass. The Govemment has been tardy in its approach to this 
important issue in two ways. It is a typical example of this Government's bad management. 

This is a Bill for an Act to establish a program to give protection and assistance to certain witnesses and 
other persons and for related purposes. lL seeks to formalise arrangements which were commenced to be 
put in place in November 1989. Those arrangements for the most part, if not entirely, concerned persons 
who were, are, or were intended to be, crown witnesses. I am advised that of the persons now being 
actively protected, there are approximately 17 and that fortunately only one person, the subject of the 
informal arrangement, has been made so since 18 April. Fortunately that person did not require 
Commonwealth documents. Therefore, it would seem no harm has occurred to date as a result of the 
Government's tardiness. Of course we do not know how long the Bill will take to proceed through all 
stages. It must be dealt with elsewhere after it leaves this House. In addition to that approximate number 
of 17 we have been advised that about another 50 persons are in the category of protective witnesses. 
Those persons do not need to receive active protection as such. Of those, about half have required an 
identity change. 

The Bill is part of a scheme. lL is said to mirror Commonwealth legislation and that of a number of other 
Australian jurisdictions, particularly, I understand, New South Wales, Victoria and South Australia. We 
have been advised that the other Australian jurisdictions are, to a greater or lesser extent, in the process of 
becoming part of the scheme. The Bill formalises a state witness protection program. It requires such a 
program to be established and maintained by the Commissioner of Police. The role of the Commissioner 
of Police concerning the state witness protection program is fundamental. The commissioner, pursuant to 
the Bill, is given wide discretion and the practical application of that discretion may cause potential 
difficulty. We may examine that to a degree in Commillee. 

To become a person the subject of the Bill - that is, someone under the witness protection program - it will 
be necessary to be in that category referred to as a witness. The witness may be in one of three general 
categories; first, someone who has given or has agreed to give evidence or has made a statement or is in a 
sense a potential witness. The idea of witness goes further than that. In fact, in one sense it has the 
potential to apply to almost anyone. That is something which we envisage being discussed in Committee. 
However, more particularly for the purposes of the program, a person may be afforded its protection if that 
person is related to or associated with a person of the kind we would commonly understand to be a witness. 
Once that eategorisation is achieved, the Bill provides that the Commissioner of Police will then consider 
whether a risk is involved to the safety or welfare or that the person, as the Bill puts it in another subclause, 
may require protection or assistance. Firstly, the potential protected person must come within the general 
ambit of witness and, secondly, that person must be at risk to a degree which requires the protection 
afforded by the program. 

Further steps are required for the person to enter the program. I propose to deal with that shortly. One of 
the important aspects of the Bill is that by its nature it is part of a scheme. It will provide for a future 
arrangement with other jurisdictions so that complementary behaviour can be carried out to protect people 
in other jurisdictions and to get the assistance of what is referred to in the Bill as approved authorities to 
protect people who come to the scheme through the discretion of the Western Australian Commissioner of 
Police and it is appropriate that they be afforded protection in those other jurisdictions. 

It provides a degree of welcome flexibility which is appropriate when we consider that first and foremost 
we are Australians and not merely provincial Western Australians. The commissioner has the role of 
deciding whether a person should come into one of the categories of witness and whether this witness 
protection program should be afforded to that person. He must decide whether the witness needs 
protection and is able to be assisted by the program. Even if he so decides, it is important to note that the 
witness must agree to being included in the program. In reaching his decision about whether a person 
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should be included in lhe program, the Bill provides lhat the commissioner must have regard to a number 
of factors. One of the most important factors is consideration of whelher lhe witness has a criminal record, 
particularly in crimes of violence, and whelher such a record would indicate a risk to the public in the event 
the witness was included in the program. 

That should be noted in the context that many of lhe people who have been afforded the benefit of the 
informal program to dale arc accomplices - are themselves people who have breached the law. So, the fact 
that a person is a witness and a risk will not persuade the Commissioner of Police to exercise his discretion 
to afford protection beca,use the commissioner must have regard to that paramount interest of protecting the 
overall good of lhe public. The commissioner is also required to have regard to psychological or 
psychiatric examinations where lhey have been conducted to determine lhe witness's suitability for the 
program and to have regard to lhe seriousness of the offence to which any relevant statement or evidence 
that the witness proposes to give, its importance and, importantly, whether lhere are other viable alternative 
melhods of protecting lhe witness. 

I have mentioned a number of people who have gone lhrough the witness protection program, informal 
though it has been since 1989, and perhaps operational only since early 1990. The number is not large and 
let us hope that it will continue not to be large. However, it seems to me that the sort of procedures for the 
protection of people envisaged in the Bill - and in many respects they are quite drastic steps in respect of 
changes of identity - involve large expenditure. It is better to avoid that expense and therefore to avoid the 
inclusion of a person in the program if that can reasonably be done. Of course, the commissioner must take 
on board the nature of the perceived danger to lhe witness. That is not necessarily the same as risk but one 
must be aware of what is being risked. The viability of lhe program in terms of the potential witness's 
relationship to other people on lhe program should also be taken into account. 

Among olher things, lhis Bill provides that when a person enters into the witness protection program he 
must provide lhe commissioner wilh information that, for the most part, seems to be of a reasonable nature 
that the commissioner can seek and also to enter into a memorandum of understanding. The matters 
contained in lhe proposed memorandum of understanding can be more appropriately dealt with in 
Committee. However, lhey seem to be more in lhe nature of a wish list; they seem to involve a desire for 
people to be seen to have set lheir house in order. There are great practical difficulties in what is envisaged 
in relation to the proposed memorandum of understanding. I note that lhe memoranda are to include a list 
of outstanding legal obligations, including family maintenance obligations and taxation obligations. The 
Bill provides lhat a memorandum of understanding may be amended. The fact lhat the memorandum exists 
has relevance when consideration is given to how people come to leave the protection afford by the 
program. 

The program is fundamentally concerned with lhe protection of witnesses. Therefore, it is appropriate to 
note that it is lhe Commissioner of Police who will keep a register of participants. Access to the register is 
to be given in limited circumstances. It is part of lhis Housc's duty to do what it can to ensure that that 
access is not so great as to impinge on lhe safety of those afforded protection, nor so little as to prevent the 
practical day-to-day responsibilities of lhe relevant agencies being carried out. The commissioner is 
required to undertake a number of measures. He must take action that he considers necessary and 
reasonable to protect lhe witness's safety and welfare. That is an interesting tum of phrase and it may be 
examined in CommiLLee. 

The Bill enables the commissioner to carry out many activities of the kind that one would expect in dealing 
wilh witness protection programs. These are maLLers lhat have been done informally in many respects in 
the past. Of course, I am probably like most Western Australians: My knowledge of witness protection 
programs prior to reading lhis Bill and conferring wilh people more knowledgeable lhan me on lhe matter 
was limited to what I saw on television or in movies. In recalling those fascinating pieces of entertainment 
that I have secn from time to time, my expectation was that when someone was afforded protection he was 
also provided with the reasonable wherewithal to get on with his life. 

One area that may cause difficulLy relates to how a person on a witness protection program deals with third 
parties to whom he has obligations, particularly legal obligations. I know lhat the Bill seeks to make 
provision for that, but it concerns me lhat, in dealing wilh lhe practicalities, difficulties may occur. I am 
not sure how, by lhe use of mere words and Statutes such as lhis, we can overcome every conceivable 
potentiality; perhaps lhe words should remain as they are. However, we can deal with that issue in 
Committee. 

I should point out one aspect of particular relevance because it concerns many people in relation to 
protection of witnesses in the justice system. 

The potential is for a witness to be included as a reward or as a means of persuading or encouraging that 
witness to give evidence. 

[Questions without notice taken.] 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: It is noteworthy that lhe Bill seeks to ensure that a person is not included in the 
witness protection program as a reward or as a means of persuading or encouraging that person to give 
evidence or make a statement, because that would, in the mind of some people, taint the witness protection 
program. Of course, people who wish to receive a reward and who are open to inducement may well end 
up as witnesses under the witness protection Bill, but lhat should not be lhe reason for granting them that 
protection. 
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The Bill contains some interesting provisions with regard to the actions to be taken where there are 
outstanding rights or obligations. I note in that context that the interesting scenario of the wrong person 
being served with process can be taken care of without causing discomfort to a person otherwise involved 
in the legal proceedings. The Bill provides for the provision of identity documents in urgent cases. One 
area which is of concern is new identity orders. That matter is dealt with in division 5, and it involves 
either the Commissioner of Police or an approved body making an application to the Supreme Court for a 
new identity order. It sets out the circumstances under which the Supreme Court can make such an order 
and provides that such proceedings shall be held in private. We are dealing with the provision of a new 
identity, so it would be rather nonsensical if the proceedings were not held in private; but notwithstanding 
that, it is not something which I find particularly comforting. There is a public interest in knowing what 
goes on in our courts, and that public interest is, for the most part, paramount I am not disputing that 
measure but merely raising a concern. 

I am interested in the provision whereby the Commissioner of Police may use his discretion to terminate 
the protection of a witness who may wish to continue to be protected. The commissioner must give written 
reasons for termination of protection, and in the event that there is a new identity order, the commissioner 
must make application to the Supreme Court to restore the person's former identity. The Bill does not 
provide any means whereby the protected witness can reasonably combat what the commissioner may do in 
such circumstances. In the event that there is a new identity order, it may be appropriate to give 
consideration to the view of the witness with regard to whether the former identity should be restored. I do 
not want to refer to the specific wording of clause 22, but I mention that in passing because I suggest the 
action open to the Supreme Court may be too limited; but that is a matter we can consider down the track. 

The Bill contains a number of provisions with respect to secrecy and disclosure. Some of those provisions 
may be inappropriate in practice. They may go too far in preventing disclosure; and the circumstances 
where diselosure takes place may, in some instances, be inappropriate in practice. 

The Bill provides for the disclosure of a criminal record of a witness. We are dealing with someone whose 
identity has changed, and it is important that where knowledge of the criminal record is relevant, that 
knowledge be provided with respect to the witness's person, whether that person was operating under the 
former identity or the new identity. 

Again, the question of privacy in the courtroom arises. The Bill provides for offences where disclosure has 
taken place unlawfully. It also provides for a very wide power of delegation by the Commissioner of 
Police. I am not sure that this wide power of delegation is appropriate. I understand that in practice with 
the current .informal arrangement - and I emphasise "in practice" - an investigating officer receives a 
complaint from a person, more likely than not the co-offender, and the investigating officer brings the 
matter before a committee of the Police Service, which comprises currently an assistant commissioner and 
two senior police officers. That commillee then makes a representation to the deputy commissioner who 
decides whether the witness is to be afforded the benefits of being a protected witness. 

The work of the witness security unit is important. It is important that people who nced to be protected in 
the very extreme circumstances that I trust are envisaged by the Bill are protected, but in affording that 
protection, particularly with the changing of identity, we should be very watchful to make sure that the 
rights of others, particularly the parties to whom the protected witness has legal obligations, are not 
impinged. 

I repeat that the Australian Labor Party supports the second reading of this Bill. We welcome a witness 
protection program. We had some misgivings about the potential practical operation of some of the 
clauses, and we hope those misgivings will be allayed. We encourage measures such as this being brought 
before the Parliament for discussion. I look forward to the Attorney General's comments whether at this 
stage or, more appropriately, in Committee on some matters with which I have not dealt in detail in my 
second reading contribution. I advise the Attorney General that a number of my colleagues have some 
observations to make on the matter, although those comments will not be at length. 

HON KIM CHANCE (Agricultural) [5.44 pm]: I am about to make the Attorney General's day by 
announcing that I will support the Bill, but with some reservations. I think this is the second time in recent 
days I have risen to speak on.a criminal law Bill, which is somewhat unusual for me. 

Hon Peter Foss: Is it? 

Hon KIM CHANCE: Yes. Criminal law is not something on which I generally speak. This is an unusual 
Bill. I am grateful to my friend and collcague, Hon Nick Griffiths, for having dealt with the fundamental 
legal aspects of the Bill as thoroughly as he has, because that saves me from having to do that and leaves 
me free to comment on the broader culture of the proposed legislation. 

My reservations arise in a number of areas. I will not attempt to be exhaustive or extensive about what the 
reservations might be. However, it is necessary in the context of the meaning of the Bill to understand my 
reservations. They arise from the fact that the Bill essentially provides protection for the group of persons 
who will or may be witnesses for the prosecution, and who may well be people who have been involved in 
criminal activities. Recognition of that possibility is scattered throughout the legislation. 

Flowing from that point is the possibility that criminals may seek to offer evidence on the basis of an 
undertaking from law enforcement authorities that those authorities would decline to prosecute the witness. 
I am well aware that trading of that nature is specifically precluded by clause 9 of the Bill. It is also true 
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enough to say that the provisions of the Bill do not directly make such trading possible. I say that because 
there is a distinction between what is made possible by a Bill and what is specifically precluded by a Bill. 
The availability of a comprehensive witness protection program will tend to encourage people who have a 
direct interest and possibly a direct involvement in criminal actions to come forward to offer evidence. It 
seems to be inconceivable that such people who might be targeted for prosecution might seek some 
accommodation in consideration of their no doubt entirely public spirited disclosure! 1 do not believe that 
clause 9 can prevent such attempts at evidence trading for immunity from occurring in every case. As the 
existence of the broader powers of the witness protection program become known a number of people who 
may feel that they might: be targets for prosecution or have a reason to come forward to the authorities, for 
one reason or another, 'may well be encouraged to do so. I am encouraged by that thought, because if 
people do have things to tell the law enforcement authorities which could assist in prosecutions, but are not 
prepared to do so simply on the basis of the thrcat it may mean to their lives or, more importantly, to the 
lives and happiness of their families, this legislation provides them with some degree of confidence and 
certainty that they can come forward. 

Another matter which arises worries me a little even though we were able to resolve some of my concerns 
in the briefings we were so generously given today, and that is the principle of an accused's right to face 
his accusers. I have been fairly well satisfied on the question but there remains a niggling doubt about 
whether the fundamental right of the accused might be compromised by these provisions. 

Hon Peter Foss: Which provisions? 

Hon KIM CHANCE: The provisions of the Bill! I am talking about the principle of the accused's right to 
face his accusers. The point I am trying to make is that if the person giving evidence against an accused 
person is or is about to assume a new identity which would make that person, the witness, wholly different 
from the person the accused sees in the dock, that person then becomes anonymous. That person's persona 
is or is about to change to another persona. Can one truly say that he is facing his accuser if the accuser in 
that persona will not exist beyond a certain date? 

Hon Peter Foss: He could do it voluntarily. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: Possibly, but the concept of facing the accuser is a concept of visibility; that is, the 
person. having the right to see who is saying what about the offence and that person. If a person will not 
exist any more, that principle is compromised somewhat. 

The Bill enables a change to be made to a person's birth certificate. This is a fairly fundamental change in 
that it alters what a person was. There are obviously good reasons for being able to make that change. For 
example, if people subject to the wiLness protection program need to access their birth certificate for 
administrative reasons, such as applying for a passport or even a pension, unless the birth certificate is 
written in the new persona, the people who have changed their identity have just had their cover blown - at 
least at that level. My understanding is that at this stage it is not possible to change a person's birth 
certificate. 

Hon Peter Foss: . Except by the usual method. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: What usual method? 

Hon Peter Foss: Having registered the change on a birth certificate. It cannot be done without blowing the 
cover. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: Yes. In every sense of the word the former person becomes a non-person. The 
changes are radical and complete. That is dcalt wiLh in division 5 of the Bill on the new identity order. It 
would probably be more appropriate to discuss that a little further in Committee. 

In that new persona the protected witness is not able to escape from obligations that he or she was bound 
by under the former identity. This is something Hon Nick Griffiths touched on towards the end of his 
speech. As I move on in this speech I will ask members to weigh up in their own minds the means against 
the ends that are achieved by the legislation. In all that weighing up of means and ends, it is not possible 
for anybody to say that this Bill in any way infringes on any person's civil liberties. Often when we are 
called on to weigh up a conflict of means and ends, it turns on the matter of a person's civil liberties. A 
classic example is the suspension of the writ of habeas corpus, which would compromise civil liberties. 
One could argue that this is a manner of protection of at least the witness's civil liberties - the right to 
appear in court and tell the truth - but in a more prosaic sense it is also a protection of the rights of those 
who depended on the former persona of the witness under protection; for example, a person to whom the 
protected witness may have owed money. 

The Bill contains a clear provision to safeguard those persons to whom the protected witness had 
obligations, such as people to whom they owed money. A precise prescription is included of how such 
matters will be handled. When a protected witness suddenly becomes a non-person there is a structured 
way in which an officer of the Police Force can stand in the place of the former persona and any process of 
service that is made on the former persona can be made on a police officer who stands in the protected 
witness's place. That service is regarded as good service as a result of the legislation. That is extremely 
valuable. It is simply one represcntation of how the obligations and rights and, indeed, the limitations 
which may have applied Lo the witness in his former identity cannot be escaped by assuming a new 
identity. The way Lhe legislation has becn drafted is extremely thoughtful. It seems to have taken into 
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consideration all those matters that might occur once a person's identity is changed. 
Whenever we contemplate something as radical as the legal capacity to change a person's identity, we 
should feel some unease, regardless of what the reason for that change might be. Whenever we allow for 
circumstances that permit one person to legally stand in the place of another, we should also feel a touch 
uncomfortable about it 
Hon Peter Foss: We do it all the time. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: Yes, with the power of attorney. 

Hon Peter Foss: More than that. We often require people to appoint an agent to serve process. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: Yes, I understand that. However, I think even the Attorney General agrees that the 
circumstances contemplated here are unusual. 
Hon Peter Foss: No, I don't. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: The Attorney General can disagree all he likes; however, I think they are unusual 
circumstances. We are asked to weigh up in our minds and in the debate itself whether the ends justify the 
means. The ends are clear enough. If witnesses are not protected, some of the capacity - in some cases, 
much of the capacity - of law enforcement authorities to prosecute criminals is lost. It is a sad fact of life 
that we nonetheless must recognise that major crime is becoming increasingly organised. It probably has 
always been the case that organised crime has been ready to suborn witnesses if they have the opportunity 
to do so. Those witnesses are increasingly suborned by threats or actual violence. Unless we can provide 
authority with the capacity to protect its witnesses, especially where such witnesses have been participants 
in organised crime, we have much less hope of being able to tackle the more serious criminals. The issue 
that comes to mind is major drug trafficking. As a consequence, if we are unable to successfully launch 
prosecutions in matters such as that, we are condemned to suffer from increasing serious and organised 
crime. 
Essentially, it becomes a matter of judgment about whether the somewhat unusual provisions of the Bill, 
and what I think are extraordinary powers granted by the Bill, although the Attorney General does not seem 
to agree with me, are justified by the scale of the problem we face as a society. I do not think many would 
argue that the balance of public opinion would fall on the side of the law enforcement authorities when that 
question was put to them. 

Silting suspended from 6.00 to 7.30 pm 

Hon KIM CHANCE: The public arc sick of crime, appalled by its organised nature, and critical of 
artificial constraints placed in the way of those dedicated to fighting crime. On that basis I support the Bill, 
but not without noting the extraordinary nature of its provisions. These provisions do not impinge on 
anyone's civil rights, but they arc unusual. As a response to the unusual circumstances facing law 
enforcement agencies, the measures secm to be justified. Certainly mcasures of this kind have broad public 
support, and I very much hope that they have the desired outcome. 

HON CHERYL DAVENPORT (South Metropolitan) [7.33 pm]: I will concentrate on a couple of areas 
within the Bill, which I support. Upon reading the second reading speech one could be forgiven for 
thinking that this legislation was to deal with people involved in organised crime who become crown 
witnesses; that is, co-offenders. I was informed at a briefing earlier today that that is not necessarily so. 
The legislation contains provisions to deal wiLh the victims of domestic violence. We must not forget that 
45 per cent of the State's homicides involve domestic violence, and this legislation will be used by 
partners - that is, predominantly women - and/or their children who are threatened with death or violence. I 
am informed that two of the people currently receiving protection are victims of domestic violence. 

Unfortunately, the incidence of domestic violence in Western Australia is still quite high. Therefore, it is 
pleasing to see at last that police practices have changed to meet the needs of victims. Most of the people 
whose lives are in danger through domestic violence are women and children. I do not wish to reflect on 
the personnel in the witness security unit; however, I hope the wide range of people to be protected through 
this legislation will be dealt with by a variety of suitable witness protection unit personnel. I hope that the 
officers dealing with victims of domestic violence, who in the main will be women and children, will have 
the skills necessary to deal with those traumatised by such violence. The skills necessary in that situation 
will be, I suggest, far different from those required to protect a potentially manipulative offender. I look 
forward to the Attorney General's answer on that matter, even though I recognise it may be an operational 
police matter, as those skills will be very important to the lives of those receiving such protection. 

Also, the Opposition is concerned about paedophile activity in New South Wales highlighted in recent 
evidence before the Wood royal commission. The perpetrators of those incredible abuses of human rights 
have boasted of the police protection they received over many years. Newspaper reports indicate that this 
protection enabled one well-known individual to avoid prosecution for many years - he is still free -
although attempts are being made internationally to extradite that person. However, police interference in 
the process has resulted in that person remaining at large for a long time. The legacy of the New South 
Wales example has been immeasurable damage to and destruction of the lives of a large number of boys, 
and we all hope that such a situation could never occur in Western Australia. 

As dreadful as that example is, we should not forget that legislation such as this contains enormous powers. 
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As occurred in New South Wales, and as the Legislature should bear in mind, the possibility of corruption 
walks hand in hand with such power. It is essential that the legislation contain checks and balances to 
prevent corruption. The Auditor General's checks and balances role in this Bill is not persuasive as it 
relates to the financial pcrspective. I hope adequate safeguards are covered in parts 2 and 4 of the Bill to 
ensure that the concerns I have outlined are alleviated. 

In conclusion, I refer to the second reading speech and a paragraph about which I have several questions. It 
reads -

Other action play include providing accommodation and transport or providing assistance in 
obtaining employment or access to education. If given appropriate protection a witness will then 
be able to give evidence without fear of retribution. 

During the briefing this afternoon, the departmental officers indicated that a budget was provided for 
accommodation, transport and other such matters. If the witnesses can provide those costs themselves, 
does the State always need to act as provider for accommodation and such matters? I did not ask that 
question at the briefing. Secondly, docs a vocational counsellor or social worker provide assistance to 
obtain access to employment or education, and who would pay for that? Thirdly, would the professionals 
providing such advice be employees of the witness security unit? It seems that the long-winded 
explanations that might be necessary to outline why such individuals needed either education or 
employment could reveal that these people were protected witnesses. If somebody outside the unit were 
providing access to employment or access to education, the explanation necessary for that occurrence 
might have some potential to blow the protection being offered by the unit. 

This is very useful legislation but it has been a longtime coming, given that this practice has been 
occurring informally since 1989. I note that, for all intents and purposes, it mirrors the commonwealth 
legislation. The police who are offering the service need this legislative backup. I hope that it will provide 
protection for both the witnesses and their families, who have been waiting for this legislation for a long 
time. I will be interested to hear what the Attorney General says about those few concerns I have. On that 
note, I support the Bill. 

HON BOB THOMAS (South West) [7.42 pm]: When I read this Bill, I was surprised to find that we 
are creating the legislative framework for a wiLness protection scheme in Western Australia. Like all those 
present in the Chamber tonight, I always felt we had the legislation and that this legislation would be 
amending legislation. I am surprised that this is new legislation creating the witness protection scheme. 
Like most people, I have always had a glamorous view of witness protection schemes. I have formulated 
that opinion from movies I have watched. If members watch the videos I do, they may have seen a video 
called "A Few Good Men", which starred Jack Nicholson, Tom Cruise and Demi Moore. It was about an 
incident in an American military base in Cuba. The incident involved a red alert during which a soldier 
was killed. 

Hon Kim Chance: A code red. 

Hon BOB THOMAS: That is right. Obviously Hon Kim Chance has seen the same video. A soldier was 
killed during a code red. A code red involves a soldier's peers disciplining him to maintain the strict 
discipline of the regiment. A soldier was killed and the film revolves around Tom Cruise, the brash young 
lawyer, taking on the establishment and proving that the code red had been ordered by the commanding 
officer. 

Hon Kim Chance: He was the antithesis of Hon Peter Foss, wasn't he? 

Hon BOB THOMAS: Hon Kim Chance should wait and consider the next film that I will use as an 
analogy. In "A Few Good Men", the second-in-charge broke ranks and admitted that the commander had 
ordered the code red. In quite a fanciful way, Tom Cruise was able to offer witness protection to this 
officer when he met him in the strecl. He offered him 24-hour bodyguard protection. In the film, two 
army personnel dressed in their military uniforms are at the front of a hotel room guarding the second-in
charge. It is tragic because the second-in-charge dresses in full military regalia and commits suicide 
because he feels he has disgraced the unit by breaking the code of silence. 

The other analogy is another video called "The Client" , starring Susan Sarandon and Tommy Lee Jones. It 
is the story of an unctuous atlorney general and is set in one of the southern states of America. A lawyer 
commits suicide because he has fallen out with organised crime and he feels that is the only way out. Two 
lads in their early adolescent years - maybe 10 and 13 - witness the suicide. People involved in organised 
crime are aware of this and pursue them. In the middle of a shoot-out at the end of the video, the attorney 
general and the lawyer, Susan Sarandon, who is looking after the interests of the young children, get 
together and decide to offer a new identity to the family as well as a million dollars in cash for them to set 
themselves up elsewhere. 

Those are the glamorous perceptions that we have of witness protection. Having spoken to the officers 
who run the witness protection service in Westem Australia, nothing could be further from the truth. Their 
job is a lot more mundane. The things they do are far less glamorous than the images we build up having 
watched the films that we do. 

As I said earlier, I was surprised that we are creating new legislation because a witness protection service 
has been operating here effectively since 1989. It must have dealt with 60 or 70 people since being set up. 
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I believe it is currently offering about 17 people some sort of protection. Essentially, the witness protection 
system operates as a committee of the Western Australian Police Serviee. It is run by an assistant 
commissioner and two commanders. Any investigating officer who wants a witness to be included in the 
scheme applies to that committee. The application is then considered against a broad range of criteria. If 
the committee feels there is merit in offering protection to that witness, a recommendation is made to the 
Deputy Commissioner of Police. 

This legislation gives delegated power to the commissioner to set up the witness protection system in this 
State. In so doing, Western Australian legislation will complement that of the Commonwealth and other 
States that has either been established or is in the process of being established. I assume the commissioner 
will delegate to the existing committee the authority to conduct the operation of the witness protection 
service. That power to delegate is given under clause 36. 

As I said, this is not a glamorous job. In fact, it is tedious and mundane, but necessary. As Hon Kim 
Chance said, our community has had a gutful of organised crime and corruption and wants to see 
something done about it. Unfortunately we cannot do anything about crime in our community unless 
people are prepared to provide information to the 'relevant authorities so that action can be taken against 
those who are corrupt or committing criminal offences. It is not usual for innocent people who witness a 
crime to come forward to provide that information. Usually the people who come forward are involved in 
crime or associated with criminals, and have necessary information. Given the codes of honour of 
witnesses of this nature, it is very important that we have an effective scheme to provide them with 
necessary protection in return for their providing information to the courts or to the Director of Public 
Prosecutions or to whoever will take action. 

For people to be included in the scheme, they must be assessed on a very stringent set of criteria before the 
committee makes any recommendation to the deputy commissioner; for example - the Attorney General 
might want to clarify this for me - only those who have information relating to crimes that are very serious 
and carry a penalty of seven years or more are offered protection. The information that the witness has 
must be significant. It cannot be incidental information; it must be substantial information on which a 
conviction or some action depends. 

Witnesses may be required to undertake both medical and psychological testing to establish their suitability 
to be included in the scheme. Those who pose a risk to the public or to the police officers involved in the 
witness protection scheme are not to be included. That also applies to those who have previous convictions 
for serious assaults or other violent offences. The committee must assess against those criteria all 
witnesses who have been recommended. 

The committee must do everything in its power to establish whether there are any alternatives to what is 
quite an expensive witness protection scheme. If there are more effective alternatives, the committee will 
not recommend that a person be included in the scheme. It is also important that the committee assess 
whether the witnesses are compatible with others in this scheme. If they pose a threat or some security risk 
to other witnesses, they will not be included in the program. If a witness is recommended and meets all of 
the criteria, the committee will recommend to the deputy commissioner that that person be included in the 
scheme. 

That is not the end of the matter. Witnesses are required to sign a memorandum of understanding saying 
that they comprehend the basis on which they have been included in the scheme. They may have 
information relating to a specific criminal activity or a corrupt activity. The memorandum also details the 
sort of protection that will be available, whether it is a safe house or improved security at the home of the 
witness or a new identity. All of those things are listed in the memorandum of understanding. 

The memorandum of understanding also stipulates some very specific reasons under which the protection 
can be terminated either by the witness electing to do that or if the witness breaches some of the conditions 
of the protection. It is up to the commissioner to take the action to terminate the memorandum of 
understanding. The document also sets out the rights of witnesses being able to complain to the 
Ombudsman about the activities of the police who are providing the witness protection. Once this is done, 
the committee can then determine the level of assistance or protection that will be provided. It is nothing 
like the depictions in the glamorous movies about which I spoke earlier; it is much more mundane and, in 
my view, much more appropriate. 

This legislation gives the commissioner the ability to go to the Supreme Court to ask for a new identity for 
a witness. That can include a new birth certificate to be created for a person. Unless people undertake a 
public process, such as a deed poll or going through the Family Court to change -

Hon Peter Foss: The licence process is the main one. 

Hon BOB THOMAS: These are all public processes and can compromise the security of a witness. This 
Bill is good in that it provides us with a legislative basis on which the Supreme Court can order that new 
identification be provided. It may be a birth certificate, licence or some vocational certificate issued in 
another name. It is important to recognise that caveats are placed on this new identification. Witnesses 
who do not have certain qualifications cannot use the scheme to obtain certificates for which they are not 
eligible. There must be an existing basis on which they qualify for the licence or certificate they are to 
receive. 

The witness protection scheme also provides safe house facilities. It may be in the form of a unit leased for 
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the term of a person's protection. A quite infamous example is the case of Mrs Crimmins who gave 
evidence in the Roddan trial. It is not strictly correct in that the committee had not assessed Mrs 
Crimmins' case; however, assistance provided to her was in the form of a safe house somewhere in a Perth 
suburb. 

It may be that the witness docs not need that level of protection; the witness may need only improved 
security at home. It has been very rare for the unit to need to provide 24 hour bodyguard services. The 
service provided has been less intense than that. In the future an increased level of service may be 
required. A lot of the assistance provided by the witness protection service is offered after the person has 
provided information to'the court or to the royal commission or to whichever body the person is providing 
information. The witness may require assistance to relocate somewhere else in Western Australia or 
interstate; to access employment, education or training; or, one of the most common forms of assistance, 
with financial help with normal living expenses. The service has the flexibility to provide any other form 
of assistance deemed necessary to ensure the protection of that witness. 

An effective legislative framework needs to be established to reflect what currently happens in the witness 
protection service. Offences are covered in clause 35 in "Part 4 - Miscellaneous". In layman's terms it 
appears there are three types of offences. The first offence is disclosing information which could 
compromise the security of a witness. That would apply principally to members of the Press, who may 
publish information which leads to the disclosure of a witness's identity or locality. That offence is liable 
for imprisonment of up to 10 years. 

The second relates to the disclosure of sensitive information. Sensitive information is described as 
follows -

(a) The fact that a person is or was included in, or has undergone assessment for inclusion in, 
a witness protection program; 

(b) information as to the way the program operates; 

(c) information about any police officer who is or has been involved, or any person who is 
assisting or has assisted, in the program; and 

(d) any details of any memorandum of understanding that applies to a person. 

A witness who has received protection is guilty of a crime if he discloses any information which 
compromises the operation of the witness protection service. That crime is punishable by imprisonment of 
five years. I am perplexed by that. That crime is as serious as the media disclosing information about the 
identity of the witness or the location of the safe house. It is conceivable that people would be able to draw 
an inference about other people on the witness protection scheme from the information provided by the 
witness who discloscs information about the protection they are receiving. It would be as serious an 
offence to disclose information which could lead to the identity of other people on the scheme as it would 
be if a person disclosed information about themselves. 

The Bill also makes it an offence for people associated with the scheme to provide information to other 
parties about the witnesses being protected and about the operation of the scheme. That particular crime is 
punishable by imprisonment for up to 10 years. That offence is just as serious as exposing the identity of a 
witness and a witness's disclosure of information which leads to the compromise of other witnesses. 

The computer used by the witness protection service must be secure because somewhere in the Bill it states 
that the commissioner is directed to kccp a register on a computer. It is not inconceivable that somebody 

, could access that computer and then provide other parties with that information. 

Today the Select Committee on the Western Australian Police Service brought down a report which casts 
some doubt on some sections of the Police Force. The select committee's report on its third term of 
reference relates to the internal affairs unit of the Police Force. The committee noted that corruption is not 
endemic but it is systemic in some parts of the Police Force. On page 83 the report states -

The IAU is hampered by deliberate obstruction of its investigations and the deliberate leaking of 
information about its operations; by suspects being tipped off that they are being investigated and 
undercover operatives being identified to their targets; and by an unwillingness even of honest 
police officers to stand witness against their fellows. 

Those people in the Police Force who have been identified by this committee as corrupt could be pressed 
by people with criminal motives to provide information about witnesses who are about to give evidence to 
a court or royal commission about their activities. An assurance is needed that the information held by the 
witness protection service unit of the Police Force is secure and that safeguards are in place,so that anyone 
who tries to access that information is identified. Those safeguards may be in place, but I want to be 
assured that they are efficient and effective. The House should be given an assurance of the efficacy of 
those safeguards. 

I ask the Attorney General to provide an explanation for the discrepancy between the levels of severity of 
the sentences for people who divulge information about the witness protection service. The witness 
protection service is very effective and I congratulate all the people who have been involved in its running 
since 1989. 

HON TOM HELM (Mining and Pastoral) [8.09 pm]: I join with my colleague in welcoming this Bill. I 



2810 [COUNCIL] 

too see it as a very important tool in the fight against crime. I also think it is a complementary commitment 

from the Parliament to the Police Service in its attempt to deal with organised crime and corruption and to 

offer protection for the people who would like to tum State's evidence, or at least cooperate with the crime 

fighters in the State. It is fortuitous that this Bill comes before us on the same day as the report from the 

Select Committee on Western Australian Police Service came down and at the same time as statements 

were made by this Government that changes will be made to the Official Corruption Commission. It is not 

before time that we as parliamentarians should offer some support to the police in their work. It is a 

reflection of the commitment the Police Service has shown, if not in an unofficial way, at least in a non

legislative way to using its ingenuity, patience and pride in the job to see if it ean tum around the direction 

in which we as a society seem to be going. 

We seem to be discovering corruption at all levels as well as an increased use of illegal drugs and their sale 

to not only young people but also older people by the more organised sections of the crime fraternity in 

their efforts to corrupt and make ill-gotten gains through illegal activities. Members will be aware that 

since 1989 a witness protection program has been in place. However, it has been working with one hand 

behind its back. It could offer a certain amount of protection to witnesses who assisted the police in their 

duties but it fell short of what was probably the most effective way of protecting a witness; that is, by 

changing the witness' identity through federal authorities which this Bill will facilitate. 

It is unusual for to us debate issues such as this which perhaps give carte blanche to people to do what they 

think is in the best interests of a crime fighting exercise or to help people who wish to assist the police in 

carrying out their inquiries. We arc not dealing only with people who arc innocent and who have witnessed 

a crime or are aware of corruption, but also for the most part with people who have taken part in some 

criminal or corrupt activity and who have changed their ways for one reason or another and who wish to 

make a fresh start in their lives. This Bill is a useful tool in that fight. We are members of Parliament and 

have concerns about the way the police do their job. It is a nice change to put something before the 

Parliament that will help the police, but which is non-critical and praises the initiative shown in this area 

without the benefit of any legal standing such as this Bill will provide. 

I am concerned about a number of issues, even though this Bill is now before the House and we were well 

briefed by the people from the witness protection part of the Police Service who convinced us that this Bill 

will be useful. A press release was put out today by the Leader of the Opposition which expresses concern 

at the way this Administration wants to deal with the Official Corruption Commission. The witness 

protection program will be in place to help people who have been involved in corrupt activities. The 

people will be in place to pursue matters of corruption who, in the words of the Leader of the Opposition -

Hon EJ. Charlton: We know all about that. 

Hon TOM HELM: The things Hon Eric Charlton does not know about, could not even be thought about, 

so he should shut up and listen. 

The PRESIDENT: Order! 

Hon TOM HELM: The Leader of the Opposition said, "The new corruption watchdog will be muzzled and 

kept on a leash." We were told by this Attorney General in his lecturing way recently about the findings of 

the Royal Commission into Commercial Activities of Government and Other Matters, that the 

recommendations made in 1992 were to improve the work of the Official Corruption Commission and that 

there should be a way of helping whistle blowers who arc able to disclose corrupt activities whether 

through politicians, Ministers, public servants or whoever within our community. I bring to the House's 

attention the evidence implicit in the way these corrupt activities are brought to the attention of the public; 

that is, through someone who has realised his activities are, if not illegal, immoral. 

Hon Bob Thomas told us about a code of silence in a video he saw. That same code of silence exists in the 

public service and other places. Some of those people are particularly brave by letting the authorities know 

what they know. If they give the commitment which is asked for in this legislation, surely, we as 

parliamentarians must make a commitment to protect them when they come forward to offer that 

information. It would fly in the face of that commitment if the Administration of this State did not take 

matters of corruption seriously. A $13m commission made recommendations which everyone can read and 

which were not pursued except for taking on board the advice given by the witness protection program 

people. We should be strengthening those sections of the legislation. 

On examination of this Bill it is obvious that we will be trusting the people who run the program. I think 

Hon Bob Thomas went into some detail about the procedures contained in the Bill. The very act of having 

this before the Chamber will send a clear message to the people of Western Australia that we are serious 

about crime and about helping people who have been caught up in the crime or corruption scenes. If they 

want to tum around and explain what they have been doing or go straight, surely we should show the 

public of Western Australia that unacceptable situations of the past will not continue. It seems that one set 

of circumstances is laughing at another. 

We are reducing the work of one organisation fighting corruption and strengthening another that does not. 

Previous speakers have referred to the importance of this legislation in providing someone with a new life 

if that is necessary. I am sure that when a witness comes before the court and gives evidence he will be 

very nervous about the process, but he will be less nervous if he knows that he will not have to jump 

through the same hoops that other citizens must jump through to get a new identity by obtaining a new 
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driver's licence, passport, Medicare card and so on. Perhaps the Federal Government was right in saying 

that it was not prepared to make a commitment to that extent until the States were able to put together the 

necessary legislation to give protection and strength to those people running the program. 

It was put to us at the briefing today that the mere fact that we are diseussing the witness protection 

program will ensure that the message gets out loud and clear, not just to the ordinary citizens of Western 

Australia but also to the criminal fraternity. Almost daily we are observing huge drug busts throughout the 

State; people are being apprehended with record hauls of illegal drugs. Obviously those huge drug busts 

can take place only with the help of those within organised crime. Very few operators could provide the 

capital or infrastructure required to land those drugs on our shores or to make those drugs without some 

very heavy money being available to them. That suggests that there is a professional level to this and that 

we are only now beginning to come to grips with it. The factories making these illegal drugs, such as 

crack, will spring up more and more frequently because it is an easy way to make money. Unless we have 

people willing to come forward to tell us what they know, the situation will continue to get worse. 

We have argued in this place on numerous occasions that it is not enough to increase the penalties for 

people who carry out illegal acts: We must give assistance to the victims. However, we must also be 

prepared to support those people who come before the court to reveal what they know. This legislation is a 

very important tool in giving that assistance to those people. It allows for the criminal background of the 

witness to be given to the court in certain circumstances. As a result, we will not have the situation that 

was put to us this afternoon where the con merchants come forward to tell a story so that their criminal 

activities go without punishment or so that they are put in the witness protection program and do not have 

to provide the evidence they have. A clear indication must be given and the people running the program 

must understand that the assistance being given to the witnesses is given on a reciprocal basis. The witness 

must be prepared to give information to the authorities and testify in court. There are some protections in 

the legislation to assure us that the police will be given the support that I firmly believe they deserve. 

Most of what needs to be said about this legislation has been said. I know that Hon Bob Thomas has 

brought to the attention of the House the fact that the Bill is before us on the same day as the tabling of the 

report of the Select Committee on Wcstern Australian Police Service. However, I would like to emphasise 

my concerns before I conclude my contribution. 

The Minister's second reading speech contains a most hypocritical statement - I am sure it was written 

some time ago. It states -

The Government's commitment to law and order is further enhanced by introduction of this 

legislation. The protection of witnesses has been shown to be an integral part of the fight against 

serious crime in Australian and international jurisdictions. This Bill will provide the capacity to 

protect an innocent person who witnesses a crime and reports it to authorities. 

Apart from innocent witnesses, experience has shown that in the case of organised or serious 

crime, it is often necessary to provide protection to persons who are accomplices or who have 

some close knowledge of criminal activities. In those instances, the state witness protection 

program may be utilised whenever such persons have given or agreed to give evidence on behalf 

of the Crown. 

I remind members that on the one hand we are providing assistance to those people who are prepared to 

come clean about what they have done. On the other hand, in the face of the recommendations of the 1992 

royal commission, we have an Official Corruption Commission that has been hamstrung, a body perhaps 

concerned with the most insidious crime that can be committed against society; that is, corruption. It has 

had to conduct its investigations in secret - it is prevented from holding public hearings. Any number of 

other areas hamper the police or any other investigating body or authority in their attempts to reduce 

corruption in this State. We are asking the police, once again, to do a job in the face of what can be 

described only as cynical activities on the part of this Administration. I support the Bill. 

HON PETER FOSS (East Metropolitan - Attorney General) [8.28 pm]: I thank members for their 

contributions, in particular Hon Nick Griffiths for his learned contribution, and I will take up his suggestion 

that we deal with some matLers in Committee. I will deal with Hon Kim Chance's statement that it is 

unusual to have the capacity to serve civil process on someone other than the person himself. I must 

disagree: It happens every day. For instance, in the Local Court summonses are frequently, if not mostly, 

served upon a person other than the defendant because the rules of the Local Court allow that. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: Over the apparent age of 16. 

Hon PETER FOSS: One simply has to be in the right place and apparently over the age of 16. Frequently, 

summonses can be served on agents. In fact, before the introduction of uniform legislation, foreign 

companies were required to have a person nominated in each State in order to have process served on them. 

The substituted service is regularly ordered by the court when a defendant absents himself. One can serve 

a writ on a partner, which will have an effeet against the entire partnership. People who register business 

names render themselves liable for a process serve at the business address. Rather than this being 

extraordinary, I would not be at all surprised, given the number of processes through the local courts and 

the number that are served on businesses at registered offices, that it is more likely that the majority of civil 

process is served on a person other than the defendant himself. Therefore, rather than it being unusual I 

would say that it is the majority of cases. 
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Hon Kim Chance also referred to the basic idea of facing one's accuser. One of the remarks I made early 
to Hon George Cash is that the problem with a lot of people who look at the law these days is that they do 
not look at history. Therefore, they see the law as a number of isolated incidents or principles without the 
background reasons for them. It is important that a person see his accuser, but the fact that shortly after he 
may change his name and character seems totally irrelevant to the question of whether he has seen the 
person who made the accusation. The whole point is to allow that person to be there to accuse. It is more 
important to make certain that a person who says "I accuse" does not suffer some terrible penalty before or 
immediately after he arrives in court. Measures such as this are so important because of what we see as 
being a mischief. The mischief is that the judicial process would be corrupted. I will not refer to any 
particular cases, but it is well known that one way in which organised crime can avoid even minor 
convictions is by doing something to the witness. If that is allowed, eventually we might get to the stage 
where people would not be prepared to come. forward and give evidence and people in organised crime 
could end up immune from prosecution. Al Capone is probably the classic example of someone not being 
caught because of the nasty things which everyone knew he was doing but because of an income tax 
offence. That did not require the sort of witnesses who would be required for organised murder and so 
forth. It was one of those occasions where one would not have a witness who would be suborned. 
Suborning of witnesses is insidious to the ultimate degree. It means that the whole judicial process is being 
corrupted. It is worst than corruption beeause corruption itself cannot be picked up because of suborning 
of witnesses. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: It is the worse form of corruption. 

Hon PE'IER FOSS: I agrcc. It is the ultimate in undermining the judicial system. That is why this is such 
a vitally important piece of legislation. Hon Cheryl Davenport quite rightly raised the fact that it is not just 
for organised crime but also innocent victims who fear for their safety. I am glad that she made the point. 
It is a question of suborning the legal process. Most of us as members of Parliament have heard incidents 
of people complaining of their concern or about their inability to complain, let alone give evidence, 
because they fear for their safety. It deals with the most vulnerable people in our society, who cannot raise 
their hands because of their fear. Hon Cheryl Davenport raised a number of specific points, which I may 
get her to repeat in Committce when I have the capacity to give operational information. 

Hon Bob Thomas gave us a very broad description of how the system works in the program, which I think 
will be very useful to have on the Hansard. He said that he was surprised to find the program was not in 
legislation. I think he gave the reason at the end, that most of the things in the Bill could be done without 
legislation. In only two instances do we need legislation: One is to change those legal documents which 
otherwise cannot be changed and the other is to provide some form of penalty for people who undermine 
.the process. One of the questions that he raised was, why the different penalties in clause 35. I think we 
should deal with that when we get to clause 35. I have a fairly clear explanation for that. 

Hon Tom Helm gave today one of the best of his specches that I have heard. It was very informative, 
relevant and on the topic. I thank him very much for his contribution. I commend the Bill to the House. 

Question put and passed. 

Bill read a second time. 

Committee 
The Deputy Chairman of Committees (Hon Derrick Tomlinson) in the Chair; Hon Peter Foss (Attorney 
General) in charge of the Bill. 

Clause 1: Short title· 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: I rise not to detain the House at any length but to point out that my colleagues and 
I will be making a number of inquiries of the Attorney General as we progress through the Bill. We will be 
doing so not so much to indicate any degree of opposition but to seek from the Auorney General relevant 
information so that the community and perhaps the person who will be the supreme architect, the 
Commissioner of Police, will be better guided in their endeavours to give effect to the good policy that we 
trust this Bill will enact when it gets through all stages. 

Clause put and passed. 

Clause 2: Commencement· 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: This clause is moderately contentious because it raises the question of the 
Sentence Administration Act 1995, which has not yet come into operation because of the Criminal Law 
Amendment Bill 1996. The Attorney General will be aware that this matter was raised in the Estimates 
Committee last week when he had an entourage of some six public servants. Neither he nor any of those 
present, as I understand his words to the committee, knew why the Criminal Law Amendment Bill 1995, 
then 1996, was given a lesser priority than the Sentence Administration Act 1995, the Sentencing Act and 
its sibling Act, the Sentence (Consequential Provisions) Act 1995. I and all of my colleagues are very 
concerned to know why there has been this delay and why this clause is worded the way it is. We do not 
want this Bill delayed unnecessarily. It will be delayed and affected by what we consider to be - I say this 
with all due charity - the tardy performance of the Government in dealing with its legislative program. We 
need an explanation. The explanation given to us last week in the Estimates Committee was that the reason 
was known only to the former Attorney General. This Attorney General has had a week to find out the 
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answer. The Opposition would like to know the answer so that when it votes for clause 2, which I assure 
members it will, it can do so in good conscience. 

Hon PETER FOSS: I have not inquired and I do not know the answer. It will not in any way delay the 
passage of this legislation. All it will affect is section 97(2)(a). The rest of the Act will come into effect 
and it does not matter whether that part of the legislation comes into operation, because it needs to come 
into operation only after the Sentence Administration Act comes into operation, and that is quite 
appropriate. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS:, 'I have made it clear that the Opposition does not want to delay this Bill. I 
understand everything the Attorney General said, but he should give the Chamber the courtesy of an 
explanation. Members know that the important duty of the State is to provide protection to its citizens. 
This Government has fallen down very badly in this area. The very least the Attorney General can do is to 
find out the answer from his Cabinet colleague and advise members accordingly. I will not delay the 
voting on this clause any longer. 

Clause put and passed. 

Clause 3: Interpretation and abbreviation· 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: This is the definition clause and again the Opposition has no interest in delaying 
the passage of this very important piece of legislation. 

Hon EJ. Charlton: You said that before. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: I know and I want government members to understand the importance of the 
legislation. 

Hon EJ. Charlton: I believed you the first time. 

The DEPUTY CHAIRMAN (Hon Derrick Tomlinson): Order! If we have no interjections perhaps Hon 
Nick Griffiths can proceed with his elucidation of the Opposition's point of view. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: It is the view not only of the Opposition but also the community and, I am sure, 
the Government that this Bill is a bipartisan measure. I say that advisedly because I never refer to people 
being away from this place on extraparliamentary business, but I doubt very much whether this Chamber 
will hear the views of the so-called Independents on this Bill, particularly clause 3. If they want to keep 
their silence, that is their business. 

I suggest that some aspects of clause 3 bear comment because they relate to so many other clauses in the 
Bill. I will not outline that relationship at length. The first definition is "approved authority" and it makes 
reference to the National Crime Authority. The federal Attorney General has been guilty of a very 
disgraceful act in slashing the personnel and funding of the operations of the National Crime Authority in 
Western Australia. This State's beloved Police Service will have to pick up the tab. In doing so, it will be 
slashing certain areas of its operations. The evidence for that comes from the words of the Commissioner 
of Police. I mention that briefly because I know it is not strictly relevant to the debate on clause 3. 

Hon Peter Foss: It docs not sound relevant. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: The approved authorities are listed in paragraphs (a) to (d) of that definition, but I 
am particularly pleased that the appropriate safeguard has been included in (d); that is, the conjunctive 
which says the authority must be one which must be declared by the Minister to be an approved authority 
for the purposes of the Act. Those who arc beloved of States' rights know that their interests will be 
safeguarded by the state Minister. It is something to be applauded from a provincial point of view, if one is 
so inclined. 

The Commissioner of Police is referred to for the first time in the legislation under this definition. In my 
second reading observations I made it clear that this Bill gives the Commissioner of Police a crucial job. 
His role will be commented on as we debate the Bill clause by clause as the case may be or as required, as 
Hon John Halden so eloquently indicates to me. 

The definition of "court" has relevance because it leads to the definition of "witness", which comes under 
clause 4. My reading of paragraph (a) under the definition of "court" leads me to the view that it has very 
wide ramifications with respect to the definition of "witness". In that context I note that other steps must 
be taken before a person comes into the process. It is appropriate to look at each step. Paragraph (c) 
reads -

A commission, board, committee or other body established by the Governor or by either or both 
Houses of Parliament or by or the Government of the State to inquire into any matter. 

This means a political commission of inquiry could be held. We could also have some silly, nasty 
malcontent who was so politically biased that he might find himself, as a result of an action on the part of a 
creature of the Government - of course I am not talking about any Commissioner of Police, past, present or 
to come - under the witness protection program. It is a frrst step and it is very wide. It may be that the 
awful past Commonwealth Government had legislation expressed in wide terms. This is the Western 
Australian Parliament and it docs not have to put up with that. It must make up its own mind about these 
matters. I have a concern about the definition of "court" being extended to the degree outlined in 
subparagraph (c). 
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The next definition I must refer to, albeit briefly - although Hon John Halden suggested to me he thought it 
was a very important matter and should take some time, but I do not think time is a measure of 
importance - is the definition of "designated position". The definition contained in clause 3 is fair enough, 
but it is something to be borne in mind when considering the wording of clause 14. Of course, we are not 
dealing with that clause now and I look forward to discussing whether we should narrow down the 
operation of what is foreshadowed to be "designated position" when we debate clause 14. In doing so, 
perhaps the Committee will consider not using the words "designated position" but some other form of 
words. There is no need to amend the words at this stage. They are words of common usage. They are 
fair, reasonable and appropriate. 

Hon TOM HELM: Under what circumstances would we need to use subclause (3)? 

Hon PETER FOSS: The classic example would be if new organisations came into existence which were 
not contemplated by the Bill. 

Clause put and passed. 

Clause 4: Definition or "witness" • 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: This is perhaps one of the most important clauses in this Bill, because it is 
concerned with the definition of a witness. To be protected by this Bill, one needs to be a witness. The 
language in subclause (1) for the most part is reasonable and unexceptional. However, I have a misgiving 
about paragraph (a)(ii) which says that a person is a witness if he or she gives evidence before hearings or 
proceedings before a body "that is declared by the Minister to be a body". That secms somewhat wide. I 
know that some people see "an offence" or "any offence" to be somewhat wide; I am not concerned about 
that, because I know what flows on through the Bill. Again, I suppose the appropriate answer is that other 
steps have to be gone through as we progress. I appreciate that. However, I would rather we got it right 
from the word go and at every step in the process. I note also what is said in subclause (l)(b). I accept that 
we need a bit of elasticity here, and it all turns on the discretion of the Commissioner of Police. However, 
these matters cumulatively give a most absolute discretion and that has ramifications when we deal with a 
clause that I cannot deal with now because it is numbered in the 30s. I raise the query that perhaps this is a 
little too wide and perhaps we are going a lillie too far. I have made reference to a funnel effect, but we are 
dealing with exceptional circumstances and great expense. 

Subclause (1)(c) refers to making a statement to a police officer which can mean many things. I know we 
have the English language, but there are statements and statements; there are lies and statistics. I have 
made reference to and the committce has already dealt with the question of approved authority and the 
width of that. It is proper that we have to rely on the discretion of the responsible officer, who is the 
Commissioner of Police when there is risk to the person's safety or welfare. In another context we have 
had debates in this Chamber about safety and welfare. I am not surc if it is really right in this context. I 
know the Minister can argue that it is, but I am not happy with the drafting. I am not making these 
comments in a negative frame and I trust the Minister appreciates that. I am making them so that some 
guidance can be given to those who will be bound to carry out the directions of this Parliament in this very 
important role of witness protection. 

Subclause (1) talks about a witness in the sense that it is commonly understood; that is, somebody who will 
give a statement of evidence. Subclause (3) talks about a person being a witness if they are related or 
associated with a person referred to in subclauses (1) and (2). The wording in subclause (2) fascinates me. 
That is very wide. How long is a piece of string? II is a fascinating subclause, and I would love to hear the 
Attorney's comments on it. It states that "a person is a witness if, in the opinion of the Commissioner, 
there is a risk to the safety or welfare of the person for any reason other than those stated in subsection (I)". 
It commences with the words, "For the purposes of this Act, unless the contrary intention appears", so 
unless the contrary intention appears, a person will be in the witness protection program if the 
commissioner is of the opinion that there is a risk to the person's safety or welfare for any reason, and that 
reason has nothing to do with the evidence that person may give. That seems to be very wide.! am not 
particularly pleased with the drafting of this Bill. I will not allude to the debate in another place, and I 
think it would be contrary to standing orders to do so; and if this Bill came to us from the dreadful heathens 
across the Nullarbor, we can pour our boiling piteh on them, because I am not impressed with it. 

Subclause (3) states that "For the purposes of this Act, unless the contrary intention appears, a person is a 
witness if he or she is related to or associated with". Does that mean related by blood, by marriage, or by a 
de facto relationship? I suppose the commissioner will exercise his discretion. I can accept that there is 
common usage of those words, and that the Minister may say, "We can rely on the good sense of the 
commissioner or judge, who has to view the matter in whatever circumstances one can tum one's mind to", 
and I do not intend to do that this evening. However, we as a Legislature have a duty to get our language 
right, and I am sure that we are not gelling it right here. One can argue that the import of those words is 
narrowed by the words that follow, and that may be the case. The words that follow are "a person referred 
to in subsection (1) or (2) and, in the opinion of the Commissioner, may require protection or assistance 
under the SWPP because of that relationship or association". It is a pity that an "A" was not added so that 
that acronym was easier to pronounce. I suppose the answer is that we may need to protect or assist people 
because of that relationship or association, and that protection or assistance is important. Protection is one 
thing, and this witness protection Bill is about protecting people, but the word "assistance" I find curious. 
We may need to assist people to protect them, but we either protect people or we do not protect people. 



[Wednesday, 19 June 1996] 2815 

I do not wish to take up much time in Committee on this Bill, but I am concerned about the width and 
looseness of its language. I can accept that if Hon Peter Foss were to talk about the matter, he would do so 
lucidly and with understanding. I will not comment on the present Commissioner of Police, but I wonder 
whether those commissioners who follow him will have the same understanding of the English language 
and of what we are getting at when we use these words. I invite the Attorney General to comment. I have 
spoken at moderate length about this clause because it is crucial as it is the threshold of a person's entering 
into the witness protection program. I am disappointed that the Attorney General has not sought to 
comment on some of the matters which are of real concern and I invite him to do so because, if he does not, 
I will have to go through, these matters in great detail, and I do not want to do that. 

Clause put and passed. 

Progress 

Progress reported and leave given to sit again at a later stage of the sitting, on motion by Hon Peter Foss 
(Attorney General). 

[Continued on p 2816.] 

SITTINGS OF THE HOUSE - EXTENDED AFTER 11.00 PM 

Wednesday, 19 Jlme 

HON E.J. CHARLTON (Agricultural - Minister for Transport) [9.08 pm): I move -

That the House continue to sit beyond 11.00 pm. 

HON JOHN HALDEN (South Metropolitan - Leader of the Opposition) [9.08 pm]: Normally, the 
Opposition is advised of this matter. 

Hon Peter Foss: We spoke to Hon Kim Chance. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: I 'have never been averse to silting beyond 11.00 pm; I have always thought it was 
great fun. However, normally we have some understanding, informally or formally, of what we will do 
beyond 11.00 pm; so if I have some understanding of that, I may be prepared to vote in favour of this 
motion. However, without that information, I am in no position to comment, and I call upon someone from 
the government side to explain what is proposed. I am happy to contemplate this motion, but there appears 
to be some confusion, and it docs not concur with our normal arrangements. 

HON PETER FOSS (East Metropolitan - Attorney General) [9.09 pm]: Earlier this evening, I passed a 
note to Hon Kim Chance asking whether he was ready to go on with the Planning Legislation Amendment 
Bill, and then as matters progressed I suggested to Hon Eric Charlton that we sit beyond 11.00 pm, and I 
asked him to ,talk to Hon Kim Chance. He spoke to Hon Kim Chance and indicated that we wanted to go 
on to planning and we would have to sit beyond 11.00 o'clock. I understood at that stage that it was 
agreed, so I asked that we report progress. I assumed it was all understood and that we were ready to go on 
with it. 

HON KIM CHANCE (Agricultural) [9.10 pm]: To clarify that, I must have misheard what Hon Eric 
C;harlton said. I recall the comment about our readiness to proceed with the planning Bill. I am sorry if I 
misunderstood. If the Minister said that, I am sorry that I did not pick it up. 

HON TOM HELM (Mining and Pastoral) [9.11 pm]: Bearing in mind that we will sit, I understand, at 
10.00 am tomorrow - I do not know whether that is true - can the Leader of the House indicate in which 
direction we are going, and why? If we have such infoi:mation we will be able to vote appropriately. 

HON N.F. MOORE (Mining and Pastoral - Leader of the House) [9.12 pm]: We are moving through a 
Bill at the moment. It is important to finish that Bill and to debate the planning legislation tonight. 
Because we may go beyond 11.00 pm tonight it is expedient at this time to give us the capacity to do so. 

Hon John Halden: Are you saying that you want to ,finish the Witness Protection (Western Australia) Bill? 

Hon N.F. MOORE: With respect, I am not about to say that we will get to a certain point in the night's 
proceedings. I want to reach a certain stage of the legislative program before we decide to conclude the 
evening's program. As members are aware, in the previous couple of weeks I have given an indieation of 
what we would finish and we have made arrangements accordingly. The Witness Protection (Western 
Australia) Bill seems to be taking a long time. If it takes a very long we will sit beyond 11.00 pm. I want 
to get started on the planning legislation, but I do not know how long that will take. The proposition to sit 
beyond 11.00 pm wiII give us the capacity to finalise a number of matters before the night is finished. 

Question put and a division taken with the following result -

Hon George Cash 
Hon EJ. Charlton 
Hon MJ. Criddle 
Hon Peter Foss 
Hon Barry House 

Ayes (13) 

Hon P.R. Lightfoot 
Hon J.D. MacLean 
Hon Murray Montgomery 
Hon N.F. Moore 
Hon B.M. Scott 

Hon W.N. Stretch 
Hon Derrick Tomlinson 
Hon Muriel Patterson (Teller) 
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Hon Kim Chance 
Hon J.A. Cowdell 

[COUNCIL] 

Noes (10) 

Hon John Halden 
Hon Mark Nevill 

Hon Cheryl Davenport 
Hon N.D. Griffiths 

Hon J.A. Scou 
Hon Tom Stephens 

Hon M.D. Nixon 
Hon B.K. Donaldson 
Hon Max Evans 
Hon P.H. Lockyer 

Question thus passed. 

Pairs 

Hon Bob Thomas 
Hon Tom Helm (Teller) 

Hon Graham Edwards 
Hon Doug Wenn 
Hon Val Ferguson 
Hon A.J.G. MacTiernan 

WITNESS PROTECTION (WESTERN AUSTRALIA) BILL 

Committee 

Resumed from an earlier stage of the siuing. The Chairman of Committees (Hon Barry House) in the 
Chair; Hon Peter Foss (Attorney General) in charge of the Bill. 

Progress was reported after clause 4 had becn agreed to. 

Clause 5 put and passed. 

Clause 6: Arrangements with approved authorities· 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: Our standing orders do not permit us to speak glowingly at the second reading 
stage on matters contained in clauses. This clause is very important to the operation of the Bill, and it is 
pleasing to see it in this le~islation. It enables the Commissioner of Police to enter into arrangements with 
approved authorities, whIch are set out in some detail. Subclause (3) is welcomed because the 
commissioner is not to exercise any function conferred by such an arrangement unless this Bill authorises 
the exercise of that function in respect of the state witness protection program. It is proper and fair that in 
his arrangements with approved authorities the commissioner should not engage in functions that he would 
not be authorised to exercise in a Western Australian jurisdiction only. I regret that that matter was not 
dealt with appropriately at the second reading stage. 

The CHAIRMAN: Order! I know there is rain on the roof, but Hon Nick Griffiths is just about impossible 
to hear from this part of the room, and I am sure Hansard is having difficulty too. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: I regret that for Hansard, and I regret if you, Mr Chairman, have difficulty hearing 
me. However, in the context of the Western Australian weather, I have no great desire, with the greatest of 
respect, to raise my voice. I think I am speaking reasonably clearly, and I regret if the audio system does 
not work sufficiently to enable my comments to be heard. 

Hon Tom Stephens: Perhaps the Committee should adjourn. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: Yes. 

The CHAIRMAN: Order! I hope the member does not complain about how Hansard reports what he had 
to say, because if I were reporting what he said in the past five minutes, I could not report anything because 
I could not hear it. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: With respect, Mr Chairman, I do not think it is appropriate that you should 
comment about that. 

Several members interjected. 

Hon N.F. Moore interjected. 

Hon Tom Stephens: Don't you give me check across the Chamber! 

The CHAIRMAN: Order! Order! Hon Tom Stephens will come to order. 

Hon Tom Stephens: You should call the Leader of the House to order as well, Mr Chairman. 

The CHAIRMAN: I am calling Hon Tom Stephens to order. 

Point of Order 

Hon TOM STEPHENS: I will not be abused by the Leader of the House across this Chamber. If you eall 
me to order, Mr Chairman, I ask you to call the Leader of the House to order at the same time. 

The CHAIRMAN: That is not a point of order. 

Commillee Resumed 

Hon TOM HELM: I am concerned about the microphones in this place. I asked the Sergeant at Arms, 
Malcolm Peacock, to check with Hansard to see whether we could get volume on the microphones around 
Hon Nick Griffiths because he was the second speaker tonight whom I could hardly hear. I know I suffer 
from industrial deafness; however, it appears that my problem is shared by other members in this Chamber. 
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I could not understand fully what was said by Hon Nick Griffiths. The fault with the volume is not 
confined to Hon Nick Griffiths' microphone. 

The CHAIRMAN: Order! I think the point has been made. Does Hon Tom Helm have anything to say 
about clause 6? 

Hon TOM HELM: Yes; however, I make the point that it is difficult to have a reasoned debate when we 
cannot hear what members are saying. I am not sure whether Hon Nick Griffiths takes an opposing view to 
me, particularly on subclause (3). Clause 6 states that the commissioner is not to exercise any function 
conferred by such an arrangement unless the legislation authorises the exercise of the function in respect of 
the witness protection program; however, clause 7 says that he can confer his authority on others for the 
purposes of the legislation. Docs that not mean that although the commissioner cannot do anything that the 
legislation docs not allow for, the delegation of his or her authority to somebody else under clause 7 
confers the same responsibilities on the commissioner? 

Hon PETER FOSS: Although we are not dealing with clause 7, what the member says is correct. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: When highly discretionary powers are given to people, they can often be used in 
ways that are adverse to the original intent of the legislation. Are these powers highly discretionary? If 
they are, is there a need for that? 

Hon PETER FOSS: This process has been going on for many years without any limitation on discretion. 
Until now the exercise of these powers has been unrestricted by any form of legislation. Of necessity, 
because of the nature of what the legislation deals with, it must continue to be a wide discretion. The 
member may have missed the earlier exchange between Hon Nick Griffiths and me about the nature of the 
beast we are dealing with. There is no greater attack on the judicial system than the attack on witnesses 
before it because that means that all other attacks on the system become incapable of being dealt with 
because the witnesses are unable to give the evidence necessary to bring the action. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: I think the Attorney General has conceded that it is a high discretionary power to 
be given to the commissioncr. Is it appropriate that it be the commissioner in isolation, or should it be any 
other body or group of individuals? Should it be the commissioner and the Director of Public Prosecutions, 
for example, or a combination such as that that confers these powers? We are talking about one individual 
with high discretionary powers and with no-one having the ability to vet his use of them. 

Hon PETER FOSS: It is entirely appropriate. Up until now it has been purely an executive act. Many 
executive acts of government are entirely discretionary. This is no different. This legislation will put in 
place a regime of control. Were it not for this legislation, there would be no control. I do not believe that 
any mischief has been demonstrated that requires that control. We are setting up something that puts in 
some limits, but generally states what is already the case. I think it is most appropriate that there be wide 
discretion. I do not see how it could work without that wide discretion and if we turned it into a 
bureaucratic nightmare with everybody checking on everybody else. If the possibility arose of abuses of 
discretion, we would look to limit executive discretion. I do not think it is appropriate just because it has 
come before the Parliament to limit that discretion. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: I pay credit to my colleague Hon Graham Edwards for introducing a witness 
protection scheme in 1989. The fact that we have a witness protection scheme at all is due to my party's 
concern about these matters. As I understand it, for the most part the witness protection scheme in Western 
Australia has worked well. I agree with the Allorney General that it is appropriate at this stage to move to 
regulate what was in existence in some way. The genesis of this is the Commonwealth's move to have 
uniformity achieved throughout Australia. Under section 24 of the commonwealth Act, for certain 
witnesses to avail themselves of commonwealth documents complementary legislation had to be passed in 
the States. 

I will not spend a great deal of time on this matter as this is a bipartisan Bill. Opposition comments are 
directed to a grcater understanding of the legislation. I applaud much of what the Attorney General has 
said. 

Hon TOM STEPHENS: This appears to be an appropriate part of the Bill to refer to some concerns which 
have emerged in recent times regarding evidence from a witness who was to be protected by the Police 
Service of Western Australia in relation to mallers before the courts. That witness has detailed her 
concerns and complaints about the lack of protection she bas experienced while under police protection. If 
I understand the situation correctly, the complaints detailed are pretty horrific about the way she was dealt 
with while under the protection and support of police officers. 

In the way this witness, it appears, has been inadequately protected and subsequently humiliated by a 
police officer during that protection, it secms that police officers have not experienced the full effects of 
the law for breach of duty. I have only passing knowledge of the matter through media coverage and 
hearing to this point, and I have not yet taken the opportunity to aecess available avenues to place the 
Police Service, through the Minister and particularly the Commissioner of Police, under parliamentary 
pressure to ensure that appropriate action is taken against any police officer against whom this complaint 
was made. I believe that the complaint arose in the royal commission forum. 

I will take the opportunity to look more closely at the complaint of this woman to see what steps the 
Commissioner of Police, in the first instance, and the Minister for Police, in the second instance, and the 
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whole of Government, if necessary, can take to ensure that appropriate arrangements are made for the 
protection of witnesses, and that these arrangements are functioning effectively under Police Service 
obligations. 

I take the opportunity on this clause to flag to the Chamber and the Attorney General that I am not happy 
with the hearsay evidence that has been put in my direction regarding the way in which this witness was 
dealt with, and the media coverage secn to this point If further examination of her complaint justifies my 
current concern, I will take further parliamentary action to ensure that the Commissioner of Police and the 
Police Minister can assure the Parliament that witnesses such as this woman are never subjected to the 
humiliation under alleged protection as appears to have occurred in this case. 

Hon PETER FOSS: I thought I understood the matter to which the member referred until he mentioned the 
royal commission - he may be mistaken about that. If I correctly understand the matter to which he refers, 
it is being taken seriously: It is under investigation by the Ombudsman and being looked at by the Director 
of Public Prosecutions. I am not fully au fait with the recommendations, but I can assure the member that 
the matter is being taken seriously by the Government. If he has obtained any evidence which may assist 
either the Ombudsman or the DPP, I will be grateful if he were to contact them or the Minister for Police. 
The allegation is of considerable concern and seriousness. Obviously, the Police Service will be doing its 
best to ensure that the matter is appropriately investigated and, if necessary, that further action is taken. 

Clause put and passed. 

Clause 7 put and passed. 

Clause 8: Commissioner to decide who is included· 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: This is a threshold clause and should, therefore, be commented upon. Firstly, it 
refers to the commissioner having "sole responsibility", which are important words when considering a 
later clause dealing with delegation. I shall move through the other clauses relatively quickly so we can 
deal with the delegation issue. 

Subclause (2) outlines three requirements for witnesses to be included in the scheme. Firstly, it requires an 
affirmative decision of the commissioner, and a previous clause dealt with that mauer. The clause refers to 
protection and assistance of the kind able to be provided under the state witness protection program. I am 
not happy with the words "protection and assistance" in the protection scheme. Undoubtedly the words do 
the job, but we have an obligation to be more precise in our language when legislating. 

The agreement of the witness is required in paragraph (b), and that is proper. When considering later 
clauses, the prospect of no agreement with the witness would be an awful state of affairs. One would 
believe that we were in overseas jurisdictions if paragraph (b) were not included in the legislation. 
Reference is also made to a memorandum of understanding entered into in accordance with clause II, with 
which we shall deal shortly. 

Then there is a number of criteria for which the commissioner must have regard. I have to make reference 
to these because, again, if one were to read the second reading speeches and relied on Hansard to have 
some understanding of the content of Bills which pass through this House of review - it is significant that 
people cannot hear me while I am talking, but that is a matter for them. 

Hon EJ. Charlton: It would be if you said anything. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: It is also interesting that those who lack understanding interject. However, if one 
were to commit the cardinal sin of alluding to debates in another place, I doubt very much whether a person 
reading the Hansard would have much understanding of what the Bill was about. Certainly, most people 
who pick up Acts would have little understanding if they were to rely on those Acts alone. Therefore, it is 
proper that reference be made to subclause (3). We could get through so many Committee debates in this 
House if we changed the way we operated and had clause notes incorporated in Hansard so that there 
would be no need for anyone to endeavour to explain for the benefit of the public what the Bill means. I 
have invited the Government to act on that suggestion on many occasions and it has failed to so do. I 
regret that. In the absence of clause notes, I have a duty to perform and I intend to perform it as my 
colleagues have asked me to so do. 

Before I go through the specific matters in subclause (3), I was hoping to conclude my observations in the 
Committee stage of this Bill at 9.20 pm. However, other matters intervened. Subclause (3) deals with 
matters for which the commissioner must have regard. I mentioned in passing in my speech in the second 
reading debate that paragraph (a) of that subclause contains the question of whether the witness had a 
criminal record, particularly in respect of crimes of violence and so on. I do not think I need to dwell on 
that any more. That is an important consideration and I am pleased to find it in the Bill. If it were not in 
the Bill, I would move an amendment to have it placed in the Bill. 

What is said in paragraph (b) dealing with psychological or psychiatric examinations is fair enough. It is 
appropriate that the commissioner must have regard to the seriousness of the offence to which any relevant 
evidence or statement relates. It is fair enough also that the commissioner should have regard to the nature 
and importance of any relevant evidence or statement. In all of these matters, the commissioner makes the 
assessment However, that is what we have decided to do and that is fair enough. Paragraph (e) is 
particularly noteworthy. The witness protection program has the potential to be quite expensive in its 
operation. We have a duty to look after the pecuniary interests of the State and its people. The next two 
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matters, the nature of the perceived danger to the witness and the nature of the witness's relationship to 
other witnesses being assessed for inclusion in the SWPP, are relevant. What weight the commissioner 
places on them is a matter for him in the exercise of his discretion. This clause says it is the 
commissioner's sole responsibility and I am looking forward to marrying that phrase with a clause later on. 

The commissioner has a number of safeguards for himself in the exercise of his discretion in that, under 
subclause (4), he is not to include a witness if, in his opinion, he does not have enough information to 
assess those matters to which I have just referred. I welcome many of the matters set out in clause 8. I do 
not know whether any other matters should be included. I am not particularly happy with the way each and 
every part of that clause IS worded. However, I understand the intent. I have a lot of sympathy with it and 
agree with it, as do my colleagues. I regret that this Government in the way it manages legislation chooses 
not to provide in 1996 - I do not care what happened before I entered the Parliament - clause notes, 
particularly on BiIls such as this which are bipartisan in nature. If it were to provide clause notes, or if the 
Minister handling the Bill paid the House the courtesy of telling it what the Bill means and then asked us 
whether we had any questions, we would get through it more quickly than by relying on opposition 
members who have no real resources and who have to rely on good sense. My colleagues have that good 
sense in abundance and I am always grateful to them for their observations. It is a pity that it is incumbent 
on the Opposition to explain to the community the benefits of good legislation. 

Clause put and passed. 

Clause 9: Inclusion not to be a reward for giving evidence etc. -

Hon KIM CHANCE: I raised this matter in the second reading debate. I would like a response from the 
Minister to it. I have been sitting here for some time thinking about the clause. It almost seems to me to be 
a clause that we hardly necd. It seems it has been inserted to make us all feci good about the legislation, 
but is one of those clauses which will probably never be seriously considered. The three key words in the 
clause, "reward", "persuading" and "encouraging" all have rather different meanings. "Reward" is more or 
less an objective term, although it can be decmed to be subjective. However, in the normal course of 
events, it would be deemed to be objective. We tend to think of a reward in the sense of a remission of 
culpability or even a cash reward. "Persuading" is becoming subjective and "encouraging" is totally 
subjective. Therefore, if we read that in the sense that a witness is not to be included in the program as a 
means of encouraging the witness to give evidence or to make a statement, it beeomes a little difficult to 
see how that will ever be enforced. 

The very nature of the program secms to make it inevitable that in the real world a degree of trading will 
occur. I cannot see that clause 9 wiIl prevent that, human nature being what it is. The very nature of the 
program seems likely to encourage people to come forward and give evidence. How can it be any other 
way? I would appreciate the Attorney General's comments on the objectivity and subjectivity of those 
words. If it is not the nature of the progmm to encourage people to come forward and give evidence, what 
is the nature of the progmm? 

Hon PETER FOSS: The nature of the program is to protect witnesses who give evidence. I find it 
somewhat offensive to the Police Service to say that it will not do this. It has been put in this clause 
because that is how it is currently done, although there is no statutory prohibition on it. That has been the 
ethic the Police Service has adopted, and will continue to adopt, which it believes to be correct. To say that 
it will not do it is a little demeaning of the police. The Police Service would not have put it forward if it 
did not believe it was appropriate. By comparison, the Law Society of Western Australia believes it should 
be used as a reward. The Police Service has said, "No; it is intended to be there to protect witnesses from 
real harm." That is the proper process for it to be given, not as an inducement. That would be improper. It 
should be there because the process of our legal system is undermined by threats to witnesses. That must 
be the motivating factor. It must be included because they will give evidence. It would be quite wrong to 
say to a witness, "Look mate, you will be on your own and we will not give you any protection unless you 
do this." That is wrong and it is appropriate that it be said in the legislation that it not be part of the 
bargaining process. If it were part of the bargaining process, the next thing witnesses could be told is that 
if they do not give the evidence others want to hear, they will not get protection. If a person is prepared to 
give evidence for a reward, it may be that the reward is based on the witness giving the evidence that is 
wanted, and that is improper. This approach is perfectly ethical. It happens to be the way it has been done. 
The police support it, and it will continue to happen that way. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: It was not my intention to demean or denigrate the Police Service in any way. In 
making the suggestion that this probably docs not need to be in this Bill at all is an expression of my 
confidence in the Police Service, mther than the other way around. When the Attorney General responded, 
I understood what he was saying; however, it secms to be like two people looking at the same object and 
describing it in different ways. That is not meant to be an observation of the way in which the Attorney 
General and I sec things differently, but rather of the fact that this clause is worded in such a way that one 
person can sec it as having a different object from that which another person might see. That goes to the 
question of the combination of objective and subjective terminology being in the same sentence. 

I return to the Attorney General's answer to my question that the nature of the program is to protect 
witnesses. If the protcction of witnesses is not an encoumgement for people to come forward to give 
evidence, what is it? How can we prevent a third party from coming forward and being encouraged by 
what we have legislated? The purpose of providing a degrec of safety and security for witnesses is to 
encourage them to come forward and to give evidence. How can it be described in any other way? 
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The inclusion of at least those two subjective terms "persuading or encouraging" is quite wrong. I am not 
asking the Government to amend the clause; however, the debate on this clause had to record that degree of 
dissent, if only for the sake of later interpretation. I have no difficulty at all with the retention of the word 
"reward" for exactly the same reason as the Minister chose to use in his response. That is much clearer, 
and a much more objective term. The record should note there is a different way of interpreting those two 
subjective terms. We are asking the impossible of both the Police Service and of human nature generally 
to expect the spirit of clause 9 will ever be adhered to, without casting aspersions on anyone. 

Clause put and passed. 
Clause 10 put and passed. 

Clause 11: Memorandum of understanding -

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: The memorandum of understanding contains a number of interesting provisions 
and requires a number of confidential requirements to be fulfilled on the part of a witness under the 
program. To a great extent the words speak for themselves. Notwithstanding my earlier comments about 
the obligation on the part of the Government or those handling the Bill, perhaps the overall obligation of 
this place is to put into Hansard words of explanation about what is happening. I do not propose to go 
through this rather lengthy clause in great detail. 
I find some of the words more than a little interesting. Paragraph (1) provides a list of outstanding legal 
obligations. That can be a very long list for anyone. I venture to say that most people, probably most 
members of Parliament, do not know what their outstanding legal obligations are. In fact, it is a frightening 
thought. 
Then we have those lovely words "including family maintenance obligations". There may be some dispute 
about what they mean in any given situation. The clause also talks about taxation obligations. Some 
people in our community think they have no obligation to pay any tax at all. Very wealthy people who get 
their lifestyle from corporations and wander around giving tens of thousands of dollars to our political 
opponents, rather than to their shareholders - quite frankly, contrary to the proper expenditure of the 
shareholders' money - have an understanding of taxation obligations. 

Further on in the clause is the lovely phrase "any other obligations". The Attorney General of Western 
Australia is silting in this Chamber and it is incumbent on him to tell us just what that is supposed to mean. 

This type of phraseology should not be put into legislation. It is loose; it lacks precision. I know what it is 
getting at, as docs the Attorney General an" as do all members. It is not good enough. That is by way of 
illustration of the inadequacy of the draftspersonship. "Details of any financial assistance" also raises 
questions. I note what clause 12 aims to amend. This is an expression of a wish list. The decision has 
been made to regulate and that is proper. I do not think members are doing this in the correct way. 
Legislation such as this docs not equate with the black letter law that one would prefer to read in a potential 
Statute. 
This clause has many aspects which raise similar concerns. The Attorney General should deal with "any 
other obligations of the participant." If the Attorney General shares my view, he should ask those who 
either serve him or his Cabinet colleagues to look at the matter so there can be a tidy use of language in this 
important area. I do not denigrate our state public servants in any way because I know that this Bill flows 
from the commonwealth measure, and it was impemtive to have it done by 18 April. Other people decided 
to have their two bobs' worth in the consultative process. 
Hon PETER FOSS: The member has offered a solution: He understands what it means and he thinks I 
understand what it means and that is an essential part of drafting - that the meaning is understood. 
Unfortunately, the style of drafting is too finely detailed rather than its having a broad brush approach that 
everyone can understand. Lawyers do not believe that approach is as precise as it could be. Different 
philosophical approaches exist. The important thing is that people should understand it. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: I do not wish to disagree with the Attorney General but the point is the wording is 
loose and people will have different understandings. The Committee is failing in its duty by not addressing 
phrases such as this that come before it. The Attomey General knows the point and knows that it can be 
remedied. 

Clause put and passed. 

Clause 12 put and passed. 

Clause 13: Commissioner to keep register. 
Hon JOHN HALDEN: I am concerned by clause 13(2) which states that the register may be kept on a 
computer. Why should that information be kept on a computer? The subclause docs say "may"; however, 
the safest way to keep this highly confidential and sensitive information is not to keep it on a computer. 
Computers can seemingly be tampered with or accessed quite easily. That would appear to be the worst 
way to keep the information. The best way would be to keep it in hard copy in a particularly secure place. 
What this Bill proposes could place the witness involved in the protection program in considerable 
jeopardy if it were placed on computer. Why is there a need for this clause at all? The best thing to do for 
the protected witness is to disclose in no way whatsoever how the record of their identity is to be kept. 
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Hon PETER FOSS: If the record is to be kept on computer, it "can" be under the present legislation. The 
manner in which it is kept should not be disclosed. 1 was informed of how it is stored and I can assure 
members that the Police Department believes it is the most secure method. I will not say how it is kept 
The Police Department is satisfied with the manner of its storage. The member's concerns are perhaps 
based on his misconception of how this might operate. The police have looked into the matter. When one 
thinks of computers, one thinks of a mainframe or a network system which can be hacked into. Without 
going into details, I assure the member that there is no need for concern and the method used is quite 
secure. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: t am happy to aecept the Attorney General's explanation for that. I am sure he is 
correct - 1 hope he is correct 

Hon Peter Foss: No method - either hard copy or on computer - is foolproof. All one can do is put in place 
the appropriate security. Having discussed the matter with the police I am satisfied that the proper measure 
has been taken. 

Clause put and passed. 

Clause 14: Access to the register. 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: In clause 14 reference is made to the people the commissioner must permit lO have 
access to the register, including the Auditor General, the Parliamentary Commissioner and any person who 
is or was a participant. Do subelauses (2) and (3) exclude the commissioner from giving permission to a 
parliamentary inquiry? Do they give the commissioner an option about a royal commission, a 
parliamentary inquiry or whatever? That appears to be prescriptive. If a witness were required to give 
evidence before a royal commission or parliamentary committee, with the necessary safeguards, would the 
commissioner have the option of determining that that person could not make his or her own choice about 
the obligations set out by those two bodies, for example. I am sure it applies to other organisations, 
including courts. 

Hon PETER FOSS: Subelauses (2) and (3) apply only when the commissioner or someone delegated by 
him asks to see the register. I do not believe there will be a capacity for a royal commission to see it 
However, as far as a parliamentary commillee is concerned, I think the Parliament would not be bound by 
that and could compel it to be produced. Unless an Act of Parliament provided that Parliament would be 
bound by it I do not think it would be, but any other statutory body would be bound by it. I do not believe 
it would have effect on a federal court or body but it would have effect on anyone who was under state law. 
Parliament, not being under state law, would not be bound. 

Hon KIM CHANCE: Should a royal commission or parliamentary inquiry wish to take evidence from that 
person, a subpoena would be issued on the police officer who was standing in for that person. How would 
the Australian Taxation Office make contact with a protected witness if it needed to interview that witness? 

Hon PETER FOSS: That comes under the approved authority provisions. Without that it would not 
happen. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: I have a concern about subclause (I) and the question of designated positions, 
which we dealt under clause 3. Along with a number of my colleagues I received a briefing, for which I 
am grateful. I found those who briefed us to be quite professional in the way they carried out their duties. 
Nonetheless, I am concerned about the wide discretion this clause gives the commission for designating to 
police officers. I suppose at the end of the day we must trust the commissioner. However, we all know 
that we cannot do that; members should ask the people of Queensland. It is a dangerous practice indeed to 
place our trust in personnel only, rather than have in place appropriate systems. I am not commenting on 
anyone in Western Australia by making those observations. We are setting up something which 
presumably will be around for some considerable time. I suggest that consideration be given to prescribing 
criteria so that it is not just any police officer .chosen by the commissioner. I know those who worship 
hierarchy will say that they have somcone in an exalted position who is their man and they trust him to do 
the job. That is not how effective policy should be put in place. I am not proposing any amendment; I am 
merely raising my concern that no real criteria are set down. We are dependent on what amounts to a very 
broad discretion on the part of an officer who, I note later in the Bill, will have the power to delegate unless 
we do something about that. 

Clause put and passed. 

Clause 15: Commissioner must take action to protect etc •• 

Hon JOHN HALDEN: The Bill provides a prescriptive arrangement for the powers of the commissioner. 
However, it then provides that the commissioner can do other things that he considers to be necessary to 
ensure the safety of the witness. Is that not too open-cnded? It encompasses everything. Where do we 
draw the line on "everything"? I do not want to be contrary, but it secms to me that this power for an 
individual is just a step too far. I understand why the Attorney General wants a catch-all phrase, because 
we cannot accommodate every variation. At the same time, if we want to consider the worst case 
consequences I suggest the potential exists for abuse. Legislation of that extent is dangerous. 

Hon PETER FOSS: This legislation is not necessary. The witness protection program has taken place 
since 1989 without legislation. The commissioner has been able to do anything he likes. This Bill puts in 
writing some loose bounds, mainly so that people know what is the program and that there is some 
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legislative control over it It is not intended to tie the matter down into some sort of bureaucratic nightmare 
just for the sake of it. It reflects the commonwealth legislation. I do not believe we should be too 
prescriptive about it. We have a problem to deal with. Subclause (2) does nothing. It provides that "that 
action may include". It may not include that and it may be wider than that. Subclause (2) gives an idea of 
what it may include. 

Hon John Halden: I agree about subsection (1). Why, if it is carte blanche, do we then suddenly decide it 
should be dermed? 

Hon PETER FOSS: The member should ask the Commonwealth that question. It has some sense in it. 
Subclause (2) does not restrict the commissioner, but at least it gives information about what he may be 
doing. 

Hon John Halden: Subparagraph (i) docs not restrict him, either. 

Hon PETER FOSS: I know; the whole section does not restrict him. 

Hon John Halden: That is the point. I do not want to be harsh. 

Hon PETER FOSS: I cannot help what they put in there. 

Hon John Halden: That is what I am saying. It is a bit of a nonsense. We have clause 15(1) -

Hon PETER FOSS: That is pretty good; he can do practically anything he likes. However, this gives a bit 
of an idea of the sorts of things he might be doing. 

Hon John Halden: It does not 

Hon PETER FOSS: Yes, it does. Obviously, the activities in there are the ones he most commonly does. 
The question is: What does he do? I suspect that the person drafting this would have asked that question. 
This tells us the answer one would get if one asked the people running the program. If they were asked 
whether they wanted to limit it, they would say, "Obviously not, because we never know what it is we 
might have to do to achieve the aims." That is what it is all about. Subclause (2) simply sets out the sorts 
of things that are most likely to be done. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: I am never known to disagree with Hon John Halden in these very important 
matters, nor am I known to disagree with the Attorney. There is some point in having subclause (3), but I 
agree with what has been said in relation to subclauses (1) and (2). 

Clause put and passed. 

Clause 16: Action as to obligations etc. of a participant· 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: I can understand why this clause is in the Bill. Part of the reason was covered in 
the diseussion we have just had on clause 15. However, there might be some practical problems. Now that 
we have gone to the trouble of drafting legislation, it is something that should be looked at from time to 
time to see whether problems emerge and to ensure that necessary change takes place promptly. I am 
always concerned about a third party being involved, perhaps in a paternalistic way, in the activity of 
people at the level envisaged in this clause. 

Clause put and passed. 

Clauses 17 to 19 put and passed. 

Clause 20: Application to Supreme Court -

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: During the second rcading debate I made reference to a scenario that encompassed 
the operations of clauses 20 and 22. Clause 20 makes provision for the commissioner and other approved 
bodies to make an application to the Supreme Court. I am not proposing that the Bill be amended this 
evening, but this is the appropriate clause under which to flag the proposition that perhaps the Government, 
which will be responsible for the administration of this legislation, should give consideration to a witness's 
making an application to be heard in respect of the operation of clause 22. Clause 20 provides that people 
may apply. In that context, it may be appropriate to say that a witness may apply with respect to matters to 
be dealt with under clause 22. 

Hon PETER FOSS: The operation of the rules of natural justice is obviously something within the inherent 
jurisdiction of the Supreme Court. When one makes an application for an order, especially an order that 
discharges the identity and restores the former identity, it would be incumbent upon, and I believe the 
natural behaviour of, the Supreme Court to say that the person affected by it be notified. We do not need to 
include that because I believe the Supreme Court will do it anyway. The whole process and behaviour of 
the Supreme Court is assumed and we do not need to go through all of the sorts of things that it would, of 
its own motion, require to be done. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: The Attorney is most probably correct; is unlikely that he was incorrect in respect 
of those observations. However, the Bill sets out so many criteria that it may be open to an inference that 
this most likely view of the Attorney - with which I concur - might not be the case. We have made the 
point by saying that that is what is imended and I do not believe that anyone will contradict that point of 
view. 

Clause put and passed. 

Clauses 21 to 27 put and passed. 
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Clause 28: Disclosure of information cannot be compelled· 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: Clause 28(2) reads, "If it is essential to the determination of legal proceedings ... " 
I am concerned that that may be too restrictive. Perhaps a better wording may be, "If it is relevant to the 
determination off legal proceedings ... " I ask the Attorney to tum his mind to it. If it is a concern, it is not 
a matter about which I am overly concerned, but it is something that perhaps may come in later. 

Hon PETER FOSS: First, may I make a correction to something that I said earlier on. I indicated to Hon 
Kim Chance that I thought that a committee of the Parliament could compel disclosure. In saying that I 
had forgotten that this ch,ulse gives the definition of a court to include a committee of either House or a 
joint committee, so we have expressed the position of Parliament in this legislation. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: It goes back to clause 14. 

Hon PETER FOSS: Yes. In a court no information can be compelled unless it is relevant. I do not believe 
that "relevant" is the right word. I do not believe that "essential" is the right word, but "relevant" is far too 
little. I do not think that in rcality it will be a problem. I cannot think of any word other than "essential". I 
suggest we enact the clause as it is and if there are any problems we can deal with it again. 

Clause put and passed. 

Clauses 29 to 31 put and passed. 

Clause 32: Certain disclosures to court to be in private· 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: The definition of sensitive information in clause 32 is a person who is or was 
included in, or has undergone assessment for inclusion in, a witness protection program. The assessment 
process for a person undergoing assessment for inclusion may involve it carrying through to the end but it 
may not involve very much at all. It may involve a quick cross indicating that "this person is not eligible". 
I do not wish to speak on two clauses if I can avoid it, but I raise that because when we deal with clause 
35(2) we will deal with an offence which involves the disclosure of sensitive information. If we have a 
very expansive definition of sensitive information we have a fairly wide offence. If I am moving into the 
other clause I do not mean to do so. The matter may be dealt with by a sentencing judicial officer saying, 
"It is not really all that important and it was not all that bad." That is perhaps the practical way to deal with 
it. 

Hon Peter Foss: I think you have answered Hon Bob Thomas' question. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: It is important that these questions be raised. It is important that if the definition 
is appropriate, and no doubt it will remain at this stage, the judicial officers who end up dealing with these 
offences will bear in mind that sometimes assessments can mean hardly anything at all. There might be 
some silly malcontent who tries to get on the protection program, is assessed and is shown the door. The 
fact that somehow or other that person is disclosed as having applied to get on to the program may not be a 
matter of great moment in the context of our concern about the community overall and it will involve a 
fairly low tariff when the person is sentenced for the disclosure. 

Clause put and passed. 

Clauses 33 and 34 put and passed. 

Clause 35: Oflences· 

Hon PETER FOSS: In his speech in the second reading debate Hon Bob Thomas asked about the 
difference in penalties between subclause (2) and subelauses (1) and (3). In the meantime Hon Nick 
Griffiths has kindly pointed out that the situation is that although a particular set of facts deposited are 
serious, if they have the consequence the member referred to they will probably come under subeIauses (1) 
or (3), whercas the potential under subclause (2) is that it may be a minor matter. First of all, there is a 
discretion as to whether to prosecute and then the capacity to go for a summary conviction. It is only 
where it is a really serious matter that it would be brought as an indictable offence. There is sufficient 
capacity within the normal processes of the law to enable the sort of minor disclosures to which the 
member has referred to be appropriately deal with. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths interjected. 

Hon PETER FOSS: I would rather not change the wording. It does not cause any harm. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: Legislation can. 

Hon PETER FOSS: I do not think it docs. At this stage I do not want to make amendments to this Bill 
because it has certain other consequences. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: I appreciate that. I have done my duty in raising it. 

Clause put and passed. 

Clause 36: Delegation. 

Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS: So many clauses in this Bill refer to "the Commissioner". I hark back briefly to 
clause 8: "The Commissioner has the sole responsibility ... ", and yet in clause 36 we have this wide 
power of delegation. The matter should be looked at closely by the Government with expedition and the 
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wording should be tightened up. I note the potential ramifications of delay. If the Attorney General has a 
handy amendment I will be happy to do what I can to accommodate him. If he does not, I trust my concern 
about wide delegation is noted. As a general rule it is a very bad practice. On this occasion it is bad 
practice but, notwithstanding that, I have done my duty by raising the matter. At this stage I will not take it 
further. We must bear in mind that 18 April is some weeks ago. 

Clause put and passed. 

Clauses 37 to 41 put and passed. 

Schedule 1 put and passed. 

Title put and passed. 

Report 

Bill reported, without amendment, and the report adopted. 

Third Reading 

Bill read a third time, on motion by Hon Peter Foss (Attorney General), and passed. 

PLANNING LEGISLATION AMENDMENT BILL 

Committee 
The Chairman of Committees (Hon Barry House) in the Chair; Hon Peter Foss (Attorney General) in 
charge of the Bill. 

Clause 1: Short title· 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: I will take some time this evening on the short title, but everything is relative and 
my time may be relatively short comparatively. The order of the day for this Bill refcrs to the Standing 
Committee on Legislation's report which is tabled paper No 300. The short title provides the opportunity 
for me to bring to the notice of members the reservations of the Legislation Committee before they 
consider the clauses individually. It is relevant that those concerns, because they are of a general nature 
and cover a range of clauses, be brought to the Committee's attention at the beginning of this debate. It 
will give members the opportunity to gain an overview rather than a fragmented view across a range of 
individual clauses. 

I also refer members to the Supplementary Notice Paper. Yesterday I had five effective amendments on 
the Supplementary Notice Paper to move, but now there are seven. I have done that to put things in 
context, although I will take a few moments to highlight some of the findings or nuances because no 
recommendations were allowed from the Legislation Committee. I point out that the number of 
amendments that will be moved by the Opposition is rather modest. 

Given that the Bill covers some 58 clauses and that clause 20 covers 15 pages in its own right, the 
Opposition proposes to move a limited number of amendments. The Opposition, being aware of the 
Government's two mottos on this Bill, does not look forward to this Committee process with either 
optimism or hope. The first motto, of course, is "Norm, could you please get this off the agenda?" The 
Opposition recognises the Government's imperatives in this, as referred to last week in the Estimates 
Committee by the Leader of the Opposition. One imperative has already been placed on the public record. 
The Minister for Planning said the content of the Bill had been keenly negotiated with the main players and 
it had been somewhat controversial. He said that some groups and individuals were satisfied with the 
negotiated outcomes and were using the Bill as an excuse to mount an ongoing attack on the Government. 
He went on to say that the Bill had the potential for further controversy and, therefore, to avoid the 
possibility of any political damage in the lead up to the election, it is most important that it is passed during 
the current session rather than being held over to the spring sitting. The Opposition is aware of one 
motivation of the Government with respect to due considcration of this Bill and the amendmcnts. 

Hon Peter Foss: To whom is the lettcr addressed? 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: It is from the Minister for Planning to the Leader of the House in the Legislative 
Council. 

The Government's second motivation with respect Lo this Bill, particularly the Committee stage, was 
outlined by the Attorney General. He said, and of course it is quoted in the Legislation Committee's 
report, that the Bill either goes ahead or it docs not go ahead; but it cannot be changed. This was in the 
context of his remarks previously on the process of putting together this piece of legislation. To quote the 
Attorney General -

If we were to take one thing out of the legislation the whole thing would fall like a pack of cards 
. .. There is no room for members opposite to have another go at arriving at a compromise. . .. 
Members opposite can say they believe either that the Government did a good job and they vote 
for it or that the Government did not do a good job and they will vote against it. ... The 
Government could not accept an amendment because it would take another 12 months to finalise 
new legislation. 
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Then he makes the key comment -

The Bill either gocs ahead or docs not go ahead, but it cannot be changed. 

Hardly auspicious to an adequate and detailed Committee consideration. Nevertheless, in those 
circumstances and with the report - a very limited report - from the Legislation Committee, we go ahead. I 
note that for a perfect piece of legislation -

Hon Peter Foss: Nobody said it was perfect; you know that. It is like democracy. 

Hon 1.A. COWDELL: - or is it the nearest thing to perfection? I was not quoting directly. 

Hon Peter Foss: You know that democracy is never claimed to be perfect; it is just better than all the 
alternatives. 

Hon 1.A. COWDELL: Perhaps I will suggest shortly some alternatives that are better than the current 
fum. . 

Hon Peter Foss: There are lots of alternatives. 

Hon 1.A. COW DELL: Nevertheless, I notice that the Supplementary Notice Paper contains seven effective 
amendments standing in my name, and some 19 amendments standing in the name of the Attorney General. 

Hon Peter Foss: There were amendments that could have been moved by your committee that were 
drafting changes. 

Hon 1.A. COWDELL: The Minister should not start me on the resources of committees, technical and 
legal expertise, and sharing staff etc. 

Hon Peter Foss: You would not do that because it would be irrelevant. 

Hon 1.A. COWDELL: Perhaps relevant to the Attorney General's line of questioning - but the Attorney is 
correct, it is not relevant to the Committee stage of this Bill. 

It is under these inauspicious circumstances that we look at the clauses individually, and I draw the 
attention of the Chamber as constituted to the lack of certainty in the findings of the Legislation 
Committee. Members will note that the thirty-ninth report designates the members of the committee as 
three: Hon Derrick Tomlinson, Chairman - that is correct; Hon Bill Stretch and Hon Ross Lightfoot. Let 
me not deprecate the report in any way, but two other members of the committee participated fully in the 
consideration of this Bill and benefited from the Minister's pearls of wisdom on this matter. Although, as 
those pearls of wisdom were given in camera, I cannot refer to particular pearls. However, the committee 
will be aware that they are pearls. Five members of the committee considered this piece of legislation and 
not just the three government members, although the findings adopted here were adopted fomally when 
the committee was constituted by only the three government members. The Opposition participated, but 
the findings were determined by the three government members. I acquaint the Chamber with their 
hesitancy pertaining to many of the clauses in this Bill. I refer to the conclusions contained in the 
committee report. Paragraph 6.15 states -

The Committee has some reservations about whether the Bill achieves "a reasonable balance 
between the bringing forward of environmental assessment and the certainty given by that 
assessment" . 

Members will be aware that that was one of the key objectives of the Government. The report continues -

The Commillee has similar reservations about "the basis of further review of any assessment 
[being] adequate". However, the Committee's tems of reference in respect of the Bill do not 
permit it to make recommendations for substantive amendments to the Bill. 

Those concerns should guide this Committee of the Whole. Paragraph 6.16 states -

The Committee believes that effective opportunities for public participation in the process may 
avoid unnecessary conflict in controversial cases. It may also avoid a perception that assessment 
of environmental matters based on scientific data has been sacrificed to political considerations. 

Finally, paragraph 6.17 states -

Though not strictly within its terms of reference, the Committee draws to the attention of the 
House the concerns expressed by UDI and W AMA with respect to the potential difficulties for 
some local govemment authorities to pay the costs of mandatory environmental reviews and of the 
necessity that Government adequately fund the EPA to permit it to perfom its functions in the 
planning process. 

These were considerable reservations. 

Hon Peter Foss: Those laner points are dealt with in another committee which I cannot refer to because it 
has not reported yet. 

Hon 1.A. COWDELL: Obviously some of them do not pertain to amendments, but to government actions. 
I am not claiming that particular aspect requires amendment of the clauses. Those concerns were 
expressed even given the limitation of the committee's terms of reference referred to in paragraphs 1.1, 1.2 
and 1.3. The key point being paragraph 1.1 (1) -
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The Committee not return an amended Bill or recommendations as to amendments other than 
mere drafting amendments. 

We have already touched on why the committee did not detail mere drafting amendments. Paragraph 1.2 
states -

Because of the short time the Committee was given to report on the Bill. the Committee did not 
advertise for public submissions. 

Therefore the committee received a limited range of submissions. It could not hear from all of the people 
who wanted to appear before it Paragraph 1.3 states that on 2 May 1996, the committee sought, and was 
granted, an extension of time to 9 May 1996 for presentation of its report I think that time was extended 
beyond 9 May. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson interjected. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: It is good to hear the voice, faint though it be in the background, and unusually 
faint on this occasion, of the chairman of the committee. 

The committee had real concerns, and they were expressed even given the very restrictive terms imposed 
on the committee. The problems are probably highlighted most succinctly in paragraph 6.14, which states -

The Committee recommends that more consideration be given to the following matters raised by 
the Conservation Council and W AMA and commented upon in this report: 

6.14.1 the potential for conflict in overlapping clauses in the various pieces of relevant 
legislation and the consequent difficulties that will be faced in interpreting and applying 
them; 

6.14.2 the role of local government authorities in monitoring and enforcing environmental 
standards ... 

6.14.3 the fact that the public and environmcntal experts may not be aware of planning matters 
such as subdivisions and therefore in practice will not have any opportunity to bring new 
scientific evidence to the attention of the EPA; 

6.14.4 the costs to local government authorities of complying with the environmental review 
requirements of the Bill; 

6.14.5 the apparent lack of transitional arrangements in respect of recent past amendments to the 
Metropolitan Region Scheme and amendments to schemes already in the course of 
preparation; and 

6.14.6 the lack of an adequate and assured fund to enable smalI country shires to meet their 
obligations under the Bill. 

There were, of course, problems specific to particular groups, and members will be aware that under 
headings such as "A Brief Outline of the Role of the EPA in the Context of Planning", there is an excellent 
outline of what the public has come to expect with regard to an environmental role in planning and also the 
extent of public participation. That is the current norm and expectation, and it is from this norm that some 
consternation is voiced by various groups, particularly the Conservation Council of Western Australia. 
Paragraph 4.1 states that the Conservation Council considers that the Bill unacceptably reduces the extent 
of public participation in environmental decision making and fails to ensure that all planning proposals are 
adequately scrutinised by the EPA. Paragraph 4.1.3 states -

The public wiIIlose the right to refer a "proposal under an assessed scheme" ... if the proposal is 
in a scheme that previously has been considered by the EPA, even though the previous 
consideration may have occurred without public consultation. 

Paragraph 4.1.4 states-

Planning schemes implemented after Environmental Protection Policies prevail to the extent of 
any inconsistency with existing Environmental Protection Policies ... and the EPA must review 
Environmental Protection Policies if they are inconsistent with an assessed scheme .... 

That is quite an interesting and anomalous situation that we will get to, presumably, when we get to 
proposed section 36(1)(aa). It continues-

This compromises the purpose and function of Environmental Protection Policies. 

We have concerns about that matter, and when we get to the individual clauses, those themes will come out 
and will be apparent to members. Clause 18(l)(b) cuts out a public role. Clause 20, in new sections 
48A(I), 48C(4), 48H(2) and 481(1), cuts out a public role. Clause 22, which embodies new section 100(1), 
cuts out a public role. 

Hon Peter Foss: Is it suggested that it is already in there and is now removed or that this does not include 
it? 
Hon J.A. COWDELL: Some of them do not include it, and some of them cut it out. It is a mixture of both. 
Some of them involve the central import of the BiII, which is to have up-front environmental assessment, 
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and a restriction on accessing assessments of subdivisions and so on. One can understand the cut out there. 
A set of concerns pertains to a limitation of the public's role in the up-front assessment, so in theory we 
could still hold the central premise that we get it all out of the way up-front so that developers have surety, 
but also be concerned that the public does not have as full a role as it might have up front. It could be 
argued that we could cut out the public at a later stage only if it played a full role in' the up-front 
assessment If we are delivering a Bill that precludes a public role or provides for a very limited public 
role in the up-front assessment, we cannot expect people to be satisfied with not having any public role in 
initiating later assessment. That is, of course, apart from bringing things to the attention of the EPA, 
although I do not know there is scope for the public to bring scientific changes to the attention of the EPA, 
.but certainly with regar(J to lobbying the Minister, because the Minister does always have the right of recall 
in the end. Those matters will come up when we get to the individual clauses, and I will ask the Attorney 
General to comment on why the public is limited in some of the up-front assessments. We know in terms 
of the rationale of the Bill why the limitation is provided in subsequent assessments. Apart from the 
Conservation Council, specific concerns were expressed by the Vrban Development Industry Authority. 

Hon Peter Foss: In the opposite direction. 
Hon J.A. COWDELL: Not all in the opposite direction. The VOlA and the Conservation Council are 
asking for exactly the same thing in some of the clauses, something the Government has not provided for, 
albeit the meeting of minds is on only one area. That does not meet with the Government's view as 
embodied by that clause. The VOlA, referred to in the committee's report as the VOl, refers to a concern 
in paragraph 4.3.1 about recall by the EPA. It reads -

The requirement that the EPA must consider a proposal under an assessed scheme in the event that 
it did not "have sufficient scientific or technical information to enable it to assess the 
environmental issues raised by the proposal" ... is seen as under mining the integrity of the Bill 
and its aim of providing certainty. It appears to the committee that this concern also relates to 
proposed s 481 of the Bill which provides that when a "proposal" ... comes to the notice of a 
responsible authority ... the responsible authority must consider whether any environmental issues 
raised by the proposal previously have been assessed by the EPA under an assessed scheme and if 
the proposal complies with the assessed scheme. 

There are two distinct clements of that concern, one of which we may not be eager to embrace. The other 
may be a concern that should be looked at. Paragraph 4.3.2 reads -

If the EPA is overwhelmed with schemes which it must assess, and which it does not have the 
resources to assess, it may apply the "precautionary principle" and issue instructions for an 
environmental impact assessment process to be carried out in respect of the scheme. VDI 
suggests adequate funding must be provided for the EPA to ensure this does not occur. 

That is a legitimate concern in view of the time constraints; that is, if the EPA is overwhelmed it may put in 
report-back clauses that would hinder the developers. It would be better if the EPA could do it adequately 
up-front rather than have staged or report-back clauses. I did not think the subject of paragraph 4.3.3 was 
the concern expressed by the VDIA. I thought it was exactly the opposite. It reads -

VOl has some reservations about the requirement to refer all schemes to the EPA for assessment 
On balance, however, it supported the provisions until such time as they prove unworkable. 

My recollection was that the VDIA argued for 100 per cent referral and problems would not arise later. 

Hon Peter Foss: That is my understanding. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: In fact the report is in error in that regard. Not being at the final meeting I was not 
able to report that erroneous finding. 

Hon Derrick Tomlinson: The record will disprove what you just said. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: I do not know whether that was -

Hon Peter Foss: It is certainly the area from where it came. 

Hon J.A. COW DELL: The record to which the Chairman of the Legislation Committee has·referred will 
validate the opinion I have just put forward. I will refer to that for his edification, therefore. Paragraph 
4.3.4 reads -

VOl was concerned about the cost to local government authorities of compliance with the Bill and 
how this may affcct developers. It considered that the Government should provide funds to 
retrospectively assess amendments to the Metropolitan Region Scheme made in the past 2 years. 

That does not directly require amendment to the clauses. The Attorney General probably comprehensively 
put the views of the Government in the Estimates Committee only last week with his generous comments 
about councils such as Wanneroo City Council and other local government authorities and what they could 
expect in terms of government monetary largesse. 

The final set of concerns was from the Western Australian Municipal Association about how the proposed 
amendments would impact on the Town Planning and Development Act 1928. Clause 50 of the Bill 
provides that the discretion of the Western Australian Planning Commission is not fettered by the 
provisions of town planning schemes, except in compliance with environmental conditions. Paragraph 
4.5.3 reads -
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The cost to local government authorities of compliance with the Bill. 

Paragraph 4.5.4 reads -
The resource capacity of the EPA to be able to consider all schemes within relevant time 
constraints. 

This links in with the concerns expressed by the UOIA in that regard. Paragraph 4.5.5 reads-
The danger that local government authorities may ultimately be required to become 
"environmental police" for the EPA. 

As I said previously, some of these issues require commitment of resources, not amendments to the clauses 
that we will shortly consider. Those are most of the W AMA concerns. They require government goodwill 
and resources, although I note that the amounts that were mentioned to the Legislation Committee do not 
bear a great deal of relationship to the budgetary appropriations as indicated last week in the estimates 
debates. 
Hon Peter Foss: That was what I was not referring to because we are not allowed to; it has not yet been 
reported. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: Some of the suggestions require a substantial overhaul, if not a rewriting, of the 
Bill. Certainly the Conservation Council's concerns will require that 
Hon Peter Foss: You would get anothcr submission from the UOIA which would be even more alarming. 
Hon J.A. COWDELL: It would require an open-armed acceptance of initial environmental assessment 
with the full range of subsequent environmental asscssment. 
Hon Peter Foss: It would be an immense step forward. It would be beneficial but it would lose some of its 
charm. 
Hon J.A. COWDELL: Indeed. The Government has stated clearly that it is not likely to accept wholesale 
amendment I think I paraphrased the Minister correctly in that regard. 
Hon Peter Foss: Things which affect the balance. 
Hon J .A. COWDELL: Yes. The Minister said that no amendments other than those of a technical nature 
would be accepted, and we will test that with a few minor amendments. One of my amendments affects the 
Bill substantially but the others only alter the balance to a limited degree-
Hon Peter Foss: It does not mean they were not matters we argued about severely. I have not seen any that 
are not in the areas on which we had significant negotiations. 

Hon J.A. COW DELL: I am sure we will hear the rationale. With seven amendments we will test a 
substantive premise of the Government with regard to this legislation and public participation in a 
subsequent review, and we will argue for an amendment in the nature of the up-front review, time 
allocation and so on, which we believe would affect to a minor degree the perfect balance -

Hon Peter Foss: Not perfect - the best one could manage. 
Hon J.A. COWDELL: The best one could manage with the addition of the 19 amendments on the 
Supplementary Notice Paper. 
Hon Peter Foss: They are purely technical. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: I note that the best we could manage has changed over time from the 1994 best of 
all possible worlds which changed substantially into the 1995 Bill. Therefore it is only a matter of 
perspective as to the best of all possible worlds and balances. It may no doubt be even better as a result of 
this Committee stage of the 1996 version which comes out as an improvement on the 1994 and 1995 ones. 

Hon Peter Foss: I am certain there will be a 1998 version at least after the process has been in place for a 
couple of years, when everyone will fecI more relaxed. We will probably get something which docs not 
have quite as much tenseness in negotiation. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: We look forward to thal. I think there is a formal review-

Hon Peter Foss: In any event, I am certain that the experience of this will have a major impact on people's 
attitudes, and they will be more relaxed. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: Indeed, as we soon discovered with the early operation of the new strata title 
legislation, there is nothing like experience to bring us to an understanding of the most perfect of all 
balances and how that can be reviewed -
Hon Peter Foss: It is not the most perfect balance. We never claim perfection, Mr Cowdell. 
Hon J.A. COWDELL: Or the nearest thing to it, but it will be reviewed in due course. My remarks at this 
stage are opportune, given that this is the only opportunity for the Chamber to consider a report which the 
commiucc took some time on, and it is only in this context that we can bring to the attention of members 
the findings of the committee, although the committee was not by its term of reference able to make 
detailed recommendations. A nod is as good as a wink for some of the obvious directions and concerns 
pointed to by the commillce which may be addressed by amendments that now appear on the 
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Supplementary Notice Paper. We will look to finding a better balance as we go through the individual 
clauses. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: I have chosen to take some time on the short title because unfortunately I was unable to 
take part in the second reading debate. First, I am very pleased that the Attorney General acknowledges 
that there will be future amendments, because I am sure that this is just the sort of Bill that a future, 
progressive Government would enjoy amending appropriately. 

Hon Peter Foss: I am sure we will. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: ThC essential underlying character of this planning Bill is what worries me. It is 
premised basically on the centralised control of planning, and it is paternalistic, undemocratic and colonist 
in its effect. The Attorney General may laugh! 

Hon Peter Foss: The watermelon shows his true colours. 

Hon J .A. SCOTT: I am surprised about how communist in its character the Bill is. 

Hon Peter Foss: You should feel perfectly at home. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: This paternalism and centralism is manifest in a number of ways. The Bill extends the 
powers of the Perth based Western Australian Planning Commission so that it takes away the role of the 
locally represented regional development commissions and of course local government This movement of 
control disempowers local communities. People in country towns will lose their ability to shape the 
development of their towns. 

Hon Peter Foss: That is not correct. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: It is. Already the Minister who proposed this legislation has moved in a number of 
directions which indicate precisely his objcctives. In some country communities we have seen massive 
interference in the freedom to choose the type of development people want in their towns. I refer of course 
to what occurred at Margaret River over the Gnarabup beach estate where a developer wanted to put a 
development on the beach in an area which the local people wanted set aside for public open space. The 
Minister's intervention in that case was on the side of the developer. Real democracy came to the town 
only when the young people stonned into the council building and demanded that the council stand up for 
the rights of the people. I was very impressed by the speeches delivered by those young people. 

Hon J.A. CowdeIl: They should storm this place. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: They should, because this Bill will result in a centralisation of power to Perth and 
control by Perth based people of country communities in a detrimental way. In the Dardanup-Waterloo 
area the same situation is occurring because the centralised Perth authorities want to put industrial estates 
in an area of high grade irrigated farmland, totally against the wishes of the local community. Ultimately, 
and especially with this Bill, the winners will be the centralised Perth based planners; the local community 
will lose its voice. I object to that. This Bill will need to be amended very thoroughly in the future to give 
back the power to the people in their own community. 

The raison d'etre of this BiII is to push development, especially on the south coast of this State. The 
Environmental Defender's Office W A quotes Professor Barker's view of the 1994 Bill as follows -

... if enacted, it would have the undoubted effect of weakening the environmental planning 
process in Western Australia. 

Hon Peter Foss interjected. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: It is relevant, because the words in it clearly reflect what is happening. The quote 
continues -

This was because -

The process of environmental assessment which had been integrated into the planning 
process since the Environmental Protection Act had come into operation in February 
1987 would be significantly altered. 

In future, the EPA's opportunity to comment on planning and development issues would 
be limited by comparison to the current position and its comments would necessarily be 
based on a diminished research and time function. 

The report further states -

The 1994 Bill appeared not to have been adequately thought through and reflected a concerted 
attempt on behalf of the Minister for Planning to establish fast-track development approval 
procedures without proper regard for environmental values and meaningful public participation in 
the environmental planning process. 

In essence, the 1995 Bill retains the philosophy that if a proposal to sub-divide or develop land 
arises under a town planning scheme that has been put through the modifying environmental 
assessment process specified in the 1995 Bill, then there is no necd for the EPA to conduct a 
further environmental impact assessment of the detailed proposal to sub-divide or develop land. 
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The plain intent of the 1995 Bill, as with the 1994 Bill, is to facilitate land development. It does 
this by replacing the existing system of environmental impact assessment that is both open and 
arm's length from government with one that is less open and held closer to the political decision
making forum of Cabinet than is the present system. 

I agree very much with that sentiment. 

Hon Peter Foss: You have to. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: It is true. 

Hon Peter Foss: No, you must agree with it because you do not quote what is happening in the legislation. 
You never seem to have an opinion of your own. 

Hon J .A. SCOTT: A little while ago the Minister was amused that I was calling his legislation centralist, 
paternalistic, communistic -

Hon Peter Foss interjected. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: It is true. The Government is centralising power. Is that not correct? 

Hon Peter Foss: No. 

Hon J .A. SCOTT: So, the Minister is handing over the power to the local community. 

Hon Peter Foss: We are doing neither: We are creating an appropriate balance, as always. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: I will provide the Minister with a further quote. Martyn Webb states -

I believe that plannin~ is not only for the People, but that it should be conducted with the People 
as active participants 10 the decision making process. 

Hon Peter Foss: That was Abraham Lincoln. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: That is precisely what he said. That is what is not happening with this Bill. 

Hon P.R. Lightfoot: I do not think that Hon Jim SCOll should be interjecting on the Minister. 

The CHAIRMAN: Perhaps the honourable member should not be interjecting either. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: The second type of central control that is occurring with this Bill is that which reduces 
the ability of the people, as Martyn Webb has said, to participate in the planning process through the 
environmental assessment process. 

Hon Peter Foss: Was he talking about this Bill or planning generally? 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: He was talking about the Planning Legislation Amendment Bill. The Bill before the 
House clearly reduces the power of the Environmental Protection Act, particularly in that the EPA is not 
required to assess all planning schemes formally and the public has no right of referral or appeal if the EPA 
decides not to assess a scheme. Of course, the community voice is squashed. We have here the complete 
triumph of the powers of the Minister for Planning in relation to developers over the Minister for the 
Environment in relation to the public and future generations. 

Hon Peter Foss: I would never allow that. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: The interesting thing is that this Bill has been brought forward largely as a result of the 
Burrup Peninsula case. It is correcting an anomaly which meant that the proposal could not be assessed. 
In fact, it would have been much easier - rather than going into this elaborate procedure to push through the 
development of projects much more quickly without proper environmental assessment - to have changed 
the EPA Act. Compared with the very high level of legal expertise of the Attorney, I am a legal pygmy. 
However, I would like to know why on earth the problems that arose in relation to the Burrup case could 
not have been addressed with some simple amendments to the EPA Act. 

I am also concerned about the extent to which the powers of the Minister for Planning have been increased 
in respect of environmental protection of this State. The Environmental Defender's Office states -

Further illustration of the influence of the Minister for Planning in this system of environmental 
assessment is to be found in the provision placing monitoring of environmental conditions in the 
hands of the Minister for Planning. 

Such a move is absolute heresy in terms of environmental protection, particularly when the power goes to a 
Minister who has lived by the Swan River for the past 40 years but who has seen absolutely no change and 
who sees no problem with the fact that 80 per cent of the State's wetlands have disappeared. I am very 
concerned about the future of environmental protection in this State under such a system. 

Clause put and passed. 

Clauses 2 to 11 put and passed. 

Clause 12: Section 16 amended· 

Hon PETER FOSS: I move -

Page 17, line 17 - To delete the word "Authority" and substitute the word "Commission". 
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By accident the authority was used in this case when it should have been the commission. 

Amendment put and passed. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: I move -

Page 18, after line 27 - To insert the following subclause-
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(la) Section (3)(1) of the principal Act is amended by deleting the definition of 
"proposal" and substituting the following defmition -

"proposal" means project, plan, programme, policy, operation, land use 
planning scheme, undertaking or development or change in land use, or 
amendment of any of the foregoing. 

Clause 12 includes certain new definitions. An existing definition of proposal in the Environmental 
Protection Act states -

"proposal" means project, plan, programme, policy, operation, undertaking or development or 
change in land use, or amendment of any of the foregoing; 

My amendment adds only one thin~ to the definition of proposal; that is, land use planning scheme. I note 
the comments of the Minister in hIS second reading speech that legal opinion and case law have clarified 
that the rezoning of land through the making or amendment of town planning schemes is not covered by 
the environmental impact assessment provisions of the Environmental Protection Act. Lengthy opinions 
were given on the Burrup Peninsula court case. I note the opinion expressed by Michael Barker on the 
letterhead of the Environmental Defender's Office that an analysis of the 1995 Bill provided in the 
commentary supports a view that the amendments proposed by that Bill are unnecessary and that the proper 
and timely environmental assessment of town planning schemes and amendments and subsequent 
proposals for developments can be accommodated under the existing provisions of the Environmental 
Protection Act. He states that should any amendments be required, they should be to ensure that the EPA 
has the express power to assess strategic planning proposals, including town planning schemes and 
amendments. My invitation to the Minister is to include specifically land use planning schemes under the 
definition of proposal to facilitate the stated intention of the Government. 

Hon PETER FOSS: Although it is correct that the suggested amendment would give the Environmental 
Protection Authority the authority to handle those matters which the Burrup Peninsula case said it could 
not, the intent of this legislation is to draw the two processes together. The whole scheme of the Act has 
been to have a process which occurs at the one time, although the EPA runs its bit and the planning 
authority runs its bit. Merely making this amendment would enable the two separate processes to take 
place, and that is contrary to the policy of the Bill. The Government does not accept the amendment. 

Hon J .A. COWDELL: I put on record the view that has been put forward on many other occasions, 
including from the Environmental Defender's Office, that a major problem identified by the Minister and 
the Government as a cause for bringing forward this legislation could be solved simply by amendment to 
the Environmental Protection Act. Indeed, we did not need the comprehensive legislation that is before us 
to achieve that end. I recognise, as the Minister has pointed out, that the comprehensive legislation that is 
before us is also designed to achieve a range of additional goals. However, it is not necessary to achieve 
the goal stated by the Minister in overcoming the court judgment in a case concerning planning in the 
Burrup Peninsula. I placed this amendment on the Supplementary Notice Paper to point out that this far 
more substantial legislation is not necessary to overcome this one problem identified by the Minister in his 
second reading speech. 

Amendment put and negatived. 

Clause, as amended, put and passed. 

Clauses 13 to 15 put and passed. 

Clause 16: Section 33 amended· 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: Clause 16 refers to section 33(1) of the principal Act which deals with the status 
and revocation of approved environmental protection policies. Section 33 has three subsections. 
Following amendment by this Bill the section will contain subsections (4) and (5). Proposed new 
subsection (4) rcads -

To the extent that there is an inconsistency between an approved policy and a scheme which came 
into operation before the approved policy was approved under section 31(d), the approved policy 
prevails. 

Proposed new subsection (5) is the relevant amendment and reads -

To the extent that there is an inconsistency bctween an approved policy and an assessed scheme 
which was assessed under Division 3 of Part IV after the approved policy was approved under 
section 31 (d), that assessed scheme prevails. 

Simply, a subsequent management scheme will override an Environmental Protection Authority EPP. 
Section 36 states that -
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The Authority shall review an approved policy -

We now jump forward to proposed paragraph (aa), to dcal with inconsistency, which reads -

if the approved policy is inconsistent with the assessed scheme which was assessed under Division 
3 of Part IV after the approved policy was approved under section 31(d); 

A review will be required. If the override will give priority to the subsequent planning scheme, why is a 
reassessment conducted of the policy that has just been overridden? Surely, proposed section 36(1)(aa) 
would be sufficient in that it requires a reassessment to the degree of inconsistency. One has an EPP which 
either prevails or does not prevail, having done the assessment. Will the Minister explain the necessity of 
proposed section 33(5) in view of the amendment proposed in clause 17? 

Hon PETER FOSS: It is fairly simple. The normal statutory rule is that an earlier law is overridden by 
later law. Both EPPs and town planning schemes have the course of law. In instances of conflict between 
two provisions, the two provisions have the course of law and the later provision will overrule the former. 
That is set out in this legislative provision. Obviously, the body which has the capacity to make law is seen 
to be laying down the current intent in most recent law. 

It was considered to be of concern that although the later consideration would have the overruling effect, 
the Environmental Protection Act is highly prescriptive of the authority'S function. It deals not only with 
matters which must be prescribed by law, but also with what the EPA does on a day-by-day basis. It 
contains aspects which one would believe to be ordinary office procedures. One would expect that after 
one matter was overridden, and as it was looked at in a specific instance afterwards, one would review it. 
In this Bill, the review should be conducted. Having made the decision in the light of the two conflicting 
aspects, and having applied the overriding rule, it is good practice that one should go back and look at the 
policy in the context of the overrule. It is good practice and, as is the habit of the Environmental Protection 
Act, the following procedure is outlined. 

Section 33 is very prescriptive in many ways. A difficulty of this legislation is that it has married two 
totally different legislative styles. The Town Planning and Development Act broadly deals only with 
things which must be legally prescribed. On the other hand, the Environmental Protection Act prescribes 
matters one would regard as only of internal interest. As we are dealing with this part of the Environmental 
Protection Act, the appropriate direction about what will happen next is included. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: If under proposed section 36(J)(aa) the review has been performed and one 
produces a policy which has been struck out under proposed section 33(5), docs the new policy under 
proposed section 36(1)(aa) prevail even though it may have been struck out previously? 

Hon PETER FOSS: Yes. 

Clause put and passed. 

Clause 17 put and passed. 

Clause 18: Section 38 amended -

Hon J.A. COWDELL: This clause refers to sections 38(1) and proposed new subsections (a) and (b). The 
current section 38(1)(a) refers to proposals which appear likely, if implemented, to have a significant effect 
on the environment, or a proposal of a prescribed class shall be referred in writing to the authority by a 
decision making authority as soon as that proposal comes to the notice of the decision making authority. 

The original amendment was to insert after "shall" the words "in the case of a proposal other than a 
proposal under an assessed scheme", but this has now becn amended in the other place to read -

subject section 481, shall, in the case of a proposal other than a proposal under an assessed 
scheme, 

The proposal will then be submitted in writing. 

Can the Attorney General explain the change of amendment there and its impact? 

Hon Peter Foss: Who has changed it? 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: The change from the previous draft put forward by the Government. 

Hon Peter Foss: The 1994 Bill? 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: No, the 1995 Bill. We have put in "subject to section 481". 1 wondered what the 
import of that change was and whether it lessened the impact. 

Hon PETER FOSS: I am just looking at it now. 1 must confess 1 had not given my full attention to it. 
Section 481 has always been there and specifically deals with proposals under assessed schemes. This is 
now referring to a propOsal, other than a proposal under an assessed scheme. 1 did not put it in there, but I 
think it is arguably otiose. It is trying to make quite clear that section 481 applies to proposals under 
assessed schemes, and that prevails over the removal from this section of proposals under an assessed 
scheme. In an exception they come back in. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: Referring to part (b), I want just to record, as members will be aware, the 
importance of this clause in cutting out public participation in any downstream assessment. Section 
38(1)(b) of the current Act reads -
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A proposal that appears likely, if implemented, to have a significant effect on the environment, or 
a proposal for a prescribed class ... 

(b) may be referred in writing to the Authority by -

(i) the proponent; or 

(ii) any other person. 

That is now qualified by, this amendment to paragraph (b)(ii) in the case of a proposal other than a proposal 
under an assessed seheme. This clause will have a substantial role in cutting down public participation in a 
later assessment; that is, in a later review of a proposal that is under an assessed seheme. I note that and the 
community concern about this section. I also indicate a subsequent amendment in my name which 
proposes to reconsider that removal or exclusion. I note, too, in passing that this is one of those clauses 
that cuts down public participation, not in the initial stages but obviously in later assessment. 

Hon PETER FOSS: The whole point about it is that section 38 as it currently stands reads that "subject to 
subsection 46(6), a proposal shall be referred once only to the Authority under this section". Under section 
38 a proposal can be referred only once. This is to some extent keeping in line with that. It is a once only 
process. If it is referred at the seheme stage, when all schemes have to be referred, that is then the once 
only referral. Obviously the public in each case gets virtually an environmental review management 
program because of the nature of the process that follows it. The member is right in saying that the effect 
of that is to limit at a later stage a further referral for proposals that come in under that assessed scheme. 
However, the other amendments contain options for them to be referred by the Minister and the authority. 
There are obligations for them to be referred by the decision making authority under certain situations. So 
the chances of a second bite overall are greater than in most cases where something has been considered, 
especially when one keeps in mind the power to prescribe that those proposals must be referred as well as 
the obligation on authorities under those circumstances. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: Clause 18(2)(b) refers to the Environmental Planning Authority's call-in right 
Currently, section 38(3) reads-

The Authority shall, if -

(a) it considers a proposal is likely, if implemented, to have a significant effect on 
the environment; or 

The paragraph (b) is to be replaced by -

(b) in the case of a proposal under an assessed scheme, the Authority did not, when 
it assessed the assessed scheme under Division 3 of this Part, have sufficient 
sciemific or technical information to enable it to assess the environmental issues 
raised by that proposal ... refer in writing the proposal to the Authority 

Therefore, the EPA may call in the proposal under an assessed scheme if it considers it was not fully 
assessed at an earlier stage. Obviously we hope that this will be utilised and that the trigger will be 
effective. In evidence hcard by the Legislation Committee some concern was expressed as to how this new 
information of a scientific or technical nature would be brought to the attention of the EPA to trigger the 
recall, as it were. It was felt that the EPA in its own right would not necessarily be aware of what might be 
substantive scientific or technical changes but that it would need to be alerted to same. The concern was 
that there would not be adequate public notification after a scheme had been assessed. It may come down 
many years later to rezoning, when a possible substantive body of new knowledge might cause a 
reconsideration. However, no-one would know that there was about to be a change and that their 
information could trigger a reassessment. It is a just concern. As I said before, it is not the same concern 
of the UDIA. It is a concern that this may be a dead letter unless there is adequate public information 
whereby members of the public or the academic community or whoever might be in possession of this 
knowledge could bring it to the attention of the EPA. The EPA is not likely to have that knowledge in its 
own right. I raise this matter at this stage not in the form of an amendmem, but I am seeking the Attorney 
General's advice on how the mechanism will be triggered. 

Hon PETER FOSS: This is one of the strengths of this Bill. At the moment, schemes are not assessed and 
cannot be assessed and development proposals and environmental concerns come to the attention of the 
Environmental Protection Authority only when somebody draws them to its attention. The problem now is 
that it is possible for a matter to go completely through without any notice because the environmental 
questions have not been looked at. What now happens with the requirement that every scheme is referred 
is that there is a strong possibility that general environmental conditions will be imposed on the scheme. 
Those environmental schemes not only will be imposed on a metropolitan region scheme amendment, but 
also will carryon through to the town planning scheme when that is brought under the MRS because that is 
the way these conditions would work. When considering a subdivisional approval or developmental 
approval the body will have its attention drawn to the fact that there are environmental considerations and 
conditions. At the moment, there is nothing to alert the EPA other than someone saying there is a problem. 
The EPA has an obligation as the decision making authority if it believes there will be a substantial 
problem with the environment to refer it. However, under this circumstance, I think there is a strong 
possibility it would be picked up because of the environmental conditions. Even if it is not, the situation is 
similar to that which exists currently. If nobody picks it up, there is no process for it to be referred. What 
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we have not done is give a vested legal right in third parties. That is the biggest difference. There is 
nothing to stop the attention of the EPA being drawn to it. It is just that that is not a vested legal right. 

The UDIA believes that is too lax; it does not trust the EPA. On the other hand, the people who want to 
have a third party involved say they do not trust the EPA to act. It is interesting that one group believes the 
EPA will never act on it and therefore it is at risk; the other group believes the EPA will always act on it 
because it is a body of greenies that should not be trusted. Its concern is that this will eliminate the benefits 
that are gained from the once for all type assessment at the beginning of the process. This is no worse than 
the current situation. The only difference is it is within the discretion of the EPA as to whether it initiates 
some sort of action. That rarely is the situation under the current Act, because if something is referred to 
the EPA, it can decide not to assess it. The only difference then is that an appeal can be lodged with the 
Minister and the Minister will make the decision. So there is no absolute right to have it assessed. There is 
a right to draw it to the attention of the EPA and have it formally listen and there is a right to draw it to the 
attention of the Minister. The difference is that those two processes are lost. The processes that are lost are 
not so much the right to refer, but the right to have it formally considered by the EPA and by the Minister. 
There is still a dependence upon somebody saying there is a problem in order for it to come to the attention 
of the EPA, except that, by virtue of the process that has schemes assessed, there is a strong possibility that 
environmental conditions will be imposed on the scheme, which I imagine are likely to lead to these 
matters being discovered. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: I thank the Attorney General for his comments. Obviously, I do not take the VDIA 
view of the world in this regard in cutting out the EPA's recall right. However, I am not sure that the 
Attorney General addressed my problem; that is, how would people know to alert the EPA about a situation 
unless there was adequate advertising that there is to be a change. 

Hon Peter Foss: There is not now. Under the current section 38 process, there is no advertising for 
subdivisional or development proposals. It is only when you find out it is happening that you have the 
capacity to say, "I want something done." It is no different in that respect. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: I was suggesting that it would be of assistance if there were a change in that regard. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: I have concerns. The failure of the EPA to carry out a proper assessment of the 
Northbridge tunnel project -

Hon Peter Foss: You can blame me for that because an appcal took place and it was my decision. In the 
end it is a decision by the Minister, not by the EPA. If it makes a decision to do something, I cannot stop it 
or reduce it. However, if it makes a decision not to do something, I can substitute my decision. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: In the current situation, the public is able then to make an assessment about the 
Attorney General's performance and act upon that performance at the right time. In relation to the situation 
as the Attorney General wishes it to be, there will be a blank wall for the public. 

Hon Peter Foss: The people have that when the scheme comes up. They can judge my performance on the 
scheme. 

Hon l.A. SCOTT: However, they can blame the EPA rather than the Minister. 

Hon Peter Foss: In the scheme, it is exactly the same -

The CHAIRMAN: Order! The Auomey General cannot be picked up by Hansard when he is interjecting. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: The Attorney General can put me right on this. The way the Bill is put, the EPA may 
decide to call something in and the EPA rather than the Minister will decide whether the assessment will 
take place; that organisation will get the blame. 

Hon PETER FOSS: There is still political accountability because after all this the Minister still has the 
right to call the matter in if he believes it is necessary. 

Hon J.A. Scott: Does the public have the right of appeal to the Minister? 

Hon PETER FOSS: What is lost is not the right to call on the EPA or the Minister in the same way as can 
be done now. What is lost is a formal assessment process; that is, where the EPA formally records its 
process. Everything the EPA does is printed and published in the Department of Environmental Protection 
library. The Minister's decisions and reasons for the decisions are also printed and published in the library. 
What is lost is not the right to appeal to those people and judge them on their performance, but the 
recording of the reasons of the EPA or the Minister for not calling the matter in. The EPA has a limited 
right to call the matter in, but the Minister has a broader right. In fact, it is the same right the Minister has 
under section 38(2). 

Hon l.A. SCOTT: In effect, this is a much more paternalistic system than the previous system where the 
public's expertise to call a proposal into question is taken as not having any validity. Therefore, the 
community wisdom is thrown out in favour of the more paternalistic, top down situation. 

Hon PETER FOSS: No. It is consistent with section 38(5); that is, that a proposal should be referred only 
once. The referral takes place by law when the scheme is brought down and there is no second referral 
except under certain circumstances. In fact, in this Bill the number of opportunities for a proposal to be 
considered increases. It tends to raise the issues which are raised at the end of the proposal. 
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Most of the major environmental concerns - for example, the obliteration of remnant vegetation - are raised 
during a scheme. By the time the proposal stage is reached the problem is that, if an objection is 
forthcoming, a person is within his rights to say that the map indicates it is industrial land. The Minister 
must balance the rights of an individual to use his land in accordance with a zoning as opposed to the 
benefit of the residual vegetation. That right cannot be ignored; it must be balanced. If it is done at the 
stage before it is zoned it is not a difficult question. The Minister simply says the land should not be zoned 
for that purpose. Pulting it mildly, a lot of conflicts currently arise because people have not taken into 
account the environmental matters when zoning. The classic example at the moment is Brixton Street 
Under this process we ""auld not have the sort of conflict we currently have with Brixton Street because the 
problems would have been rectified before the colours were put on the map. I would not have the 
problems I have now especially as the value of the land has increased, expectations have increased and 
there is conflict in the community. Proper planning avoids that sort of conflict. 

One of the big problems with members of the public is that they often do not pay attention until they think 
something is about to happen. We are trying to tell people that they have one solid go at it and that is at the 
stage of the scheme. Of course, protections are built in when proposals come forward, but if people want 
their say they must do so at the stage of the scheme. 

Hon J .A. Cowdell: They will not. 

Hon PETER FOSS: They will if it is done according to this legislation. It is similar to dealing with 
uniform legislation. Until people realise that it is crunch time, they will not do anything about it. I send 
out copies of Bills and memos and nothing is done. However, when I am about to go ahead with the 
legislation I am confronted with questions about it. People must participate in the process. 

If people do not avail themselves of the opportunity in the planning stage, we are wasting our time because 
there will be conflict, the wrong colours will be on the map and I will have to make decisions. We are 
trying to get across to people that this is the process and they must participate in it. Protections have been 
built in. Obviously, pollution issues will be dealt with when they arise. However, with land use and 
environment issues, the time to do it is when the lines are drawn on the map. If it is done later there will be 
conflict and there will not be proper planning. 

It must be decided at the planning stage what will be public open space and what is appropriate for 
industrial land. If that is not done properly, it is not proper planning. That process is occurring on an 
unofficial basis between my department and the Ministry for Planning. The changes to the major 
amendments which occur between the release of the initial draft and the final draft result in an increased 
number of parks and recreation centres. That process takes place between the departments. 

Hon J.A. Cowdell: The Ministry for Planning claims credit for that. 

Hon PETER FOSS: I am happy it docs. It is time it was done and it is time it was given credit for doing 
that. Generally speaking, the major amendments involve significant areas of park and recreation land. We 
want to get everybody thinking in those terms at the planning stage. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: I agree with nearly everything the Attorney General said, but he was referring to a 
theoretical situation that arises from a planning decision. When a problem arises, the EPA must know that 
it is occurring. 

Hon Peter Foss: How does it know now? 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: I know that too much land was cleared in a subdivision at Yangebup. This occurred in 
the middle of summer and the surrounding residents were confronted with a dust problem when the wind 
blew in a certain direction. The EPA was told about it but it could not inspect the area because the problem 
frequently arose on the weekend. 

Hon Peter Foss: I went and looked at it 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: The officers from the EPA could not attend at the appropriate time. When they did, the 
wind was blowing in the other direction and there was not a problem. The community must be able to have 
its problems investigated at the right time and not when the EPA gets around to doing it. 

I am concerned that the process will become completely bureaucratised. The community has, since the 
EPA was first formed and the Act was proclaimed, developed an environmental consciousness. I have 
heard the Attorney General and others say that it is important for environmental protection to get people to 
go into the forests so that they can get a greater appreciation and, therefore, there is more likelihood they 
will protect it. I am concerned that this process will be so bureaucratised that members of the public will 
be shut out of it and will not be involved in looking after their own neighbourhood. 

Hon PETER FOSS: I think members of the public will be involved. First of all, we hope to involve them 
at a higher level. Members of the public are now involved - although it is changing - when the block next 
door is about to be cleared, and that is too late. We are trying to get people involved at the planning level, 
and that is happening under the current major amendment method. 

The old minor amendment method was fraught with problems. The major amendment process is getting 
people involved. They are raising environmental issues that are being acknowledged by the Western 
Australian Planning Commission. As to the example the member gave of overclearing the land, it is 
possible - I am not predicting this will happen - that one condition to be imposed on land that is sandy may 
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be that the department's conditions be observed when the developers go in. An obligation will be imposed 
so that they will observe the rules published by the Environmental Protection Authority for the clearing of 
land. Those rules are in existence, but are often ignored. At the moment they must be enforced by local 
government, and sometimes local government ignores them. We could include that as an obligation that 
must be imposed by the local authority. 

There is a capacity at an earlier stage, as a proper course, for environmental procedures to be written in. 
Many of them can just be taken off the shelf. A stipulation can be made about the way things must be 
done. It will just become part of the right way people will do things. Part of the process will be that the 
EPA will be concerned about the development. It will come out and do various things. After a while, it 
will just happen in that way. I do not think this clause eliminates the public. Members of the public will be 
involved at a higher level of planning than they are now. Already there is a problem with development 
proposals in that there is no way the EPA of its own notion knows about these issues. It requires people to 
advise it by either letter or telephone call. I do not see this clause as eliminating public participation; I see 
it as involving the public at a time when it will be far less frustrating because there will be no arguments 
about too many fait accomplis. 

Clause put and passed. 

Clause 19 put and passed. 

Clause 20: Divisions 3 and 4 inserted in Part IV -

Hon J.A. COWDELL: This clause refers to proposed section 48A which talks about the authority being 
able to decide whether schemes are to be assessed. I refer, in particular, to proposed subclause (l)(a). The 
Environmental Protection Authority under this clause is not required to assess planning schemes formally. 
That may be appropriate in a whole range of situations; however, members of the public have no right of 
appeal if the EPA decides not to assess, or to assess informally. This appears to be one of those areas 
where in any up-front environmental reviews membcrs of the public could ultimately have some appeal 
rights if they considered the EPA had decided not to assess, or to assess informally, something that was 
considered to be of great importance. 

Hon PETER FOSS: I think I drew the attention of the committee to that point as being one of the 
necessary changes. Of course, if the EPA docs not assess a development, or if it has not been assessed, 
some of the benefits that come from its being assessed are lost. It is our expectation, and generally 
speaking that of the people who think they will be involved in development, that there is a right of appeal 
with the person proposing the scheme. 

Present indications are that people will be insisting on an assessment because of the benefits that will flow 
from the scheme having been assessed. The conflict will be between the EPA saying that it will assess a 
development on only a very gross basis and will specifically not assess the final part, but will reserve it to a 
later stage. For instance, it might specifically write in that it will reserve from the metropolitan region 
scheme stage, and will deal with the other aspects when it gets to the town planning scheme. 

Hon J .A. Cowdell: What is your opinion? 

Hon PETER FOSS: It is a matter cf human nature. It is a little hard to predict. In town planning schemes 
some part is reserved to the council. The UDIA has said, "Shock horror, we are dcad scared that this is 
what will happen; we want the maximum assessment to take place at the highest level." In other words, it 
wants the assessment to take place at the time of the metropolitan region scheme. I do not know the 
answer. The developers want the right to make sure these schemes are assessed to the maximum so they 
are not unassessed. They predict the environmental authorities want to keep a shifting focus; in other 
words, to have a big focus on metropolitan areas, a tighter focus at the metropolitan planning scheme stage, 
and a very tight focus at the subdivision stage. 

Planning people presently feel they want the higher assessment at the earliest stage. The environmental 
authorities presently feel they want to keep a staged view; they want to keep control all the way down the 
line, tightening the focus. At the moment both are agrccd about the attitude of the other. Whether that will 
happen in practice, I do not know. They can only both be right, or both be wrong. I think they are both 
agreed about the behaviour of the olher. I would not put my money on it. 

I suspect that once the process gets going, we will get something that is a little closer than that scenario. 
People will come up with whatever is the most sensible basis. On one hand, it will not benefit developers 
to have too much up-front assessment, and on the other, it will not be in the interests of environmental 
authorities to leave too much until too late because they will be left in a position where they cannot get the 
things done that they want to. In the end I think we will have something that is in the middle and there will 
be a sensible accommodation. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: I seek two points of clarification. Presumably if something is assessed informally, 
or if advice is given by the Environmental Protection Authority, it is legally assessed? 

Hon Peter Foss: That wording is used by the EPA; it does not exist in law. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: I ask for the Government's opinion as this is the one area where there seems to be a 
similar opinion from the Conservation Council of Western Australia Inc and the UDIA. 

Hon Peter Foss: On what? They both thought it should be lOOper cent? That is interesting. 
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Hon J.A. COW DELL: Yes, that was in evidence taken by the Legislation Committee. What is the 
Government's response to the proposals of those two groups to a 100 per cent assessment? 

Hon PETER FOSS: The process allows them to get 100 per cent, because there is a right of appeal by the 
proponent. In the end, if they insist on it they will get it. I cannot see how the Environment Minister could 
object to a thorough assessment at an early stage. I could see why I would not insist upon it, because it 
might be convenient for it happen on a staged basis. What I said previously is that I will wait to see how 
they behave once they have gone through the experience. We may find the best way to do it is not what the 
EPA, the developers or t~e Conservation Council think is the best way to do it; it is what people will settle 
on as the favourite. THe member is probably right and for the first few it will be 100 per cent, because 
people will ask for that and then they will learn and they will go for slightly less. It is their right to have a 
100 per cent assessment, and I do not have a problem with that. It could cost them a bit of money though. 

Hon J.A. COWDELL: I note the Attorney General's speculation that the developer may seek assessment 
up-front as far as possible and it may be in the interests of the public not to have a 100 per cent assessment 
up-front. Nevertheless, it would not go amiss to allow the public the capacity to make a point and appeal if 
they felt it was crucial for there to be an up-front assessment and the EPA decided against it. I indicate that 
one of the later amendments standing in my name on the Supplementary Notice Paper covering section 
100(1) of the original Act will provide the public with that right of appeal. THat would facilitate greater 
public confidence in the up-front assessment without necessarily, as the Attorney General would say, 
changing the balance in the whole scheme of things. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: What process will occur when a developer appeals the level of assessment? 

Hon PETER FOSS: It is similar to the current appeal process when I deal with conditions to be imposed. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: If there were a public right of appeal would the Minister assess whether the appeal 
should go ahead? 

Hon Peter Foss: Yes. 

Hon J.A. SCOTT: So there would not be any frivolous appeals? 

Hon PETER FOSS: Nothing is ever easily dismissed I am afraid. Whenever we have appeals we have to 
go through the whole appeal process and that is a lengthy and time consuming process. We cannot say that 
an appeal is frivolous. However, every now and then an appeal is based on a totally false understanding of 
the facts. We can tell the people that, but they will appeal anyway. Under those circumstances an appeal 
could be regarded as frivolous. However, it is hard to describe any environmental appeal as frivolous, 
because there is a tremendous amount of subjectivity in it. It is not just a matter of dismissing it on the 
nod; we must go into it to some degree and we always do. The only shortening of the process is that there 
can be a number of appeals with virtually the same point, therefore we can deai with them in a similar 
manner. The point is decided and we are able to insert that reasoning into similar EPA appeals. Each one 
is given serious consideration and reasons. Nobody gets less than a one or two page reason for decisions 
on even the simplest of appeals. 

Hon J.A. COW DELL: I have problems following proposed new sections 48A(I)(c) and 48A(2) when read 
together. 

Hon PETER FOSS: Proposed section 48A(I)(c) is intended to be a quick no. If the EPA thinks that it will 
never be capable of being fixed, they are told. However, the Minister may have a different view and tell 
the EPA to assess it and come back with recommendations. THose recommendations could be that it will 
never be environmentally acceptable. At least one has the option of being told up-front to go away, get 
lost, as it will not be agreed to, before one has spent a considerable amount of money on an environmental 
assessment up-front. 

Hon J.A. COW DELL: I move -

Page 26, line 15 - To insert after the word "be" the words "published within seven days and". 

THe amendment applies to proposed section 48B(2). It is not an extensive range of matters on the public 
record. It seems not unreasonable that there should be a publication of determination so that people may be 
aware that a determination is made and something is available to be inspected. THe amendment seeks to 
merely inform the public that a determination is made which may be inspected. 

Hon PETER FOSS: One of the basic precepts we followed in drafting this legislation was to stick to the 
words of the original Act as faithfully as we could. This totally follows the wording of section 39(5). The 
whole process of the EPA is public. Even this Bill refers to its keeping a public record which people can 
examine. If Hon John Cowdell is thinking in terms of advertising, that will not be on. I do not know 
whether the member has any idea of how many pieces of paper are placed on the public record each day by 
the Department of Environmental Protection. Everything I sign goes on it. I sign five to 10 pieces of paper 
a day. The EPA processes a considerable amount. 

Hon J.A. Cowdell interjected. 

Hon PETER FOSS: I realise that. People know that matters go through the planning process. It is on the 
public record. They regularly examine the record. It is a form of publication. I do not accept the 
amendment. It is not necessary. 

Amendment put and negatived. 
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Progress 
Progress reported. 

ADJOURNMENT OF THE HOUSE: SPECIAL 

HON N.F. MOORE (Mining and Pastoral - Leader of the House) [12.55 am]: I move -

That the House at its rising adjourn until 10.00 am today (Thursday). 

Lunch will be taken between 12.30 and 2.00 pm. 

Question put and passed. 

House adjourned at 12.56 am (Thursday) 
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QUESTIONS ON NOTICE 

CONSERV ATION AND LAND MANAGEMENT, DEPARTMENT OF -
REGROWTH CHIPLOGS OF KARRI, MARRI, ESTIMATED VOLUME 

21. Hon J.A. SCOTT to the Minister for the Environment: 

For each of the years 1995,2000, 2005, 2015, 2025 and 2050 -

What is the estimated volume of regrowth chiplogs of -

(a) karri; and 

(b) marri? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

(a) 1995 60 800 m~ 
2000 97200m 
2005 147000 m3 

2015 127600 m3 

2025 186 800 m3 

2050 No estimate available 

(b) 1995 43 300 m~ 
2000 49 500 m3 
2005 41 400 m3 
2015 37 600 m3 
2025 48000 m 
2050 No estimate available 

PERTH PHOTOCHEMICAL SMOG STUDY - RELEASE DATE 

173. Hon J.A. SCOTT to the Minister for the Environment: 

(1) Has the Perth airshed study been released yet? 

(2) If not, why not? 
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(3) When docs the Minister intend to honour the Government's commitment to establish a 
select committee to enquire into methods of resolving Perth's air pollution problem? 

(4) Why has the Perth airshed study taken so long to complete? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

(1) No. 

(2) A draft of the Perth Photochemical Smog Study report has been provided to the 
Environmental Protection Authority as part of a briefing on the results of the study. The 
EPA chairman subsequently provided me with a copy ofthis draft on 30 April 1996. The 
Department of Environmental Protection has since been correcting minor typographical 
errors. I understand that this will be completed in a matter of days from now. Western 
Power Corporation will then print the final report and it will subsequently be available 
for public release. 

(3) The timing and nature of this and possibly other initiatives will be made in light of the 
study results. 

(4) The main reason that the study completion was delayed several months was the late 
delivery of work by consultants. In one case a senior CSIRO scientist suffered periodic 
illness during 1995 which has since continued. Other consultants, notably the Victorian 
Environmental Protection Authority, were also engaged in a major similar study for 
Sydney during the period of the Perth study. More recently, the time taken to finalise the 
report from a "final draft" stage has also taken a little longer than expected. 

OFFICE ACCOMMODATION - LEASED, COSTS 

237. Hon TOM STEPHENS to the Leader of the House representing the Premier: 

(1) What was the total cost for the office aecommodation leased for each department or 
agency within the Premier's portfolio area for 1994-95? 

(2) What are the estimates for costs associated with leased office accommodation for those 
same departments or agencies for the current financial year? 

Hon N.F. MOORE replied: 

The Premier has provided the following reply -

(1) Office accommodation leased for each department or agency within the Premier's 
portfolio for 1994-95 -
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(2) 

* 
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Ministry of the Premier and Cabinet 
European Office 
North Asia Office (including Kobe) 
Treasury Department 
Tourism Commission 
Salaries and Allowances Tribunal 
Commission on Government 
Official Corruption Commission 
Public Service Commission 
Public Sector Standards Commission 
Parliamentary Commissioner for 

Administrative Investigations 
Auditor General 

$ 
8185578 

281613 
235000 

2359687 
985598 
36935 

117842 
42635 

226896 
219872 

125049 
Nil 

Estimates for costs associated with leased office accommodation for those same 
departments or agencies for 1995-96-

Ministry of the Premier and Cabinet 
European Office 
North Asia Office (including Kobe) 
Treasury Department 
Tourism Commission* 
Salaries and Allowances Tribunal 
Commission on Government 
Official Corruption Commission 
Public Sector Standards Commission 
Parliamentary Commissioner for 

$ 
8113088 

298196 
235000 

2719909 
555834 
39236 

150000 
48980 

248470 

Administrative Investigations 135541 
Auditor General Nil 

Portfolio shift - Tourism Commission costed to 21 December 1995 

POLICE SERVICE - BRENNAN CAR-DRUGS CASE 

248. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Leader of the House representing the Minister for Police: 

In respect of the Brennan car-drugs case -

(1) Is the Commissioner of Police aware that Neil Hunter has previous convictions for car 
deals with police in Queensland? 

(2) Is the Commissioner of Police aware that Neil Hunter was shifted to Perth by Queensland 
police? 

Hon N.F. MOORE replied: 

The matter to which the member refers is currently the subject of court proceedings. For that 
reason I believe it is inappropriate to comment on issues relating to this mauer. 

POLICE - BRENNAN CAR-DRUGS CASE 

259. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Leader of the House representing the Minister for Police: 

In respect of the Brennan car-drugs case -

(1) Which Western Australian police officers have been involved in the investigation? 

(2) Approximately for what period were they involved in the investigation? 

Hon N.F. MOORE replied: 

The matter to which the member refers is currently the subject of court proceedings. For that 
reason I believe it is inappropriate to comment on issues relating to this mauer. 

PORT KENNEDY LAND CONSERVATION DISTRICT COMMITTEE -
TRAILER TAKEN FROM COMPOUND (1993), POLICE INQUIRY 

273. Hon J.A. SCOTT to the Leader of the House representing the Minister for Police: 

(1) Did police seize a box trailer from the Port Kennedy Land Conservation District 
Committee compound in August 1993 when the LCDC was removed from its original 
compound? 

(2) Was it seized in the belief that it was stolen? 

(3) Was the trailer stolen? 
(4) Was the trailer unlicensed and did it have unreturned licence plates on it? 

(5) Did the police claim the trailer would be donated to a Scout group? 
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(6) Was the trailer given to a contr~ctor who had been employed to remove material from the 
original LCDC compound? 

(7) Who was that contractor, and why was he given the trailer? 

(8) Why was the trailer not returned to the LCDC? 

Hon N.F. MOORE replied: 

The Commissioner of Police has advised as follows -

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

(5) 

(6) 

(7) 

(8) 

The ~lice did not seize a box trailer from the Port Kennedy Land Conservation District 
Committee compound in August 1993. 

The trailer was not seized by police. 

As far as police were aware the trailer was not stolen. 

The trailer had the registration plate 6KA 475 affixed to it. This plate did not relate to 
the trailer in question. Inquines revealed that the licence plate had been lost by a 
fisherman in the area some time previously. 

No. 

The trailer was seized by the contractor under the provisions of the Port Kennedy 
Development Agreement Act 1992. 

Hodgkinson Nominees of Waroona was the contractor. Police were not involved with 
the disposal of property. 

PORT KENNEDY LAND CONSERVATION DISTRICT COMMITTEE - TABLES 
AND CHAIRS REMOVED FROM COMPOUND (1993), POLICE INQUIRY 

Police were not involved with the disposal of property. 

274. Hon J.A. SCOTT to the Leader of the House representing the Minister for Police: 

(1) Did Sergeant Oosting ask that a contractor, who was removin~ material from the Port 
Kennedy Land Conservation District Committee compound 10 August 1993, donate 
tables and chairs removed from that compound to Anglicare? 

(2) Why did he choose AngJicare? 

(3) Did the tables and chairs go to Anglicare? 

(4) Why were the tables and chairs not returned to the LCDC and sea rescue group, who 
were the rightful owners? 

Hon N.F. MOORE replied: 

The Commissioner of Police has advised as follows -

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 

Note: 

No, Sergeant Oosting was asked by the contractor if he knew of any local support groups. 
The sergeant advised the Anglican Church to contact the contractor at the contractor's 
request. 

Not known. However, Anglicare is a welfare group. 

Not known. Police had no involvement with the property. 

Police were not involved with the property. The property was a matter between LCDC, 
Sea Search and Rescue Group, Department of Land Administration and the contractor. 

This matter was dealt with by an inquiry through the Police Service Internal 
Investigations Branch and the Ombudsman in 1993. Police were cleared of any 
impropriety. 

POLICE SERVICES - ETHNIC AFFAIRS LIAISON OFFICER 

291. Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS to the Leader of the House representing the Minister for Police: 

(1) Is there an ethnic affairs liaison officer with the Police Department? 

(2) Who is the current occupant of the position and when did that person commence in the 
position? 

(3) Who is the previous occupant of the position and when did that person commence and 
cease in the position? 

(4) What are the duties of the ethnic affairs liaison officer and what qualifications are 
required of the occupant of the position? 

Hon N.F. MOORE replied: 

The Commissioner of Police has advised as follows -
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(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

(4) 
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Yes. Attached to the Ethnic Affairs Unit. 

Mr Gerard Daniells. 29 January 1996. For information, Mr Daniells is acting in this 
position while the permanent incumbent is on long service leave. 

Mr David Thangarajah. Commenced October 1994. Commenced leave 9 February 1996. 
For information, the position was ratified at level 5 Public Service employee in March 
1995. 

Duties -
Assist in the formulation of departmental policies on the delivery of police services to 
ethnic communities. 
Research and assist in the development and implementation of departmental policies on 
the delivery of police services to ethnic communities' members, other than Aboriginal. 
Develop programs and relevant projccts with regional officers to improve police 
relations. 
Contribute to the development of cross-cultural awareness training for police through the 
police training and development program and participate in the delivery of training 
programs. 
Coordinate and provide executive support to the Western Australian Police Ethnic 
Advisory Council. 
Maintain close liaison with grant in aid workers in W A on issues pertaining to police and 
ethnic relations. 
Provide advice on all issues relating to immigration and ethnic affairs matters and 
provide an access point for ethnic communities to police services. 
Identify the needs for translation of police and other relevant information into community 
languages and facilitate appropriate processes. 
Initiate ethnic community education and information programs and participate in the 
delivery of such programs. 
Liaise and advise operational police on matters relating to immigration and ethnic affairs, 
ethnic community organisations, community groups and relevant government agencies 
and instrumentalities. 

Qualifications -
Experience in policy development, analysis, implementation and evaluation, particularly 
in the field of ethnic affairs. 
Highly developed communication skills both written and oral. 
Report writing skills. 
Negotiation and liaison skills. 
Public speaking skills. 
Interpersonal skills. 
Analytical and conceptual ability. 
Policy formulation and research skills. 
Knowledge of state and commonwealth policies and priorities in the field of ethnic 
affairs. 
Knowledge of ethnic affairs issues, both locally and nationally. 
Knowledge of multicultural policies and the needs of minority groups. 
It is desirable that the occupant have a tertiary qualification in social or behavioural 
science or equivalent. 
Experience in the use of personal computers and software packages. 
Knowledge of the Police Service and its legislation. 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT - HOSPITALS, FUNDING ALLOCATIONS 

317. Hon TOM STEPHENS to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Health: 

(1) What funds will be allocated to the-

(a) Cue Health Centre; 

(b) Sandstone Health Centre; 

(c) Mt Magnet District Hospital; 

(d) Numbala Nunga Nursing Home; 

(e) Onslow District Hospital; 

(0 Yalgoo Nursing Post; 

(g) Exmouth District Hospital; 

(h) Carnarvon Regional Hospital; 

(i) Meekatharra Hospital; 

(j) Newman District Hospital; 
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(k) Derby Regional Hospital; 

(1) Kununurra Hospital; 

(m) Broome District Hospital; 

(n) Fitzroy Crossing Hospital; 

(0) Halls Creek District Hospital; and 

(P) Wyndham District Hospital, 

as a result of the decision of the State Government to inject $81m between March and 30 
June this year into the health system of Western Australia? 

(2) For what purpose have these funds been allocated? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

(1) (a)-(c) Nil 
$31500 
$6100 

Nil 
$24100 
$79900 

Nil 
$35400 

$387900 
$272000 

$77 500 

(d) 
(e) 
(t) 
(g) 
(h) 
(i) 
(j) 
(k) 
(I) 
(m) 
(n) 
(0) 
(p) 

$15800 
$69200 

$128600 

(2) The purpose of these allocations is to maintain quality health services and address the 
service needs of the communities. In addition to changes to patient services, the cost of 
industrial award increases is also funded. 

CYCLONE OLIVIA - EMERGENCY WARNINGS, PILBARA 

329. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Emergency Services: 

In respect of emergency warnings for cyclone Olivia -

(1) Which groups were alerted in the Pilbara about the presence of cyclone Olivia? 

(2) Were all pastoral stations and Aboriginal communities in affected areas of the Pilbara 
advised? 

(3) 

(4) 

If no, which pastoral stations and Aboriginal communities in the Pilbara were not 
advised? 

Were the residents of Wittenoom alerted as part of the warnings for Pilbara towns and 
residents? 

(5) If not, why not? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

(1) All communities in the affected area, as defined on advice from the Bureau of 
Meteorology, were advised of the presence of cyclone Olivia through the issue of 
community cyclone alerts. 

(2) 

(3) 

(4)-(5) 

Yes. All pastoral stations and Aboriginal communities in the affected area were notified 
by the State Emergency Service or police on an individual basis as well as by general 
community alerts through the regional electronic media. 

Not applicable. 

The residents of Wittenoom were not specifically warned of the cyclone as they were 
considered to be included in the warnings issued to the Tom Price area. The plotted path 
of cyclone Olivia was such that Wittenoom was not directly threatened and experienced 
winds less than those normally experienced in metropolitan Perth during a winter storm. 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT - GASCOYNE HEALTH SERVICE 
$198100 Allocation 

Hon TOM STEPHENS to the Atlorney Genera) representing the Minister for Health: 
(1) For what specific purposes has the $198 100 been recently allocated to the Gascoyne 

Health Service? 
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(2) Precisely how is it proposed that these funds will be allocated throughout the health 
service of the Gascoyne? 

(3) Will the Minister give a breakdown of the proposed allocations? 
(4) What specific funds have been allocated to the Carnarvon Hospital from this $198 100, 

and for what specific programs have those funds been allocated to the hospital? 

Hon PE1ER FOSS replied: 

(1) The specific purposes of the additional funding are-
Appropriately remunerate personnel to enable completion of this year's service initiatives 
and programs. 
Assist in the implementation of HCARE and HRIS information systems. 
Provide local mental health counselling support to the communities of Exmouth and 
Onslow additional to regional program. 
Evaluate mental health service requirements in Shark Bay. 
Enable twice-yearly visiting nephology service. 
Enable update of theatre anaesthetic facilities to provide high quality anaesthetic services 
to the Gascoyne community. 
Provide additional resources to the clinical support units to allow improved assessment 
and treatment of customers. 
Increase home eare resources. 

(2) The allocation of funds was made on recommendations by the General Manager, 
Gascoyne Health Service. This was based on an assessment of the cost of additional 
service needs and industrial award increases across the health service. There is a 
commitment to maintain quality health care to communities and a need to address the 
growing pressures on the health system. 

(3) The breakdown of allocations is -
Carnarvon Regional Hospital 
Exmouth District Hospital 
Onslow District Hospital 
Community Health 
Contingency for prospective industrial 
decisions (ANF, HSOA) 

$79900 
$24100 
$6100 
$3000 

$85000 

(4) $79900 - purchase new anaesthetic machine, industrial award increases, new nephology 
service and additional mental health services to Onslow and Exmouth. 

POLICE - EUCLA CASE 

362. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Police: 

I refer to question without notice 942, of which some notice was given, of 16 November 1995, and 
the reply given by the Minister for Police, in which he says that the Commissioner of Police has 
referred the matter to the Australian Federal Police who will conduct an independent assessment 
of all material, and report directly to the commissioner: 

(1) Was this assessment called for as the result of a complaint? 

(2) Who is conducting this assessment, and on what date did the assessment begin? 

(3) What are the terms of reference for this assessment? 

(4) Is this an assessment of documentary evidence only, or are witnesses to be interviewed? 

(5) If so, have any witnesses been interviewed thus far? 

(6) If not, who provided the documents to be assessed? 

(7) Have the investigators completed this assessment? 

(8) If not, when is the assessment due to be completed? 

(9) To whom are the investigators to report their findings? 

(10) Will this be a public report? 

Hon PE1ER FOSS replied: 

I arn advised by the Minister for Police in the following terms -

I arn advised by the Commissioner of Police as follows -

The assessment of material relating to events at Eucla Police Station, in 1989, has been concluded. 
A copy of the report has been made available to the Ombudsman who is continuing his 
investigations. In view of these investigations, the Ombudsman should be provided an 
opportunity to finalise his inquiries before the question is responded to. 
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HEALTH DEPARTMENT - DEATHS FROM MESOTHELIOMA, 
ASBESTOSIS, LUNG CANCER CAUSED BY ASBESTOS EXPOSURE 
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364. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Health: 

(1) In the month of -

(a) April 1995; 
(b) May 1995; 
(c) June 1995; 
(d) \ July 1995; 
(e) August 1995; 
(0 September 1995; 
(g) October 1995 
(h) November 1995; 
(i) December 1995; and 
(j) January 1996, 
how many people died in Western Australia from-

(i) mesothelioma; 
(ii) asbestosis; and 
(iii) lung cancer caused by asbestos exposure? 

(2) How many persons in each category in (1) above were occupationally exposed to 
asbestos at Wittenoom? 

(3) How many persons in each category in (1) above were occupationally exposed to 
asbestos in transporting asbestos from Wittenoom to Port Samson or in loading asbestos 
at Point Samson? 

(4) How many persons in each category were environmentally exposed to asbestos at 
Wittenoom? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 
The questions have been answered for the period April 1995 to December 1995 as completely as 
possible on the basis of deaths registered in Western Australia to December 1995; the Health 
Department of Western Australia holds no record of deaths since that time. Thus it is not possible 
to provide information on deaths in January 1996. In addition, a proportion of deaths in 
December 1995 are not registered in that year, and information concerning these is yet to become 
available. 

(1) (i) The number of persons known to have died in Western Australia between April 
and December 1995 inclusive, with a stated cause including "mesothelioma", is 
36. 

(2) 

(ii) Asbestosis was mentioned in the written cause of death for 15 persons in this 
period; asbestos exposure was mentioned in an additional 9 cases. 

(iii) The available information does not allow an assessment of the eause of a fatal 
lung cancer in the vast majority of cases. There was a mention of asbestos in 
the cause of death information for 2 cases of lung cancer deaths. 

(i) Five of the 36 persons who died of mesothelioma in this period are known to 
have been occupationally exposed to asbestos at Wittenoom. 

(ii) There is no information available regarding the source of asbestos exposure for 
the 15 asbestosis-related deaths. 

(iii) Available information does not link any known lung cancer-related deaths in 
this period to work at Wiuenoom. 

(3) Available information suggests that one known lung cancer, asbestosis or mesothelioma
related death in this period was related to work in the asbestos transport industry at Point 
Sampson. 

(4) Two persons who died of mesothelioma in the stated period are thought to have had 
significant non-occupational asbestos exposure while living in Wittenoom. 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT - ABORIGINAL HEALTH POLICY AND PROGRAMS 
BRANCH (KALGOORLIE), AUDITOR'S REPORT 

393. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Health: 

(1) Is there an auditor's report relating to the cost of the Aboriginal health policy and 
programs branch in Kalgoorlie? 

(2) If yes, will the Minister provide me with a copy? 
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Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

(1) No. 

(2) Not applicable. 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT - ABORIGINAL MEDICAL SERVICE 
$5mFunding (1994) 

394. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Health: 
(1) In 1994 did Health Minister, Hon Peter Foss, provide $5m to Aboriginal Medical Services in Western Australia? 
(2) Was this additional funding money left in the Health budget? 
(3) Which AMS's received the funds? 
(4) How much money did each get? 
(5) What was the funding provided for? 
(6) What were the outcomes? 
(7) Was the performance of those who spent the money audited? 
(8) Is there an audited report? 
(9) If not, why not? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

(1) No. 

(2) $2.96m was paid to Aboriginal medical services in 1994. This funding remains part of the base allocation of the Health Department of Western Australia. 
(3) Mawarnkarra Aboriginal Medical Service 

Kimberley Aboriginal Medical Services Council 
East Kimberley Aboriginal Medical Service 
Bega Garnbirringu Heallh Service 
Ngaanganawilli Aboriginal Medical Service 
Geraldton Aboriginal Medical Service 

(4) 

Perth Aboriginal Medical Service 
Ngaanyatjarra Aboriginal Health Service 
Mawarnkarra Aboriginal Medical Service 
Kimberley Aboriginal Medical Services Council 
East Kimberley Aboriginal Medical Service 
Bega Garnbirringu Health Service 
NgaanganawiIIi Aboriginal Medical Service 
Geraldton Aboriginal Medical Service 
Perth Aboriginal Medical Service 
Ngaanyatjarra Aboriginal Health Service 

$160400 
$282000 
$63800 

$882600 
$445500 
$174000 
$593400 
$358000 

(5) The funds were used to purchase a wide range of services, including sobering-up shelters, home and community care, heart health, information systems development, cervical cancer screening services, health promotion programs, mobile health clinics, specialist medical services, and primary health care servIceS. 
(6) 

(7)-(8) 

(9) 

A variety of outcomes were planned. However, the ultimate aim of all of this expenditure was to improve Aboriginal health. 
Yes. 

Not applicable. 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT - ABORIGINAL MEDICAL SERVICE Kaigoorlie. Broome, Wi/una. Geraldlon, $127000 for Information Agreements 
395. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Health: 

(1) Did the Health Department of Western Australia provide the Aboriginal Medical Service in Kalgoorlie, Broome, Wi luna and Geraldton with $127000 each for information agreements? 

(2) If not, what amounts were paid and to whom? 
(3) Which Health Department officer was responsible for this grant? 
(4) Which Health Department officer was responsible for this program? 
(5) Where are the information agreements? 
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(6) Who was responsible for monitoring the agreements? 
(7) Was an auditor's report completed by Mr Steven Jersen and Mr Rod Fergus between 14 

and 18 August 1995? 
(8) If not, what work was undertaken by these two persons in relation to this matter? 
(9) Was Health Commissioner, Mr A. Bansemer, provided with a copy of this report? 

(10) On wha~ date was the report provided? 

(11) What action did Mr Bansemer take? 
Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

(1) No. 
(2) Kalgoorlie 

Perth Aboriginal Medical Service 
Gemldton 
East Kimberley Aboriginal Medical Service 

$127000 
$137000 
$127000 
$127000 

(3) Responsibility is with the contract manager specified in the contract. 
(4) Program Manager, Aboriginal Health. 

(5) Information agreements are in the form of contracts with the department. 
(6) See (3) above. 

(7) No. 

(8) A draft report, dealing with contracts management in the Aboriginal Health Policy and 
Programs Branch was prepared. This report is yet to be finalised. 

(9) No. 
(10)-(11)Not applicable. 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT - ABORIGINAL MEDICAL SERVICE 
Kalgoor/ie, Broome. $24 000 for Environmental Health Workers 

396. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Allorney General representing the Minister for Health: 
(1) Did the State Government pay the Broome and Kalgoorlie Aboriginal Medical Services 

$24 000 for their environmental health workers in 1993/94 to assess ranking of 
Aboriginal community health standards? 

(2) Was this work ever done by either AMS? 

(3) Was an assessment eventually made by Mr O. Ashby from the Health Department of 
Western Australia? 

(4) Was the money recouped from either AMS? 

(5) If not, why not? 
Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

(1) No. However, a contract was struck with Bega Gambirringu for $27000 and the 
Kimberley Aboriginal Services Council for $27 000 to provide consultation and field 
support services to the statewide survey. 

(2) Bega Garnbirringu Yes. 
Kimberley Aboriginal Medical Services Council No. 

(3) Mr Ashby participated as a team member in many locations across the State during the 
survey. 

(4) No. 

(5) The contract with the Kimberley Aboriginal Medical Services Council was varied to 
enable the employment of an Aboriginal environmental health worker. 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT - ABORIGINAL MEDICAL SERVICE 
Perth, $100 000 for Building Improvements 

397. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Auorney General representing the Minister for Health: 
(1) Was the Perth Aboriginal Medical Service given $100 000 for building improvements? 

(2) Is the Perth AMS an ATSIC funding responsibility? 

(3) Why did the State Government provide the funding? 

(4) Why did ATSIC not provide the funding? 
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(5) Was a contract in place to cover the building improvements in (1) above? 

Hon PElER FOSS replied: 

398. 

(1) No. 

(2) No. However, the Perth Aboriginal Medical Service received funds from a number of 
sources including state and commonwealth health agencies. 

(3) On the basis of identified need, an amount of $41 000 was provided to the Perth 
Aboriginal Medical Service to facilitate the establishment of a women's health unit 

(4) Unknown. 

(5) A contract was executed for the amount in (3). 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT - ABORIGINAL MEDICAL SERVICE 
Contractsfor Heart Health (1994) 

Hon MARK NEVILL to the Auomey General representing the Minister for Health: 

(1) Which of the Aboriginal Medical Services were given contracts for heart health in 1994? 

(2) How much were these contracts worth? 

(3) What were the outcomes of these contracts? 

Hon PElER FOSS replied: 

(1) Perth Aboriginal Medical Service, Geraldton Aboriginal Medical Service and Bega 
Gambirringu Aboriginal Medical Service. 

(2) 1994-95 contracts were priced at-

Perth AMS 
Geraldlon AMS 
Bega Gambirringu AMS 

$99700 
$100000 
$143460 

(3) Establishment of hcart health screening programs, health promotion initiatives; for 
example, St John first aid training for staff and community members, improved 
identification of at risk people, and improved monitoring. 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT - ABORIGINAL MEDICAL SERVICE 
Wi/una. $100000 for Mobile Clinic 

399. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Health: 

(1) Did the Wiluna Aboriginal Medical Service receive $100 000 for a mobile clinic? 

(2) When was it required? 

(3) To what areas docs the clinic travel? 
(4) Has the provision of this clinic been successful? 

(5) What have been the heahh outcomes of this investment? 

Hon PElER FOSS replied: 

(1) The Health Department of Western Australia has not provided any funds for this purpose 
to Ngaanganawilli (Wiluna) Aboriginal Medical Service. 

(2) Not applicable. 

(3) I am advised that it visits various communities and sites within the Shire of Wiluna. 

(4) I am advised the clinic is successful. 

(5) Daily health clinics for Wiluna schoolchildren; improved primary health care services to 
remote Aboriginal and non-Aboriginal communities and sites; and provision of 
emergency medical assistance; for example, road accidents etc. 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT - ABORIGINAL MEDICAL SERVICE 
Broome. $29 000 for Aboriginal Tutors for Advanced Health Certificates 

400. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Auorney General representing the Minister for Health: 

(1) Did the Broome Aboriginal Medical Service receive $29 000 for Aboriginal tutors for 
advanced health certificates? 

(2) Who signed the agreement for the Broome AMS? 

(3) Did the Health Department refuse to pay because of non-performance? 

(4) Who in the Health Department made this decision? 

(5) Did the Broome AMS receive the balance of $27000 paid on a local purchase order? 
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(6) Who signed the local purchase order? 

(7) Who authorised it? 

(8) What is the limit the Government places on the value of LPOs? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

(1) No. However, the Kimberley Aboriginal Medical Services' Council (Broome Campus 
School of Health) received $23633 to deliver the Advanced Certificate in Aboriginal 
Health,Work to Kimberley students. 

(2) The contract agreement was with the Kimberley Aboriginal Medical Services' Council, 
and not with the Broome Aboriginal Medical Service. Both are separate incorporated 
institutions. The signatories for the Kimberley Aboriginal Medical Services' Council 
were A. Bin-Saleh and H. Councillor. 

(3) No. 

(4) Not applicable. 

(5) An LPO was used as a payment voucher against which a cheque was drawn. 

(6) Program Manager, Aboriginal Health. 

(7) Director, Aboriginal Health. 

(8) The Heallh Department of Western Australia does not have specific maximum limits for 
LPOs, as long as their use is consistent with government supply policy. 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT - SAFETY DRIVING COURSE, KUNUNURRA (1994) 

401. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Allomey General representing the Minister for Health: 

(1) Did the Heallh Department organise a safety driving course in Kununurra in 19941 

(2) Was the course held at the Kununurra Hotel? 

(3) Who organised the course? 

(4) Did the Aboriginal heallh workers attending the course damage the hotel? 

(5) What Health Department resources were used to pay for the damage? 

(6) How much was it? 

(7) Were any charges laid? 

(8) Was any money recouped? 

(9) If so, how much and from whom? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

(1) A joint Police and Health Department of Western Australia road safety program was run 
in Kununurra in 1994. 

(2) No. 

(3) It was jointly organised by the Health Department of Western Australia and the Police 
Department. 

(4) No. 

(5) None. However, the Health Department of Western Australia made an additional 
payment for cleaning and linen. As joint organisers of this program, the Health 
Department was liable for these costs. 

(6) Approximately $400. 

(7) No. The matter of laying charges would be up to the management of the hotel. 

(8) No. 

(9) Not applicable. 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT - MOTOR VEHICLES AND MOBILE PHONES 
Financial Administration and Audit Act Regulations; Pratt. Tracy; Houston, Shane 

402. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Health: 

(1) Do Financial Administration and Audit Act regulations limit the provision of a car and 
mobile phone to level 7 and above employees? 

(2) Did Mr Shane Houston provide a car and phone to Tracy Pratt? 
(3) Was Tracy Prall a level 5 employee at that time? 
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(4) If yes to (2) or (3) above, how does Mr Houston justify this decision? 

(5) Did Mr Houston exceed his authority? 
Hon PE1ER FOSS replied: 

(1) No. 

(2) A car and phone were available to the Aboriginal Health Policy and Programs Branch to 
facilitate operational requirements. Ms Pratt was responsible for the car and phone for a 
period. 

(3) Ms Pratt was a substantive level 5; however, she undertook higher duties to level 7 
during this time. 

(4) Government policy allows home garaging of vehicles where this is operationally 
advantageous. Ms Pratt is and was required at the time to frequently travel for business 
purposes outside normal working hours and often at short notice. 

(5) No. The accountable officer's approval was obtained. 
HEALTH DEPARTMENT - ABORIGINAL MEDICAL SERVICE 

Kaigoorlie. Project Coordinator, Funding 

403. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Health: 
(1) Did the Health Department of Western Australia provide the Kalgoorlie Aboriginal 

Medical Service with funding to employ a project coordinator? 

(2) Who, in the Health Department of Western Australia, coordinated this funding decision? 
(3) Was there any requirement to advertise the position? 
(4) Was it advertised? 
(5) If yes, where was it advertised? 
(6) Who was the successful applicant? 

Hon PE1ER FOSS replied: 

(1) The Health Department's 1995-96 contract with Bega Gambirringu included provision 
for a project coordinator. 

(2) The contract manager. 
(3) No. 

(4) Yes. 

(5) The Kalgoorlie Miner. 

(6) Larraine Sholson. 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT - ABORIGINAL MEDICAL SERVICE 
Broome. Mobile Health Clinic. Funding 

404. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Health: 

(1) Did the Broome Aboriginal Medical Service receive funding from the Health Department 
of Western Australia for a mobile health clinic? 

(2) Was a vehicle ever obtained? 

(3) If not, was the money returned to the Health Department of Western Australia? 
(4) If not, why not? 

Hon PE1ER FOSS replied: 

405. 

(1) No. However, Kimberley Aboriginal Medical Services' Council was contracted to 
provide this service. 

(2) Yes. 

(3)-(4) Not applicable. 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT - ABORIGINAL MEDICAL SERVICE 
Bringing People to Perth to Discuss Contracts. Funding 

Hon MARK NEVILL to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Health: 

(1) How much money has been given to Aboriginal Medical Services to bring people to 
Perth to meet with the Health Deparuncnt to discuss contracts since 30 June 19931 

(2) Why would the Health Department need to bring people to Perth to discuss contracts? 

(3) Does the Health Department bring other groups to Perth for this purpose? 



[Wednesday, 19 June 1996] 2851 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

(1) The Health Department of Western Australia has developed a partnership agreement with 
the Western Australian Aboriginal Medical Services and provides funds for regular 
meetings. 

(2) The Health Department of Western Australia does not bring people to solely discuss 
contracts. However, meetings are held at different locations throughout the State with 
officers from the Health Department and Aboriginal Medical Services to consult and 
discus~ 'a broad range of health related issues including, at times, contractual issues. 

(3) Yes. 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT - HOUSTON, SHANE, EXPENSE ACCOUNT 

406. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Health: 

Will the Minister make public Mr Shane Houston's expense account for each financial year since 
his employment with the Health Department of Western Australia? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

No. Mr Houston does not have an expense account 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT - LOCAL PURCHASE ORDER BOOKS, CRITERIA 
FOR ISSUING TO EMPLOYEES; McGUINESS, MICHAEL, ALCOHOL PURCHASE 

407. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Health: 

(1) What are the criteria for issuing employees local purchase order books? 
(2) Did Michael McGuire use an LPO to purchase alcohol to the value of $400 at the hotel at 

Halls Creek? 

(3) If yes, why and what action has been taken? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

408. 

(1) Local purchase order books are issued to authorised officers when they are required to 
purchase goods or services in the course of carrying out official business. 

(2) No. However, Michael McGuiness did purchase alcohol with an LPO. 

(3) Mr McGuiness claimed that ~he alcohol was purchased during an organised meeting of 
Aboriginal men from the Kimberley. Mr McGuiness was advised that this action was 
inappropriate and formal steps were taken to recover the money. Mr McGuiness 
subsequently abandoned his employment with the department 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT - GRACEY, MICHAEL, OVERSEAS 
CONFERENCES 

Hon MARK NEVILL to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Health: 

(1) How many overseas conferences has Dr Michael Gracey attended since 30 June 1993? 

(2) To where, when and why were these trips undertaken? 

(3) Are these trips funded in any way by the department? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

(1) Four. 

(2) Destination Date 

Tokyo 5-9 September 1994 

Los Angeles 2-7 October 1994 

Cairo 8-15 September 1995 

Berlin 24-26 April 1996 

Purpose 

Asian Pan Pacific Congress of Paediatric 
Gastroenterology and Nutritiion 

World Congress of Gastroenterology; 
Keynote lecture 
21st International Paediatric Congress 

2nd European Paediatric Congress and 
workshop on "environmental issues 
affecting material and child health? 

Each of these conferences was directly relevant to Dr Gracey's work in the Health 
Department, particularly with regard to gastroenteritis and under-nutrition in Aboriginal 
infants and children. 

(3) Dr Gracey was granted study leave with pay to attend these conferences. Dr Gracey's 
allendance was considered beneficial to the department's functions and operations. No 
travel or accommodation expenses were incurred by the Health Department of Western 
Australia. 
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HEALTH DEPARTMENT - ABORIGINAL MEDICAL SERVICE 
Signed Contracts/or Anti-smoking Campaigns 

409. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Health: 

(I) Which Aboriginal Medical Services have signed contracts for anti- smoking campaigns? 

(2) Are such contracts monitored? 

(3) What are the outcomes to date? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

(l) Mawarnkarra Aboriginal Medical Service. 

(2) Yes. 

(3) A statewide role model program was undertaken involving Aboriginal players from the 
Fremantle Football Club to educate Aboriginal youth and promote anti-smoking. The 
initiative has included the production of a poster and visits to some 17 Aboriginal 
communities. 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT - ABORIGINAL MEDICAL SERVICE 
Roebourne. Contracts/or Environmental Health Worker 

410. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Health: 

(1) Will the Minister for Health provide details of contracts made with the Roebourne 
Aboriginal Medical Service for an environmental health worker in 1994? 

(2) If not, why not? 

(3) What were the outcomes of this contract? 

(4) What other contracts have been made with the Roebourne AMS? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

(1) Yes. A contract was executed to continue the employment of two Aboriginal 
environmental health workers in 1994. The cost of the contract was $20 800. 

(2) Not applicable. 

(3) Improved environmental health conditions for Aboriginal people in Roebourne, 
continued employment of two Aboriginal environmental health workers, domestic and 
personal hygiene instruction, skill based education and community maintenance 
programs have been instituted. 

(4) Services related to sobering up shelter, cervical screening, health promotion, 
HIV/AIDS/STD education, environmental health needs' assessment, first aid training, 
consultation on the development of a new curriculum for the training of Aboriginal 
environmental health workers, renovations of building, specialist services, and night 
patrol activity. 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT - STUBBS, GREG, AIR CHARTER TO 
WARBURTON, FUNDING 

412.Hon MARK NEVILL to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Health: 

(1) Did the Health Department of W A contribute towards the cost of an air charter for 
Mr Greg Stubbs to fly to Warburton on or about 2 March 1996? 

(2) If yes, what was the purpose of the flight and the contribution made? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

(I) No. 

(2) Not applicable. 

NORBURY, L YN - POLICE SEARCH, PERTH DOMESTIC AIRPORT (1991) 

414.Hon MARK NEVILL to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Police: 

I refer to the treatment of Ms Lyn Norbury at the Ansett terminal at the Perth Domestic Airport by 
police officers on 5 November 1991 - . 

(I) Which police officers were involved in the detention and search of Ms Norbury? 

(2) Were they police from the Drug Squad? 

(3) If not, to which squad were they attached? 

(4) Did the police officers involved show identification to Ms Norbury? 

(5) What was the basis of the detention and search of Ms Norbury? 
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(6) Did the police officers have sniffer dogs with them, as part of the operation? 

(7) If yes, how many dogs did the police officers have with them? 

(8) Was the search of Ms Norbury a random search? 

(9) If not, on what was the basis of searching Ms Norbury? 

(10) Why were state police in an area where they had no jurisdiction? 

(11) Were th;e state police officers accompanied by federal police officers? 

(12) Was th'e operation conducted with the approval of federal police officers? 

(13) How long had the junior female officer, who was part of the operation, been in the 
Western Australian Police Service? 

(14) What action was taken by Deputy Commissioner Les Ayton during his investigation of 
this matter? 

(15) What were the findings of his investigation? 

(16) Was this matter investigated by the state Ombudsman? 

(17) What were the state Ombudsman's recommendations? 

(18) Have these recommendations been implemented? 

(19) If not, why not? 

(20) What further action is to be taken on this matter? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

I am advised by the Commissioner of Police as follows -

(1) The police officers involved in this operation were Detective Sergeants Kramer and 
Warnock; Detectives Lee and Kingmar and Constable Wentzel. 

(2) Kramer, Warnock, Lee and Kingmar were members of the drug squad. 

(3) Wentzel was a female police officer attached to the Perth traffic patrol at the time of the 
operation. 

(4) Detective Sergeant Kramer, who was in charge of this operation, showed Ms Norbury his 
police identification card. 

(5) The operation was based on information provided by the Western Australia Police 
Service, Bureau of Criminal Intelligence, that Ms Norbury was suspected of conveying 
drugs into this State from Quecnsland. 

(6) A sniffer dog from Australian customs was involved in this operation. 

(7) One. 

(8) The search of Ms Norbury was planned. 

(9) The search of Ms Norbury was based on the suspicion that she was carrying illegal drugs. 

(10) State police have jurisdiction at the Perth domestic terminal under the provisions of the 
Commonwealth Places (Application of Laws) Act 

(11) No. 

(12) No, approval for such an operation is not required from the Australian Federal Police. 

(13) Constable Wentzel had been a member of the Western Australia Poliec Service for 18 
months at the time of this operation. 

(14) The complaint from Ms Norbury was not investigated by Deputy Commissioner Ayton. 

(15) Not applicable; refer to question (14) above. 

(16) Yes. 

(17) The state Ombudsman's recommendations were as follows-

(I) I rccommend that the Commissioner of Police put in place effective procedures 
to ensure that all information the BCI disseminates is appropriately classified 
and accompanied by the disclaimer, regardless of the operational contingencies. 

(2) I recommend that the Commissioner of Police formally instructs his officers to 
arrange for the owner of property or an independent third person to be present 
when property is searched unless there is some compelling operational reason 
not to do so. 

(3) I recommend that these search procedures be reviewed with a view to making 
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(18) 

(19) 
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appropriate legislative and procedural change. In this regard, I consider the 
"PACE" legislation of the United Kingdom to be a particularly useful basis on 
which legislative changes might be modelled. 

Recommendation (1) Yes 
Recommendation (2) No 
Recommendation (3) No 

Recommendation (1) 

Recommendation (2) 

Recommendation (3) 

Not applicable. 

These matters have been referred to the Legal 
Services Unit for inclusion in the commissioner's 
orders and procedures manual. 

The issue of legislative change is being addressed 
in the current review of the Police Act. Also, 
procedural changes will be implemented through 
amendments to the commissioner's orders and 
procedures manual. 

(20) With the exception of the abovementioned amendments, no further action is being taken. 

NORBURY, L YN - ARRESTED IN LIEU OF SARINA HOLDINGS PTY L TO 
CASE 

415. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Police: 

I refer to the case of Ms Lyn Norbury where she was arrested in lieu of Sarina Holdings Pty Ltd -

(1) Under what authority did an officer of the Fraud Squad have an Industrial Relations 
Commission warrant of execution against a company turned into a warrant of 
commitment against Ms Norbury? 

(2) Why was the Fraud Squad involved in this matter? 

(3) On what basis was Ms Norbury detained? 

(4) Was she on remand? 

(5) Had she been found guilty and sentenced by a court for a crime? 

(6) Why was Ms Norbury placed in a maximum security prison by the Fraud Squad? 

(7) Was this matter investigated by Deputy Commissioner Les Ayton? 

(8) Were records of interview taken from the officer involved in the operation which 
involved Ms Norbury? 

(9) Was this matter investigated by the state Ombudsman? 

(10) What were the state Ombudsman's recommendations? 

(11) Have these recommendations been implemented? 

(12) If not, why not? 

(13) What further action is to be taken on this matter? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

The Commissioner of Police has advised as follows-

(1) As the warrant of execution could not be executed against the legal person of Sarina 
Holdings, it was converted, under the provisions of the Justices Act, to a warrant of 
commitment in the name of Ms Norbury, who was named in the complaint in the first 
instance. 

(2) An officer of the fraud squad became aware of the warrant of execution as details of the 
warrant were listed on the W A police information computer. This officer has a sworn 
duty to execute processes of a court. 

(3) Ms Norbury was detained by order of the warrant of commitment as she could not satisfy 
the monetary terms of the warrant. 

(4) At the time of her arrest on the warrant of commitment, Ms Norbury was on bail for 
fraud charges. 

(5) At the time of her arrest on the warrant of commitment, Ms Norbury had not been found 
guilty or sentenced for a crime. 

(6) Ms Norbury placement in Bandyup Women's Prison was a decision made by the 
Department of Corrections without consultation with or influence from the fraud squad. 

(7) The complaint from Ms Norbury was not investigated by Deputy Commissioner Ayton. 
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(8) No. All officers interviewed in the course of the investigation submitted reports. 

(9) Yes. 

(10) The state Ombudsman's recommendations were as follows-

(1) I recommend that the Registry put in place an effective procedure to ensure that 
a praecipe (ie an application for conversion) be obtained from the creditor in 
every instance where a warrant of execution is to be converted to a warrant of 
commitment. 

(2) I recommend that -

(a) the Registry consider whether its procedures might be altered so that 
warrants of execution be forwarded to a bailiff, or other appropriate 
officer, to be satisfied or otherwise; and 

(b) the Commissioner of Police examine the current involvement of his 
officers in the process of executing industrial and other similar 
warrants of execution, with a view to determining whether it is 
appropriate that this involvement continue or be passed to a bailiff or 
other appropriate officer. 

(3) I recommend that the CWB procedures in this regard, and the adequacy of its 
internal control procedures in general, be reviewed. 

(4) I recommend that subject to budgetary constraints an audit trail program be 
wriuen into the Department's computer system. 

(5) I recommend that the Department review its procedures in this area and in 
conjunction with the Ministry of Justice put in place an effective system to 
ensure that, so far as practicable, outstanding warrants are executed on prisoners 
before they arc released from custody. 

(6) I recommend that an ex gratia payment in the amount of $500 be made to the 
complainant to compensate her for the unnecessary arrest and subsequent 
payment, and that an appropriate written apology be given to her by the 
Commissioner of Police. (The total payment recommended includes a modest 
amount in respect of the anxiety and embarrassment caused to the complainant 
by the unnecessary arrest and detention). 

(U) Recommendations (1) and (2a) were outside the province of the Police Service. 

Recommendation (2b) was not addressed due to the implementation of the fines default 
scheme; however, a service-wide instruction relating to execution of warrants of 
execution was promulgated. 

Recommendation (3) was implemented. 

Recommendation (4) was found to be cost prohibitive; however, a weekly audit process 
was implemented. 

Recommendation (5) has since been addressed by the fines default scheme. 

In response to recommendation (6) an Act of Grace payment of $248.00 was made to 
Ms Norbury. This payment reflected the amount paid by Ms Norbury to satisfy an 
outstanding warrant upon which she had bccn arrested and which should have been 
executed at the time of a previous arrest. 

(12) Refer to (11). 

(13) There is no further action to be taken. 

TRAFFIC ACCIDENTS - W ALEBING ROAD NEAR MOORA (1994) 

426. Hon MARK NEVILL to the Auorney General representing the Minister for Police: 

(1) On what date in 1994 did an accident occur on the Walebing Road near Moora, in which 
a red Mercedes left the road and rolled? 

(2) How many persons were in the vehicle at the time of the accident? 

(3) Was a Mr Oakford the driver of the car? 

(4) If not, who was the driver? 

(5) Which police officers attended the scene of the accident? 

(6) Was the driver of the car given a breathalyser soon after the accident? 

(7) If so, what was the reading? 

(8) Was there a subsequent blood test? 
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(9) What was the result? 

(10) What charges arose from the accident? 

(11) What convictions were recorded and against whom? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

The Commissioner of Police has advised as follows -
(1) 21 July 1994. The location is more correctly known as Central Midlands Road, 

Walebing, Moora Shire. 

(2) Two. 

(3) Yes. 

(4) Not applicable. 
(5) Senior Constable Lloyd and Constable Riney, Moora Traffic Office, attended the scene at 

about 2010 hours. 

(6) A sample breath was not able to be obtained until 2323 hours on 21 July 1994. 

(7) 0.10 per centum. However, following full investigation a calculated reading could not be 
made from this due to alcohol consumption after the crash. Refer to explanation 
contained in (11) below. 

(8) No. 

(9) Not applicable. 
(10) A traffic infringement notice was originally used for "excess of 0.05 per cent alcohol in 

the blood" to Shaun Colin Oakford. 

(11) The traffic infringement notice was subsequently withdrawn after it was found that a 
prosecution could not be sustained to the standard required by law because the time of 
the crash was not able to be accurately established to prove conclusively that the breath 
sample had been obtained within the statutory period of four hours. There were no 
independent witnesses to the crash and neither the driver nor passenger could give a 
positive time of the crash for breath analysis legislation. The claim by the driver that he 
consumed alcohol after the crash could not be disproved. The driver was not present at 
the seene when police arrived and was only located after a search of the surrounding 
areas for one and three quarter hours. 

HOSPITALS - SIR CHARLES GAIRDNER 
Employees (Excluding Contractors), Numbers; Casual Employees 

444. Hon KIM CHANCE to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Health: 

(1) What is the total number of employees at Sir Charles Gairdner Hospital (excluding 
contractors and their employees)? 

(2) Of this number, how many permanent and temporary employees respectively are engaged 
in the following service areas -

(a) nursing; 
(b) allied health; 
(c) administration; 
(d) cleaning; 
(e) orderly; 
(f) maintenance; 
(g) engineering; 
(h) gardening; 
(i) laundry; 
G) kitchen/food delivery; and 
(k) medical? 

(3) How many casual employees have been engaged over the last 12 months in each of the 
above service areas? 

(4) What is the number of casual employees currently engaged in each of the above service 
areas? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

(1) 3043. 
(2) A total breakdown of employees would require an extensive manual extraction of 

records. Details of total employee numbers are as follows -



(a) 
(b) 
(c) 
(d) 
(e) 
(f) 
(g) 
(h) 
(i) 
0) 
(k) 

Permanent 
873 
452 
602 
202 
14 
36 
119 
12 
24 
163 
345 
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Casuals 
129 
25 
10 

37 
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(3) To provide this information would require a manual review of all employment 
documentation over the last 12 months. It would be approximately 300. 

(4) See (2). 

QUESTIONS WITHOUT NOTICE 

LAW REFORM COMMISSION - APPOINTMENTS 

416. Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS to the Attorney General: 

I refer to the reported comments in yesterday's The West Australian of Moira Rayner and Chris Pullin QC 
regarding the Law Reform Commission, and the reported comments of Catherine Crawford and Judy 
Eckert, and the editorial in today's The West Australian. Will the Attorney General now apologise to the 
sole remaining law reform commissioner and past members of the Law Reform Commission? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

Categorically no. May I make quite clear that I suggest the member not only read the proceedings of this 
House with regard to the racial vilification law but also perhaps, rather than reading the editorial in this 
morning's paper, read the remarks of the managing editor and editor at the time, who are the same as the 
managing editor and editor at this time, with regard to that report. It became quite clear during the course 
of proceedings here that the reason the report read the way it did, starting off pretty well by apparently 
dealing with the law and then suddenly zipping to the conclusion without a great deal linking together, was 
that the then Government demanded that the report come out as soon as possible. The quality of the report 
was very poor. It was shown to be poor by the proceedings of the Legislation CommIttee of this House, 
which came up with a very sensible solution, which is now the law of this State. It was one of the best 
examples of how the Legislation Commitlee has worked. The West Australian highly commended the 
changes made by the Legislation Commitlee away from the dreadful report which it so roundly 
condemned. All the people who had been urging the House not to even think about amendments wrote to 
the committee saying how well it had done and what a better solution it was. It was a great disappointment 
to see the Law Reform Commission treated in that way and for the situation to get to the point that the 
report had a minority report. I do not know whether there is any precedent for that, but it is a sad time 
when a Law Reform Commission must produce a minority report. In any event it is quite clearly on the 
record. 

I did not go out of my way to criticise the Law Reform Commission. I did what I think is the appropriate 
thing when I started to look for people who were, what one might call, top drawer; that is, people who had 
the clout in the community to make the Law Reform Commission worthwhile. There is no point in having 
a bunch of people who do not have any clout. Why have a Law Reform Commission unless the 
commissioners have the clout? When I set about doing it, unfortunately people asked me what was my 
concern about the Law Reform Commission. I feel obliged, when asked, to tell. Having told the reporter 
of The West Australian what I thought, she quite rightly decided that it would make a good story and 
published it. I would not have gone out of my way to make those comments. However, they are my 
comments and they represent my belief that there is no point in having the Law Reform Commission unless 
we have top people. There is no point in having a Law Reform Commission which accommodates 
Governments. Despite the remarks of Judy Eckert, which are reported in today's paper, it might be worth 
noticing that after that report the Administrative Law Committee of the Law Society wrote to the then 
Attorney General, Hon Joe Berinson, asking him to outline what he saw as the future role of the Law 
Reform Commission and whether he saw it as remaining a black letter law body or a social body. It asked 
that appropriate appointments be made, depending on what he saw as its future role. I see its role as being 
black letter law. 

Hon AJ.G. MacTiernan: You do not sec it as having a relevance to society - is that what you are saying? 

Hon PETER FOSS: No. I sec it as being what it traditionally was, which was a black letter body. 
Obviously law has an impact on society. The Law Reform Commission should not be taking a particular 
social or socialist point of view. 

Several members interjected. 
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The PRESIDENT: Order! The Attorney General is trying to wind up his answer. 

Hon PEJER FOSS: I am trying to wind up my remarks, not the Opposition. 

I see the Law Reform Commission as having an important role. I notice that the newspaper commended 
me on my worthy attempt to get top ranking people. I am sure all good people will agree with that 
However, it is not always easy to get those people. It is particularly difficult after a period when the 
appointments have tended to be slightly further down the professional ladder. 

Hon N.D. Griffiths: That is an atrocious comment 

Hon PEJER FOSS: The member might think it is an atrocious comment -

The PRESIDENT: Order! This is not a debate. This is a response to a one line question. 

Hon PETER FOSS: I believe it is important and I will progress it. If the newspaper asks me why I am 
doing things I will be frank and truthful and give all the information. If my comment is published, it is 
published. If I am not liked for having said it, that is not my problem. However, I have said it because it 
happens to be the truth in my opinion. I will continue to say what is the truth in my opinion. I make no 
apology for trying to establish a Law Reform Commission which is top rank. 

RABBIT CALICIVIRUS - RELEASE DISCUSSIONS; PROJECTION 
PROGRAMS 

417. Hon J.A. SCOTT to the Minister for the Environment: 

(1) Has the Minister or the Department of Conservation and Land Management been involved in 
discussions with those departments and organisations involved with the introduction of rabbit 
calicivirus to Western Australia? 

(2) Has a program been designed by CALM to coordinate the protection of native species in the areas 
affected by calicivirus? 

(3) Has funding been set aside for these programs in the current Budget? 

(4) What monitoring is planned to ensure that native species are not harmed by the virus or as a result 
of feral predators tuming to native prey? 

(5) Is there a contingency plan if the virus is found to have affected native species? 

(6) Which departments will pay for the monitoring and protcction programs; and, if it is CALM, from 
what part of its budget will the programs be funded? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

(1)-(6) Most of this question I will have to take on notice in order to obtain specific details. I was 
involved in discussions at the last meeting of the Australian and New Zealand Environmental 
Council, which I chair. At that meeting we requested that no further rabbit calicivirus be released 
because of our concerns about these matters. As the member will know, it was not intended to be 
released. Unfortunately, due to some lax controls by the people carrying out the research, it was 
released. It is not only being spread by natural agents. It tends to spread like wildfire, with the 
wind. A strong suggestion is that other people may be taking a hand in the spread. We would 
prefer that not to be the case. I know a lot of work has been done by the Department of 
Conservation and Land Management on how it could happen. One of our difficulties is that if the 
calicivirus is not released in the appropriate way at the appropriate time, it may very welllo~ its 
effectiveness. The loss of the opportunity to use calicivirus would be a disaster. On the other 
hand, we may have no control over it, both because of the wayward nature of the virus and the 
human agents who appear to be taking a hand in it We are reasonably confident in Western 
Australia about what we see as the consequences of that release. We would prefer more time in 
which to follow it through. That is why the environment Ministers passed that particular 
resolution. However, I believe unfortunately that ultimately the progress of the calicivirus spread 
will be pretty well out of the hands of environmental agencies and that it will be a matter of 
balancing the ill of it being spread by people who will not have been doing it properly against 
restricting the risk by releasing it in the appropriate circumstances. 

The PRESIDENT: The Minister said he would not answer the question and that it should go on notice. 

MINERALS AND ENERGY, DEPARTMENT OF - GRIFFIN VENTURE 
INCIDENTS 

418. HonMARK NEVILL to the Leader of the House representing the Minister for Mines: 

I refer to the investigations of incidents relating to safety on the Griffin Venture. 

(1) Is the Minister satisfied with all the inquiries undertaken by the Department of Minerals and 
Energy? 

(2) If not, what concerns has the Minister had Of, what concerns docs he still have? 

(3) Will the Minister table a copy of the report presented to the Department of Minerals and Energy 
on 8 January 1996 relating to the failure of an isolation valve and any other matter? 



(4) 

(5) 
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What action is recommended as a result of the Department of Minerals and Energy's investigation 
and report? 

What other Department of Minerals and Energy reports have followed investigations of the two 
safety incidents on board the Griffin Venture? 

(6) What ongoing inspections are planned for the Griffin Venture by the Department of Minerals and 
Energy? 

Hon N.F. MOORE replied: 

I thank the member fo; some notice of this question. 
reply -

The Minister for Mines has provided the following 

(1) 

(2) 

(3) 

Yes. 

Not applicable. 

As the report was made pursuant to the Commonwealth Petroleum (Submerged Lands) Act, I will 
seek the concurrence of the commonwealth member of the joint authority for its tabling in State 
Parliament. 

(4) In addition to seeking legal advice for potential prosecution the following representations were 
made-

BHP Petroleum to commit to an increased level of training for its employees including 
process hazard awareness and job safety analysis. 

BHPP to improve controls for routine job lists and ensure that these are brought under the 
safety management system. 

BHPP to establish a competency assessment· system for personnel identified as 
prospcctive supervisors. 

BHPP to maintain a commitment to disciplinary action for breaches of safety systems 
and procedures. 

All new tasks and procedures to be subject to a job safety analysis prior to initial 
commencement of work. 

(5) Only one Department of Minerals and Energy report has been made on the isolation valve 
incident. The tank de-gassing incident was the subjcct of an initial Department of Minerals and 
Energy-Australian Maritime Safety Authority report followed by reports into further allegations 
made by Mr T. Vissher. 

(6) The Griffin Venture is to be the subject of a refit, and consultation and inspections will be 
undertaken by the Department of Minerals and Energy in the exercise of its legislative 
responsibilities. 

HOSPITALS - FREMANTLE 
Cleaning Contract 

419. Hon JOHN HALDEN to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Health: 

(1) When was the non-ward cleaning of Fremantle Hospital contracted out or when is it envisaged 
that it will be contracted out? 

(2) What was the cost of this service to the hospital in its last year of operation prior to the service 
being contracted out? 

(3) Under the contracted out system, who is responsible for providing equipment and consumables? 

(4) If it is not the contractor, what is the annual cost to the hospital of providing these? 

(5) How many hours of cleaning do the contractors have to provide in the contract? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

I thank the member for some notice of this question. 

(1) In response to a public call for tenders, submissions have been evaluated and negotiations have 
commenced with the preferred tenderer. A contract has not yet been agreed. Given the 
implementation time frame, a changeover date would be around October or November 1996. 

(2) Commercially sensitive negotiations have commenced with the preferred tenderer. Disclosure of 
hospital costings at this stage would be prejudicial to those discussions. 

Hon John Halden: This is the Parliament. 

Hon PETER FOSS: If the costings were outlined in this Parliament, they will know -

Hon John Halden: The tenders are in. 

Hon PETER FOSS: Certain mallers arc still to be negotiated and the Government does not want to show 
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its hand while it is having commercially sensitive negotiations. The Opposition may wish to do that 
because it may not have the interests of the State at heart - the Government certainly does. 

Hon John Halden: This is another lecture by notice. 

Hon PETER FOSS: Members on the other side of the House did not have any problem spending the 
State's money when they were in government so I suppose it does not worry them in the slightest 

(3) The contractor will be responsible for providing and maintaining equipment as well as providing 
all clinical agents and consumables. 

(4) Not applicable. 

(5) The contractor quoted on providing a service in conformance with the tender specifications. 
There was no requirement for contractors to provide any specific number of hours. A detailed 
specification of areas to be cleaned was provided in the tender documentation. 

SCHOOLS - CLARKSON HIGH 
Construction Work Contract. Liability for Costs 

420. Hon N.D. GRIFFITHS to the Leader of the House representing the Minister for 
Education: 

Does the Minister now have the answer to question without notice 381 regarding Clarkson High School? 
For the Minister's information, the question was -

(1) Can the Minister confirm that construction of Clarkson High School has been bungled and that 
steel frames and brick walls that have been built are being demolished? 

(2) What is the reason for the bungle? 

(3) What is the cost to taxpayers of the bungle? 

(4) Who is responsible? 

(5) Has supervision of the construction of this high school been contracted out; if so, to whom? 

(6) What is the extent of supervision of this project by the Building Management Authority? 

Hon N.F. MOORE replied: 

I thank the member for some notice of this question. The answer to question without notice 381 is -

(1)-(2) Work was stopped as a result of concerns about the degree of compacting of the site earthworks. 
Further compaction has been carried out over part of the site and construction has recommenced. 
The degree of compaction in the general learning block is still under investigation. If further 
compaction is required in that area, removal of some ground slabs, minor brickwork and steelwork 
may be necessary. 

(3) Liability for costs will be determined through the contract provisions. 

(4) Liabilities will be determined through the contract provisions. 

(5) Yes. Dennis Price and Miller (W A) Pty Ltd, consulting engineers, is responsible for the 
earthworks contract and Hobbs Winning Australia, architects, is responsible for the supervision of 
the construction contract. 

(6) None. The project is fully contracted out. 

CONSERVATION AND LAND MANAGEMENT, DEPARTMENT OF -
SANDALWOOD PULLING CONTRACTS, TENDERS 

421. Hon TOM STEPHENS to the Minister for the Environment: 

(1) Can the Minister justify how Albert and Norma Phillips of Paynes Find, contractors to the 
Department of Conservation and Land Management, have had their livelihood withdrawn after 20 
years' service in the pulling of sandalwood? 

(2) Is it correct that until now the sandalwood pullers have received $1 000 per tonne for their 
services, which covered all their operational expenses, including wages and fuel, while CALM, 
with no outlay, derived $11 000 a tonne income from the sale of the sandalwood? 

(3) Despite this enormous profit taken by the Government, did the Government advise the 
sandalwood pullers in December last year that tenders would be called for this service to increase 
the return to the Government? 

(4) If so, can the Minister inform the House how much additional revenue will be raised? 

(5) Is it not correct that the majority of the successful tenderers have sought and obtained the payment 
of a higher amount for sandalwood pulling than that which was paid to the former long term 
contractors; in other words, is the contrdct now worth more to those contractors than it was 
previously? 

(6) Does the Minister accept that the only effect of his meddling in the sandalwood industry to date 
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has been to cause additional costs to the taxpayer, which is at odds with the Government's stated 
intentions, and the dislocation of many hard working contractors who have provided a long, 
reliable and loyal service to CALM for some 20 years? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

(1)-(6) This was originally decided as part of general government policy and it is a policy which I thought 
the Opposition would support. People who contract to government should tender for the services. 
It has been an anomaly in the sandalwood area because people have had their contracts renewed 
year after year,without the contracts going to tender. I am surprised that members opposite have 
not been jumping up and down asking why the Government has not put out this work to tender. 
The reason they have not is that they did exactly the same thing when they were in office. It was a 
general statement by the Government that the work should go out to tender, and that is what 
happened. Following tenders being called, some of the previous contractors asked me why it was 
happening. I explained to them that it was government policy in all areas that contracts should be 
put out to tender. All they had to do was participate in the tender process. I informed them that 
they had to tender a lower price than the other tenderers if they wanted to continue their contract 
I do not have the details of the tenders. I understand there is a significant benefit to the State from 
this tender, but the important thing is the process. This Government does put its contracts out to 
tender and I am amazed, considering their usual performance in this place, that members opposite 
are saying that the Government should not put government contracts out to tender. It is an 
extraordinary performance on their part. The Government is getting a lot more money per tonne 
for sandalwood by tendering the selling and I understand there have been significant savings to the 
Government. Members should bear in mind that the contractors are pulling the sandalwood, but 
the actual ownership of the product lies with the State. The reason the State gets more for the 
product is that it is selling it. 

All these people are doing is performing particular work. It is appropriate that the Government 
should get more money out of this, because the Government happens to own the sandalwood. The 
member's idea is that if a carrier puts something on the back of the truck that is valuable, he 
should get part of the profit. It is a nice way to put it, Mr Stephens, but the fact is the logic is 
wrong. The owner should get more. We should look after the interests of the State. One of the 
things we also did was to put the sale of sandalwood out to tender. A considerable amount of 
extra money was brought to the State, because we did not keep the arrangement that had been 
moving cosily on for years. It was because of the proper handling by this Government in 
tendering both the pulling through a proper government process, and I will defend that to the end, 
and the sale of sandalwood. We have ended up with a lot more money because of tendering out 
the sale of sandalwood. 

Hon Tom Stephens: And caused more costs. 

Hon PETER FOSS: When it suits Hon Tom Stephens he will stand up and shout and rave and ask, "Why 
haven't you put it out for tender?" We have put it out for tender and certain people missed out because 
they happened not to have the lowest tender, so Hon Tom Stephens says, "You shouldn't do that to these 
poor people!" I made an arrangement so the tendering process was split into two with the intent that those 
who missed out on the first line - some of whom were people who had long contracts - would have a better 
idea in the second round as to the sort of price they should be tendering. All is not lost. They have the 
capacity, jf they tender appropriately, to win a contract in the second round. I never make apologies for 
looking after the Government's interests by entering into a proper tender process. 

NORTHBRIDGE TUNNEL - McDONALD REPORT; CLOUGH REPORT, 
COSTS 

422. Hon JOHN HALDEN to the Minister for Transport: 

My question concerns air quality and the Northbridge tunnel. 

(1) What was the cost of the Mott McDonald report? 

(2) What was the cost of the Baulderstone Clough report? 

Hon EJ. CHARLTON replied: 

(1) $29050. 

(2) The final cost is not known. However, the cost will be shared on a 50:50 basis with the 
Baulderstone Clough joint venture, with the Main Roads contribution being limited to $15000. 

HOSPITALS - MANDURAH 
Occupational Therapy Equipment/or Inpatient Treatment. No Charge 

423. Hon J.A. COWDELL to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Health: 

(1) Can the Minister give an assurance that public patients at the Mandurah Hospital will not be 
charged for the use of occupational therapy equipment required for patients' recovery? 

(2) Is the Peel Health Service considering the introduction of a user pays system for the use of this 
equipment? 
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Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

I thank the member for some notice of this question. 

(1) Yes, in accordance with the current Medicare Agreement, equipment required for public inpatient 
treatment and discharge does not attract a charge. There are no plans by the Peel Health Service 
to alter this arrangement. I also refer the member to my answer to a similar question without 
notice on 7 May 1996. 

(2) The Peel Health Service is currently reviewing the operation of the aids and equipment loans/hire 
program with the view to a more coordinated approach to service delivery in this area between 
local and metropolitan agencies. This is aimed at providing a better and less confusing service to 
the local community. A contribution for certain aids and equipment for outpatient/community use 
was introduced some 12 months ago. 

HEALTH DEPARTMENT - FIEs IN GOVERNMENT HEALTH INDUSTRY 
COVERED BY AWARDS; WORKPLACE INJURIES COST 

424. Hon JOHN HALDEN to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Health: 

(1) How many FIEs were employed by the WA Government at the following times -

(a) 30 June 1991; 

(b) 30 June 1995; 

(c) 30 June 1996 - estimated 

pursuant to the following awards -

(i) Hospital Workers (Government) Award; 

(ii) Ward Assistants (Mental HeaILh) Award; and 

(iii) Hospital Employees (Perth Dental Hospital) Award? 

(2) How much was paid in workers' compensation insurance premiums for employees covered by the 
awards listed in (1) in -

(a) 1990-91; 

(b) 1994-95; and 

(c) 1995-96 - estimated? 

(3) What is the total cost of workplace injuries, including insurance, training, rehabilitation and 
replacement costs of workers employed under the three awards listed in (1) in -

(a) 1990-91; 

(b) 1994-95; and 

(c) 1995-96 - estimated? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

I thank the member for some notice of this question. 

(1) Although FIE is not aggregated on award lines, estimated FIE for the awards and times in (1) 
are -
Award 30/6/91 30/6/95 30/6/96 

Hospital Workers (Government) 4677.13 4467.17 4399.51 
Ward Assistants (Mental Health) 7.19 6.87 6.77 
Hospital Employees (Perth 50.34 48.08 47.36 
Dental Hospital) 
Total FIE Government 23973 22896.81 22550 
Health Industry 

(2) Neither the Health Department nor the State Government Insurance Commission is able to provide 
information on premiums paid by award within the government health industry as data is not 
collected along award lines. In many cases a health service is the lowest level to which premium 
data can be allocated. 

(3) Information on the total cost of workplace injuries by award is not available for the same reasons 
as in (2). 

POLICE SERVICE - ARMADALE STATION 
Manpower 

425. Hon AJ.G. MacTIERNAN to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Police: 

(1) What geographical area of responsibility does the Armadale Police Station have? 
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(2) How many policemen and policewomen are on the staff of this station? 

(3) How many policemen and policewomen are on duty at this station at anyone time on -

(a) weekdays; 

(b) weeknights; 

(c) weekend days; and 

(d) weeken9 nights? , 
Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

I thank the member for some notice of this question. The detail of this question will take some time to 
collate and I ask the member to put the question on notice, and I will endeavour to provide her with a 
response. 

POLICE SERVICE - MULTANOVAS 
Civilian Operations; Court Case 

426. Hon JOHN HALDEN to the Attorney General representing the Minister for Health: 

Given the admission by the Police Department that the Multanova procedure was unlawful I ask -

(1) What action is the Minister now taking to remove suspensions that are now in place under the 
fines enforcement procedure? 

(2) What percentage of the 34 000 drivers under disqualification have lost their licence as a result of 
Multanova fines since civilians took over the operations? 

(3) How many people have been charged with driving under. suspension as a result of these suspect 
charges? 

Hon PETER FOSS replied: 

I thank the member for some notice of this question. 

(1)-(3) It is obvious from the question that the member is under some misunderstanding as to what the 
case is all about. The prosecutions are perfectly lawful, and so is the use of Multanova by a 
civilian perfectly lawful. The difference between the two is that when a police officer operates a 
Multanova certain presumptions at law are attached to statements made by that police officer. 
When a statement made by that police officer is tendered in court it is accepted as prima facie 
evidence and no further evidence is required. On the other hand, when a civilian operator makes 
such a statement there is a requirement for supplementary evidence to be given in order to sustain 
that prosecution. Everything is perfectly legal, it is just that in the instance where it was 
challenged there was not sufficient evidence. Anybody who has pleaded guilty is appropriately 
convicted; anybody who has not taken the point as to the adequacy of the evidence is properly 
convictcd; and in future we will ensure that there is adequate supplementary evidence to ensure 
that people continue to be lawfully convicted. 

Of the approximately 135 000 offences detected by speed cameras only approximately 390 went to court. 
Very few cases went to court, and everybody has been lawfully convicted. All that can happen is one can 
challenge the evidence, and from now on that will do one no good whatever. 

KEMERTON - PORT, REJECTION; FEASIBILITY STUDY BY LANDCORP 

427. Hon JOHN HALDEN to the Leader of the House representing the Premier: 

(1) Did the Premier announce during a recent visit to the Shire of Harvey that a port would not be 
built at Kemerton? 

(2) If yes, is he aware that the government agency, LandCorp, is continuing with a feasibility study on 
a new port at Kemerton? 

(3) In the light of the Premier's comments will LandCorp now abandon the feasibility study? 

Hon N.F. MOORE replied: 

I thank the member for some notice of this question. 
(1) Yes. 

(2)-(3) The study management team comprising LandCorp, the Department of Resources Development, 
the Ministry for Planning and the South West Development Commission is undertaking an 
examination of the feasibility of an expansion of the Kemerton industrial estate. The study calls 
for a range of associated issues to be addressed, including matters relating to port requirements. 
However, in view of the Premier's undertaking to the Shire of Harvey, he will be discussing its 
implications in respect of the feasibility study with the Ministers for Resources Development, 
Planning and Land. 



2864 [COUNCIL] 

TAXIINDUS1RY - BOGUS OPERATORS 

428. Hon W.N. STRETCH to the Minister for Transport: 
In view of the public concern about the misuse of taxis and so-called bogus taxis, and to follow up the 
Leader of the Opposition's question, can the Minister give the public an update on what is happening with 
regard to the control or possible tracing of these so-called bogus taxis? 

Hon E.J. CHARLTON replied: 
A number of discussions have taken place since yesterday, and a meeting of taxi industry leaders is being 
arranged so that the industry can look at what additional actions it can take to ensure that it can identify for 
its protection, and also for the protection of the public, any activity by anyone who is not a registered taxi 
owner or operator. We are also putting in place a new operation called Cabwatch, where cab drivers and 
the Police Service will work together to take note of any unusual actions or circumstances around the 
metropolitan area. Obviously, we need to bring that to finality to ensure that we maximise the effort with 
regard to this situation and clear it up once and for all. 

Hon N.F. Moore (Leader of the House) was granted leave to table an amended answer to question on notice 
217. 

[See paper No 367.] 


